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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
References in this document to “the Registrant,” “Kforce,” “we,” “our” or “us” refer to Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise
requires.
This document contains forward-looking statements, particularly with respect to Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MDA”). Additional written or oral forward-looking statements may be made by Kforce from time to time, in filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or otherwise. Such forward-looking statements are within the meaning of that term in Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such statements may include, but may not be limited to, projections of revenue, income,
losses, cash flows, capital expenditures, plans for future operations, effects of interest rate variations, financing needs or plans, plans relating to products or
services of Kforce, estimates concerning the effects of litigation or other disputes, as well as assumptions to any of the foregoing. In addition, when used in
this discussion, the terms “anticipates”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes” and variations thereof and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which can not be predicted. Future events and actual results could differ
materially from those set forth in or underlying the forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements contained in this report, which speak only as of the date of this report. Kforce undertakes no obligation to publicly publish the results of any
adjustments to these forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events on or after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of
unexpected events.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Who We Are
We are a national provider of professional and technical specialty staffing services. Kforce was formed in August 1994 as a result of the combination of
Romac & Associates, Inc. and three of its largest franchises. Following an Initial Public Offering in August 1995, Kforce grew to 31 offices in 18 major
markets. On April 20, 1998, Kforce consummated a merger whereby Source Services Corporation (“Source”), was merged into Kforce. On June 7, 2004, we
completed a transaction whereby Hall, Kinion and Associates, Inc. was merged into Kforce. This transaction is discussed in further detail later in Item 1. At
December 31, 2004, we operated 81 field offices in 45 markets and we currently provide services in 45 states through these offices or from our headquarters in
Tampa, Florida. Kforce currently has no operations outside the United States. We provide our clients staffing services through three business segments:
Technology (“Tech”), Finance and Accounting (“FA”), and Health and Life Sciences (“HLS”). Substantially all Tech and FA services are sold and delivered
through our field offices. The HLS segment includes our Clinical Research (formerly Pharmaceutical), Scientific, Healthcare-Nursing (“Nursing”) and
Healthcare Non-Nursing (“Med Records”) specialties. The sales and delivery functions of substantial portions of HLS, particularly Clinical Research and
Med Records, are concentrated in our headquarters, with services being provided for certain clients through our field offices. Our headquarters provides
support services to our field offices in areas such as human resources, nationwide recruiting, training, and national sales initiatives, in addition to the
traditional “back office” support services such as payroll, billing, accounting, legal, tax, data processing and marketing, which are highly centralized.
Kforce is focused on providing “staffing” services to our clients. Our staffing services include Flexible Staffing Services (“Flex”) and Search Services
(“Search”). Kforce anticipates continued growth which may be organic and/or through acquisition of other entities that enhance or expand our existing
businesses. We believe that we are positioned to acquire and integrate other businesses that are strategically beneficial. Acquisitions entail significant risks
which are described below.
Flex
Through Flex, we provide clients with qualified individuals (“consultants”) on a temporary basis with the appropriate skills and experience, when it is
determined it is “the right match”. To be successful, our employees (“associates”) endeavor to (1) understand the clients’ needs, (2) determine and understand
the capabilities of the consultants being recruited, and (3) deliver and manage the client-consultant relationship to the satisfaction of both the clients and the
consultants. Typically, the better job Kforce and our consultants do, the longer the assignments last and the more often those clients turn to Kforce for
additional needs.
The Flex business comprised 93.7% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. Flex revenues are driven by hours billed and billing rates. Flex
gross profit is determined by deducting consultant pay, benefits and other related costs from Flex revenues. Flex associate commissions, related taxes and
other compensation and benefits as well as field management compensation are included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses (“SGA”) along
with administrative and corporate employee compensation. The Flex business model involves attempting to maximize consultant hours and billing rates,
while optimizing consultant pay rates and benefit costs and commissions and other compensation and benefits for associates, as well as minimizing operating
costs necessary to effectively support such activities.
Search
The Search business is a smaller, yet important part of our business that involves locating permanent employees for our clients. We primarily perform searches
on a contingency basis, with fees being earned only if personnel are hired by our clients. Fees are typically structured as a percentage of the placed
individual’s first-year annual compensation. We recruit permanent employees from our Flex consultant population, from internet job boards, and from
candidates we identify who are currently employed and not actively seeking another position. Sometimes consultants initially work with clients on a Flex
basis and then later are converted into permanent employees, for which we also receive Search fees. There can be no assurance or expectation that Search
revenues will increase if economic conditions improve, as has been the case in previous economic cycles. Clients and recruits are often targets for both Flex
and Search services, and this common focus contributes to our objective of providing integrated solutions for all of our clients’ human capital needs.
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Search revenues are driven by placements made and the rates billed. There are no consultant payroll costs associated with the placement and thus all Search
revenue generally increases gross profit by a like amount. Search associate commissions, compensation and benefits are also included in SGA. Search
revenues comprised 6.3% of revenue in 2004.
Our Industry
We serve Fortune 1000 companies, as well as small and mid-size local and regional companies, with our top ten clients representing approximately 17% of
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. The specialty staffing industry is made up of thousands of companies, most of which are small local firms
providing a limited service offering to a small local client base. We believe Kforce is one of the ten largest specialty staffing firms in the United States, that
the ten firms combined have a market share of less than 30% of the applicable market and that no single firm has a larger than 7% market share. Competition
in a particular market can come from many different companies, either large or small. We believe, however, that our geographic presence, diversified service
offerings within our core businesses, and focus on consistent sales and delivery that is highly disciplined, provide a competitive advantage particularly with
larger clients that have operations in multiple markets.
The staffing industry experienced declining revenues for the three years ending in 2003. Selected industry reports indicate the United States temporary
staffing industry has shown revenue levels of $76 billion in 2002, $76 billion in 2003 and $81 billion in 2004. While no predictions can or should be made
about the general economy, the staffing industry as a whole, or specialty staffing in particular, we believe that a sustained economic recovery will stimulate
demand for substantial additional U.S. workers or, conversely, to contract with an economic slowdown and that Flex demand generally increases before
demand for permanent placements increases. We also believe that our three areas of focus, Tech, FA and HLS, will be among the higher growth categories in
both the short and long-term and that over the long-term, temporary staffing will become a higher percentage of total jobs, particularly in the professional and
technical areas. Further, we believe that the recent positive trends in our operating results, which we believe are enhanced by the streamlining of our
operations and centralizing of certain support functions during the economic downturn of 2001-2003, demonstrate a strong positioning for success. In
addition, the National Association of Temporary and Staffing Services estimated that more than 80% of all U.S. businesses now utilize temporary staffing
services.
There can be no assurance that customer demand for Kforce’s specialty staffing sectors will return to previous levels or that pricing will return to historical
levels. In addition, Kforce has a number of competitors that are increasingly utilizing a lower-priced staffing preferred-vendor model. Also, competition for
skilled candidates, such as finance and accounting candidates, has increased. Each of these factors, among others, may impact the future growth and
profitability of Kforce.
Acquisition of Hall, Kinion & Associates, Inc.
On June 7, 2004, Kforce acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Hall, Kinion and Associates Inc. (“Hall Kinion”) and its subsidiaries in
exchange for approximately 5.7 million shares of Kforce stock. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. Hall Kinion’s first quarter
2004 and full year 2003 revenues were $30.3 million and $156.9 million, respectively. The results of Hall Kinion’s operations since the date of acquisition
have been included in Kforce’s consolidated financial statements. Hall Kinion specialized in providing technology and finance and accounting related talent
on a temporary and permanent basis to its customers primarily in the United States. The results of the technology and finance and accounting businesses
(previously provided by Hall Kinion’s “OnStaff” group) are included in Kforce’s Technology and Finance and Accounting business segments, respectively.
As a result of this acquisition, Kforce expanded its market presence by adding 18 offices, not including 25 offices that have been consolidated with existing
Kforce offices. The acquisition also expanded Kforce’s service offerings in technology and finance and accounting in certain market segments. We believe
the integration of the operations of Hall Kinion into Kforce is substantially complete and has had a positive effect on revenues, net income and earnings per
share beginning in the third quarter of 2004. We have not compiled separate results for the former Hall Kinion operations because these operations have been
fully integrated into Kforce and it is not feasible to track their results.
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Details of the terms of the acquisition are included in a Registration Statement on Form S-4 that we filed on December 24, 2003, and amended on February 9,
2004, April 13, 2004, May 3, 2004 and May 5, 2004.
Acquisition of VistaRMS, Inc.
On February 1, 2005, Kforce completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of VistaRMS, Inc. (“Vista”), a privately held company based in
Herndon, Virginia, in exchange for 2.3 million shares of Kforce common stock. Vista has produced revenue of approximately $50 million in technology
staffing over the last 12 months with approximately 40% of that revenue in the Federal government sector. Because the closing occurred in 2005, none of
Vista’s results of operations have been included in Kforce’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004.
Kforce anticipates continued growth which may be organic and/or through acquisition of other entities that enhance or expand our existing businesses. We
believe that we are positioned to acquire and integrate other businesses that are strategically beneficial.
Business Strategy
Kforce is a national provider of professional and technical specialty staffing services. Key elements of our business strategy include the following:
Focus on Value-Added Services. We focus on providing specialty staffing services to our clients, specifically in the areas of Technology, Finance and
Accounting and Health and Life Sciences. We believe, based upon data published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and other sources, that future
employment growth may be significant in these sectors. The placement of highly skilled personnel requires operational and technical knowledge to
effectively recruit and screen personnel, match them to client needs, and develop and manage the resulting relationships. We believe our historical focus in
these markets, combined with our staff’s operating expertise, provides us with a competitive advantage.
Build Long-Term, Consultative Relationships. We believe we have developed long-term relationships with our clients by providing solutions to their
specialty staffing requirements. We strive to differentiate ourselves by working closely with our clients to maximize their return on human assets. In addition,
Kforce’s ability to offer flexible staffing services, coupled with its permanent placement capability, offers the client a multi-faceted provider of specialty
staffing services. We believe this ability enables Kforce to emphasize consultative rather than just transactional client relationships.
Achieve Extensive Client Penetration. Our client development process focuses on contacts with client employees responsible for staffing decisions. Contacts
are made within numerous functional departments and at many different organizational levels within the client. Our associates are trained to develop a
thorough understanding of each client’s total staffing requirements.
Recruit High-Quality Consultants. We place great emphasis on recruiting qualified consultants. We believe we have a recruiting advantage over those of our
competitors that lack the ability to offer candidates flexible and permanent opportunities. We frequently place candidates seeking permanent employment in
flexible assignments until a permanent position becomes available as well as convert temporary candidates into permanent employees of our client
companies.
Encourage Employee Achievement. We promote a quality-focused, results-oriented culture. Our field associates and corporate personnel are given incentives
to encourage the achievement of Kforce’s corporate goals.
Business Segments/Reporting Units
Kforce provides staffing services in three business segments:
Technology. The Bureau of Labor Statistics’ lists computer and data processing services among the fastest growing industries over the last decade. The
shortage of technical expertise to operate the advanced systems that businesses have acquired over the last decade is a major catalyst contributing to the
growth of this segment. Our Technology services focus primarily on more sophisticated areas of information technologies (i.e., systems/applications
programmers, systems analysts, and e-business and networking technicians). The economic slowdown of 2000-2003 significantly affected the willingness
and ability of companies to commit capital resources to their technology systems/infrastructure. While our Technology staffing revenue increased throughout
2004, and we believe that the long-term business catalysts of technology remain in place, there can be no assurance that spending in the sector will return to
the levels seen over the last decade.
6
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Finance and Accounting. Our Finance and Accounting personnel provide both temporary staffing and search placement services to our clients in areas such
as taxation, budget preparation and analysis, financial reporting, cost analysis, accounts payable, accounts receivable, professional administrative, credit and
collections, general accounting, audit services and systems and controls analysis and documentation to support compliance work under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We believe we have built a reputation for providing qualified finance and accounting professionals to businesses. Historically,
this business segment typically experiences its strongest demand in the months preceding and subsequent to the end of the calendar year as the result of
increased demand for finance professionals to work on year-end closing and tax related assignments. During the recent economic slowdown, Finance and
Accounting revenues decreased significantly from 2000 – 2003. While these areas improved in 2004, there can be no assurance that revenue in the Finance
and Accounting sector will return to prior peak levels.
Health and Life Sciences. This segment consists of skilled professionals and technical services in the clinical research, health care and scientific fields.
Examples of positions in these categories are: clinical research associates (CRAs) for the pharmaceutical industry, and health care information management
professionals and nurses for hospitals. The Scientific specialty group supplies laboratory, research and development, quality assurance and quality control
professionals to a variety of industries. This segment, and in particular the clinical research and scientific businesses, exhibits decreases in demand the final
two weeks of the year as the result of holiday shutdowns at many large clients.
In January 2004, Kforce realigned the organizational structure in its Finance and Accounting and Technology business units by aligning them along regional
market lines: eastern, central and western markets. Kforce believes this operational alignment will develop a more customer centric organization, leverage our
best leaders, leverage client relationships across functional offerings and streamline the organization by placing senior management closer to the customer as
well as achieve greater cost-efficiency. The Health and Life Sciences segment is organized and managed by specialty because of the unique operating
characteristics of each business.
We have continued to supplement our key business segments and divest non-core businesses. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we exited our human resources
business, whose operating results are included in the Technology business segment. The human resource business had $4.1 million of revenue in 2002. In
realigning our operations we believe we have strengthened our focus on our core specialty staffing business.
Financial information regarding our business segments is included in Item 8 of Part II.
Staffing Services
Staffing services are provided to our clients based on an analysis of each client’s individual functional needs, including a determination of time duration of
services required. Kforce offers staffing services in two categories: Flexible Staffing Services and Search Services. In 2004, Flexible Staffing and Search
Services accounted for 93.7% and 6.3% of revenue, respectively.
Flexible Staffing Services
Kforce offers Flexible Staffing Services, providing personnel in the fields of information technology, finance and accounting, and health and life sciences.
Flexible Staffing Services entail placing skilled workers in the client environment on a contractual basis. Assignments typically run from three months to one
year in duration. We currently offer Flexible Staffing Services in most large metropolitan market areas.
Search Services
Kforce provides Search Services (permanent placement) for professional and technical personnel in the areas of information technology, finance and
accounting, financial services, clinical research, health care and scientific.
Kforce primarily performs contingency searches. A contingency search results in revenue to Kforce only when personnel are hired by a client. Our strategy is
to perform contingency searches primarily in our core businesses. Fees are typically structured as a percentage of the placed individual’s first-year annual
compensation. Sometimes consultants initially work with clients on a Flex basis and then later are converted into permanent employees, for which we also
receive Search fees.
Client searches that are outside a core business area are typically restricted to management or executive level positions and require a targeted research and
recruiting effort. Kforce typically performs these searches as retained searches where the client pays a part of the search fee in advance and the remainder upon
completion of the search. Retained searches represent only a nominal portion of our search services.
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An active database of candidates is maintained as the result of our continuous recruiting efforts and reputation in the industry. In addition, many candidates
are located as a result of referrals from Flexible Staffing Services activities.
The clients targeted for Search Services are typically the same as those targeted for Flexible Staffing Services. This common focus is intended to contribute to
Kforce’s objective of providing an integrated solution for our clients’ personnel needs. Search Services have been severely impacted by the economic
downturn and continued to deteriorate in 2003. Although we have seen some recovery in 2004, there can be no assurance or expectation that Search Services
revenues will return to prior levels.
Technology
Our focus for Kforce’s technology activities is to improve efficiency and maintain a leveragable platform. In 2004, we continued to consolidate key
technology activities to improve access to data and improve operating leverage. We completed a field server consolidation project which consolidated over
50 Microsoft Exchange (E-mail & Calendaring) servers in the field into one centralized Exchange system in our data center located in Tampa. We also
completed the acquisition of Hall Kinion in June 2004. We believe that we successfully integrated Hall Kinion’s technical processes into Kforce processes
and established a methodology for technical acquisition of future companies.
Kforce’s nationwide computer, telephony and data communications infrastructure was upgraded in 2003 to take advantage of faster and lower cost devices
and services. We believe that these projects improved internal communications and should reduce associated costs.
In 2002, we changed our outsourced data center host. Total costs incurred to change vendors were approximately $2.8 million, including a $2.3 million
cancellation fee. The change has provided cost savings of $4.3 million annually in each of the last three years. Kforce also implemented an enterprise-wide
project management process that we believe has greatly enhanced our ability to plan, implement and align information technology initiatives.
While we believe our technology systems are adequate to meet our current needs, there can be no assurance that they will not be subject to system outages or
data loss caused by natural or man-made disaster. In addition, Kforce depends on certain third-party vendors whose reliability we can not guarantee going
forward. One or more of such events could negatively impact our ability to conduct our normal course of business.
Tradenames
The Kforce and OnStaff tradenames, which are registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, are important to our business.
Competition
The specialty staffing services industry is very competitive and fragmented. There are relatively few barriers to entry and new competitors frequently enter the
market. A number of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we possess. We face substantial competition from large national firms and local
specialty staffing firms. The local firms are typically operator-owned, and each market generally has one or more significant competitors. We also face
competition from national clerical and light industrial staffing firms and national and regional accounting firms that also offer certain specialty staffing
services.
In addition, many companies utilize Vendor Management Systems (“VMS”) for the purchase of staffing services. Generally, VMS are software systems that
allow companies to manage service providers. According to a recent survey conducted by Staffing Industry Analysts, 20% of the Fortune 1000 have VMS
installed, up from 8% a year ago, with another 20% planning to do so within the next two years. Typically, VMS providers charge staffing firms 1% to 3% of
total service revenues, which are usually recorded by staffing firms as a cost of services, thereby compressing margins.
In the United States, approximately 100 national competitors operate; and more than 20,000 smaller organizations compete in varying degrees at local levels.
Several similar companies – global, national, and local – compete in foreign markets. In 2004, Kforce’s largest competitors included Adecco, S.A.,
Manpower, Inc., MPS Group, Inc., Robert Half International Inc., Spherion Corporation, Ciber Resources Connection, Jefferson Wells and CDI Corporation.
8
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Kforce believes that availability and quality of personnel, level of service, effective monitoring of job performance, scope of geographic service and price of
service are the principal elements of competition in our industry. We believe that availability of quality personnel is especially important. In order to attract
candidates, we place emphasis upon our ability to provide permanent placement opportunities, competitive compensation and benefits, quality and varied
assignments and scheduling flexibility. Because personnel pursue other employment opportunities on a regular basis, it is important that we respond to
market conditions affecting these individuals. Additionally, in certain markets and in response to economic softening, we have experienced significant
pricing pressure from some of our competitors. Although we believe we compete favorably with respect to these factors, we expect competition and pricing
pressure to continue, and there can be no assurance that we will remain competitive.
Insurance
Kforce maintains a number of insurance policies including general liability, automobile liability and employers’ liability (each with excess liability
coverage). We also maintain workers compensation, fidelity, fiduciary, directors and officers, professional liability, and employment practices liability
policies. These policies provide coverage subject to their terms, conditions, limits of liability, and deductibles, for certain liabilities that may arise from
Kforce’s operations. There can be no assurance that any of the above coverage will be adequate for our needs, or that we will maintain all such policies in the
future.
Financial Information About Foreign and Domestic Operations
Materially all of Kforce’s revenues are derived from domestic operations with customers located in the United States, for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002.
Operating Employees and Personnel
As of December 31, 2004, Kforce employed 1,667 operating employees and had approximately 10,200 consultants on assignment (“Flexible Consultants”)
providing flexible staffing services to our clients. Flexible Consultants are primarily individuals who are employed directly by Kforce (“Flexible
Employees”) representing 84% of Flexible Consultants; the balance are individuals who are employed by other entities (“Independent Contractors”) that
provide their employees to Kforce for assignment to its clients. As the employer, Kforce is responsible for the operating employees’ and Flexible Employees’
payrolls and the employer’s share of applicable social security taxes (FICA), federal and state unemployment taxes, workers compensation insurance, and
other direct labor costs relating to our employees. We offer access to various health, life and disability insurance programs and other benefits for operating
employees and Flexible Employees. We have no collective bargaining agreements covering any of our operating employees or Flexible Employees, have
never experienced any material labor disruption, and are unaware of any current efforts or plans to organize any of our employees.
Available Information
We make available, free of charge, through the Investor Relations page on our website, and by responding to requests addressed to our Vice President—
Investor Relations, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports. These
reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Our website address is
http://www.kforce.com. The information contained on our website, or on other websites linked to our website, is not part of this document.
Risk Factors
Kforce may not be able to recruit and retain qualified personnel.
Kforce depends upon the abilities of its staff to attract and retain personnel, particularly technical and professional personnel, who possess the skills and
experience necessary to meet the staffing requirements of our clients. We must continually evaluate and upgrade our base of available qualified personnel to
keep pace with changing client needs and emerging technologies. We expect competition for individuals with proven technical or professional skills for the
foreseeable future. If qualified personnel are not available to us in sufficient numbers and upon economic terms acceptable to us, it could have a material
detrimental effect on our business.
9
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Kforce’s current market share may decrease as a result of limited barriers to entry for new competitors and discontinuation of clients outsourcing of
their staffing needs.
Kforce faces significant competition in the markets we serve, and there are limited barriers to entry for new competitors. The competition among staffing
services firms is intense. Kforce competes for potential clients with providers of outsourcing services, systems integrators, computer systems consultants,
temporary personnel agencies, search firms and other providers of staffing services. A number of our competitors possess substantially greater resources than
we do. From time to time we experience significant pressure from our clients to reduce price levels. During these periods, we may face increased competitive
pricing pressures and may not be able to recruit the personnel necessary to fill our clients’ needs. We also face the risk that certain of our current and
prospective clients will decide to provide similar services internally. There can be no assurance that we will continue to successfully compete.
We rely on short-term contracts with most of our clients.
Because long-term contracts are not a significant part of our business, future results cannot be reliably predicted by considering past trends or extrapolating
past results. Further, our reliance on short-term contracts exerts continued pressure on us when we try to renew contracts with existing clients who may seek
better terms at each renewal.
We do not provide an “offshore” outsourcing solution.
Many staffing customers are now seeking an “offshore” solution to support their technology and business process function and, as a result, a significant
amount of technology and financial staffing may be replaced by “offshore” resources. We do not currently provide an “offshore” program and there can be no
assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against the “offshore” solution providers or that we will not lose significant market share and revenue.
While our Technology staffing revenue increased through 2004, and we believe that the long-term business catalyst of technology remain in place, there can
be no assurance that spending in the sector will return to the levels seen over the last decade.
We do not provide a Vendor Management System (“VMS”) solution.
Many staffing customers are seeking to consolidate their use of staffing services through the use of VMS solutions. Kforce provides consultants to these
clients through other staffing companies who utilize a VMS solution, but does not currently provide this service directly to its clients. There can be no
assurance that we can continue to effectively compete with those companies that provide a VMS solution.
Currently, Kforce is unable to recruit enough nurses to meet our clients’ demands for nurse staffing services, limiting the potential growth of our
healthcare staffing business.
Kforce relies on its ability to attract, develop, and retain nurses and other healthcare personnel who possess the skills, experience and licensure necessary to
meet the specified requirements of our healthcare staffing clients. We compete for healthcare staffing personnel with other temporary healthcare staffing
companies, as well as actual and potential clients. Currently, there is a shortage of qualified nurses in most areas of the United States and competition for
nursing personnel is increasing. At this time, we do not have enough nurses to meet our clients’ demands for our nurse staffing services. This shortage of
nurses limits Kforce’s ability to grow our healthcare staffing business. Furthermore, we believe that the aging of the existing nurse population and declining
enrollments in nursing schools will result in further competition for qualified nursing personnel.
Decreases in patient occupancy at healthcare clients’ facilities may adversely affect the profitability of Kforce’s business.
Demand for temporary healthcare staffing services is significantly affected by the general level of patient occupancy at healthcare clients’ facilities. When a
hospital’s occupancy increases, temporary employees are often added before full-time employees are hired. As occupancy decreases, clients may reduce their
use of temporary employees before undertaking layoffs of their regular employees. Kforce may also experience more competitive pricing pressure during
periods of occupancy downturn. This reduction in occupancy could adversely affect the demand for services and Kforce’s profitability. There has been a
significantly lessened demand for our healthcare staffing services in recent years. There can be no assurance that such demand will remain at current or return
to prior levels.
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Significant legal actions, particularly relating to our healthcare staffing services, could subject Kforce to substantial uninsured liabilities.
In recent years, healthcare providers have become subject to an increasing number of legal actions alleging malpractice, product liability or related legal
theories. Many of these actions involve large claims and significant defense costs. In addition, we may be subject to claims related to torts or crimes
committed by our employees or temporary staffing personnel. In some instances, we are required to indemnify clients against some or all of these risks. A
failure of any of our employees or personnel to observe our policies and guidelines intended to reduce these risks, relevant client policies and guidelines or
applicable federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations could result in negative publicity, payment of fines or other damages. To protect ourselves from
the cost of these claims, we maintain professional malpractice liability insurance, fidelity insurance and general liability insurance coverage in amounts and
with deductibles that we believe are appropriate for our operations. Our insurance coverage, however, may not cover all claims against us or continue to be
available to us at a reasonable cost. If we are unable to maintain adequate insurance coverage, we may be exposed to substantial liabilities.
The addition of offices and entry into new geographic markets may not occur on a timely basis or achieve anticipated financial results.
Kforce’s growth depends in part on our ability to enter new vertical or geographic markets successfully. This expansion is dependent on a number of factors,
including our ability to:
•

develop, recruit and maintain a base of qualified professionals within a new geographic market;

•

initiate, develop and sustain corporate client relationships in each new vertical or geographic market;

•

attract, hire, integrate and retain qualified sales and sales support employees; and

•

accurately assess the demand of a new market.

The addition of new offices and entry into new vertical or geographic markets typically result in increases in operating expenses, primarily due to increased
employee headcount. Expenses are incurred in advance of forecasted revenue, and there is typically a delay before our new employees reach full
productivity. Additionally, demand for our services in new markets that we enter might also be less than we anticipate. If we are unable to enter new vertical
or geographic markets in a cost-effective manner or if demand for our services in new markets does not meet or exceed our forecasts, our business, operating
results and financial condition could be negatively impacted. In 2002, 2003 and 2004, we closed and consolidated offices to improve efficiency, and further
closures or consolidation may occur depending on market and competitive conditions.
Competition for acquisition opportunities may restrict Kforce’s future growth by limiting our ability to make acquisitions at reasonable valuations.
Kforce’s business strategy includes increasing market share and presence in the staffing industry through strategic acquisitions of companies that
complement or enhance our business. We have historically faced competition for acquisitions. In the future, this could limit our ability to grow through
acquisitions or could raise the prices of acquisitions and make them less accretive or possibly non-accretive to us. In addition, Kforce may be limited by its
ability to obtain financing to consummate desirable acquisitions.
Kforce may face difficulties integrating acquisitions into existing operations and acquisitions may be unsuccessful, involve significant cash expenditures or
expose Kforce to unforeseen liabilities.
Kforce continually evaluates opportunities to acquire staffing companies that complement or enhance our business and frequently has preliminary
acquisition discussions with some of these companies.
These acquisitions involve numerous risks, including:
•

potential loss of key employees or clients of acquired companies;

•

difficulties integrating acquired personnel and distinct cultures into a single business;

•

diversion of management attention from existing operations; and

•

assumption of liabilities and exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies.
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These acquisitions may also involve significant cash expenditures, debt incurrence, integration expenses and exposure to unforeseen liabilities that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Any acquisition may ultimately have a negative impact on our business
and financial condition.
Kforce faces significant employment liability risk.
Kforce employs and places people in the workplaces of other businesses. An inherent risk of such activity includes possible claims of errors and omissions,
misuse of client proprietary information, misappropriation of funds, discrimination and harassment, employment of illegal aliens, theft of client property,
other criminal activity, torts or other claims. We have policies and guidelines in place to reduce our exposure to such risks. However, failure of any employee
or personnel to follow these policies and guidelines may result in negative publicity, injunctive relief, payment by Kforce of monetary damages or fines or
other material adverse effects upon our business. Moreover, we could be held responsible for the actions at a workplace of persons not under our immediate
control. To reduce our exposure, we maintain insurance covering general liability, workers compensation claims, errors and omissions, and employee theft.
Due to the nature of our assignments, in particular, access to client information systems and confidential information, and the potential liability with respect
thereto, we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage in amounts adequate to cover any such liability on acceptable terms. In addition, we face various
employment-related risks not covered by insurance, such as wage and hour laws and employment tax responsibility.
Kforce may be adversely affected by government regulation of the staffing business.
Our business is subject to regulation and licensing in many states. While we have had no material difficulty complying with regulations in the past, there can
be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain all necessary licenses or approvals or that the cost of compliance will not prove to be material. If we
fail to comply, such failure could materially adversely affect Kforce’s financial results.
There are proposed changes in government visa rules that may materially impact our ability to bring foreign-born nurses to the United States. Our ability to
bring nurses into the United States in the future may be severely impacted, which would affect our nurse staffing revenue.
Kforce may be adversely affected by government regulation of the workplace.
Part of our business entails employing individuals on a temporary basis and placing such individuals in clients’ workplaces. Increased government regulation
of the workplace or of the employer-employee relationship could have a material adverse affect on Kforce.
If Kforce becomes subject to material liabilities under our self-insured programs, our financial results may be adversely affected.
Kforce provides workers compensation coverage through a program that is partially self-insured. In addition, we provide medical coverage to our employees
through a partially self-insured preferred provider organization. If we become subject to substantial uninsured workers compensation or medical coverage
liabilities, our financial results may be adversely affected.
Future changes in reimbursement trends could hamper our clients’ ability to pay Kforce.
Many of Kforce’s healthcare clients are reimbursed under the federal Medicare program and state Medicaid programs for the services they provide. In recent
years, federal and state governments have made significant changes in these programs that have reduced government rates. In addition, insurance companies
and managed care organizations seek to control costs by requiring that healthcare providers, such as hospitals, discount their services in exchange for
exclusive or preferred participation in their benefit plans. Future federal and state legislation or evolving commercial reimbursement trends may further
reduce, or change conditions for, our clients’ reimbursement. Limitations on reimbursement could reduce our clients’ cash flow, hampering their ability to
pay us. This situation could have a significant impact on our cash flow.
Significant increases in payroll-related costs could adversely affect Kforce’s business.
Kforce is required to pay a number of federal, state, and local payroll and related costs, including unemployment taxes, workers compensation and insurance,
FICA, and Medicare, among others, for our employees. Significant increases in the effective rates of any payroll-related costs likely would have a material
adverse effect upon Kforce. Costs could also increase as a result of health care reforms or the possible imposition of additional
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requirements and restrictions related to the placement of personnel. Recent federal and state legislative proposals have included provisions extending health
insurance benefits to personnel who currently do not receive such benefits. We may not be able to increase the fees charged to our clients in a timely manner
and in a sufficient amount to cover increased costs, if any such proposals are adopted.
Kforce depends on the proper functioning of our information systems.
Kforce is dependent on the proper functioning of information systems in operating its business. Critical information systems are used in every aspect of
Kforce’s daily operations, most significantly, in the identification and matching of staffing resources to client assignments and in the customer billing and
consultant payment functions. Kforce’s information systems are protected through physical and software safeguards including the use of a third party data
processing center. However, Kforce and its systems are still vulnerable to natural disasters, fire, terrorist acts, power loss, telecommunications failures,
physical or software break-ins, computer viruses and similar events. If our critical information systems fail or are otherwise unavailable, we would have to
accomplish these functions manually, which could temporarily impact our ability to identify business opportunities quickly, to maintain billing and clinical
records reliably, and to bill for services efficiently. In addition, we depend on third-party vendors for certain functions whose future performance and
reliability we can not warranty.
Due to inherent limitations, there can be no assurance that our system of disclosure and internal controls and procedures will be successful in preventing
all errors and fraud, or in making all material information known in a timely manner to management.
Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, within Kforce have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people, or by management override of the control.
The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Kforce may not be able to maintain sufficient cash flow or borrowing capacity to support operations.
Kforce’s liquidity may be adversely impacted by covenants in our Credit Facility. On November 3, 2000, Kforce entered into a $90 million Amended and
Restated Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks led by Bank of America (“the Credit Facility”). On December 6, 2002, Kforce amended certain terms and
conditions of the Credit Facility, and extended its term to November 3, 2005. The Credit Facility provides for a maximum revolving credit facility of $100
million. Kforce is currently reviewing alternatives with regard to renewing or refinancing the Credit Facility. Kforce may not be able to renew the Credit
Facility at the same terms and conditions as the existing Credit Facility.
The terms of the Credit Facility include certain financial covenants to which Kforce is subject, including a requirement to maintain at least $10 million of
borrowing availability. In addition, should the amount available to be borrowed be less than $15 million but greater than $10 million Kforce must attain
certain EBITDA targets. As of December 31, 2004, approximately $34.1 million was outstanding under this Credit Facility with an additional $21.4 million
of borrowing available, without triggering the financial covenants and $36.4 million in total availability. At no time during the existence of the Credit
Facility have we ever triggered such covenants. If such financial covenants were triggered in the future and if we did not comply with them, such a breach of
the Credit Facility could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition. Such lack of compliance could result, among other things, in the
acceleration of all amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility. See the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Adverse results in tax audits could result in significant cash expenditures or exposure to unforeseen liabilities.
Kforce is subject to periodic federal, state and local tax audits for various tax years. Although Kforce attempts to comply with all taxing authority regulations,
adverse findings or assessments made by the taxing authorities as the result of an audit could have a material adverse affect on Kforce.
Kforce’s success depends upon retaining the services of its management team.
Kforce is highly dependent on its management team and expects that continued success will depend largely upon their efforts and abilities. The loss of the
services of any key executive for any reason could have a material adverse effect upon Kforce. Success also depends upon our ability to identify, develop,
and retain qualified operating employees; particularly management, client servicing, and candidate recruiting employees. Kforce expends significant
resources in the recruiting and training of its employees, as the pool of available applicants for these positions is limited. The loss of some of our key
operating employees could have an adverse effect on our operations, including our ability to establish and maintain client and candidate, professional and
technical relationships.
Kforce’s stock price may be volatile.
Kforce’s common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “KFRC”. The market price of our stock has fluctuated substantially in the
past and could fluctuate substantially in the future, based on a variety of factors, including our operating results, changes in general conditions in the
economy, the financial markets, the employment services industry, or other developments affecting us, our clients, or our competitors, some of which may be
unrelated to our performance.
In addition, the stock market in general, especially the NASDAQ National Market tier, along with market prices for staffing companies, has experienced
volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect
the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating results.
Among other things, volatility in our stock price could mean that investors will not be able to sell their shares at or above the prices that they pay. The
volatility also could impair our ability in the future to offer common stock as a source of additional capital or as consideration in the acquisition of other
businesses.
Provisions in Kforce’s articles and bylaws and under Florida law may have certain anti-takeover effects.
Kforce’s articles of incorporation and bylaws and Florida law contain provisions that may have the effect of inhibiting a non-negotiated merger or other
business combination. In particular, our articles of incorporation provide for a staggered board of directors and permit the removal of directors only for cause.
Additionally, management may issue up to 15 million shares of preferred stock, and fix the rights and preferences thereof, without a further vote of the
shareholders. In addition, certain of our officers and managers have employment agreements containing certain provisions that call for substantial payments
to be made to such employees in certain circumstances upon a change in control. Certain of these provisions may discourage a future acquisition of Kforce,
including an acquisition in which shareholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. As a result, shareholders who might desire to participate in
such a transaction may not have the opportunity to do so. Moreover, the existence of these provisions may have a depressive effect on the market price of our
common stock.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We lease our corporate headquarters in Tampa, Florida, as well as space for our other locations. The aggregate area of office space under leases for locations is
approximately 513,000 square feet. Field office leases generally run from month-to-month to five years. In September 2001, we relocated our corporate
offices and local branches into a new headquarters in Tampa, Florida, which we have leased for 15 years. The aggregate annual rent expense in 2004 on all
properties was approximately $9.4 million. We believe that our facilities will be adequate for our current needs.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of its business, we are, from time to time, threatened with or named as a defendant in various lawsuits, including discrimination claims,
restrictive covenant disputes, service related disputes and other claims. We maintain insurance in such amounts and with such coverages and deductibles as
management believes are reasonable. The principal risks that we insure against are workers compensation, personal injury, property damage, professional
malpractice, errors and omissions, employment practices liability and fidelity losses. We are not aware of any material pending legal proceedings, other than
ordinary routine litigation incidental to our business.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR KFORCE COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ National Market tier of The NASDAQ Stock Market(SM), under the symbol “KFRC”. The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low closing sale prices for our common stock, as reported on the NASDAQ National Market.
HIGH

LOW

Calendar Year 2003:
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

4.42
5.39
8.68
9.46

$1.70
$2.37
$4.76
$7.29

Calendar Year 2004:
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$11.00
$11.35
$ 9.55
$12.31

$8.61
$8.19
$6.35
$8.15

On March 14, 2005 there were approximately 359 holders of record of our common stock. On March 14, 2005, the last reported sale price of our common
stock on the NASDAQ Exchange was $11.18 per share.
Dividends
Since our initial public offering, we have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We are currently prohibited from making such dividend
distributions under the terms of our Credit Facility.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants, rights and restricted stock under
all of our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2004, including the Kforce Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, the Kforce Inc.
Stock Incentive Plan, the Kforce Inc. Executive Investment Plan and the Kforce Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants, Rights and
Restricted Stock
Awards

Plan Category

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants, Rights and
Restricted Stock
Awards

Number of
Securities
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance
Under
Equity Compensation
Plans

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholders
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Shareholders

6,780,352
—

$

8.635
—

840,053
—

Total

6,780,352

$

8.635

840,053
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with Kforce’s Consolidated
Financial Statements and the related notes thereto incorporated into Item 8 of this report.
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Net service revenues
Direct costs of services

$661,451 $495,585 $513,547 $658,417 $805,020
457,567 341,617
345,585
406,017
443,464

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization.
Other expense, net

203,884
185,488
5,221
1,701

153,968
142,915
4,371
1,214

167,962
168,233
9,629
3,206

252,400
244,792
17,325
4,460

361,556
341,812
18,440
113

Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

11,474
13,537

5,468
(350)

(13,106)
(102)

(14,177)
2,089

1,191
(1,474)

Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

25,011
—

5,118
—

(13,208)
(33,823)

(12,088)
—

(283)
—

Net income (loss)

$ 25,011 $

Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle-basic

$

0.73 $

0.17 $

(0.42) $

(0.38) $

(0.01)

Earnings (loss) per share-basic

$

0.73 $

0.17 $

(1.49) $

(0.38) $

(0.01)

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic

34,125

5,118 $ (47,031) $ (12,088) $

30,514

31,577

31,711

(283)

42,886

Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle-diluted

$

0.69 $

0.16 $

(0.42) $

(0.38) $

(0.01)

Earnings (loss) per share-diluted

$

0.69 $

0.16 $

(1.49) $

(0.38) $

(0.01)

Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted

36,091
16
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31,711

42,886
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BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital
Total assets
Total long-term debt
Stockholders’ equity

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

$ 24,829
$273,195
$ 1,727
$170,769

$ 40,784
$160,317
$ 22,000
$ 91,405

$ 32,126
$151,435
$ 22,000
$ 84,846

$ 43,083
$222,772
$ 28,185
$138,809

$ 70,885
$278,018
$ 45,000
$155,037

Working capital at December 31, 2004 is impacted by the classification of the outstanding balance on Kforce’s Credit Facility of $34.1 million, which is
scheduled to expire in November 2005, as a current liability.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (“MDA”)
This MDA should be read in connection with Item 6. Selected Financial Data and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data, included in this Form
10-K and, including the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, referred to herein as “Financial Statements.” Also, certain references to particular
information in the Financial Statements are made to assist readers.
OVERVIEW
This overview is intended to assist readers in better understanding this MDA. Part 1, Item 1 of this Form 10-K includes additional information on Kforce’s
business.
Who We Are
We are a national provider of professional and technical specialty staffing services. At December 31, 2004, we operated 81 field offices covering 45 markets
in 45 states. We provide our clients staffing services through three business segments: Technology (“Tech”), Finance and Accounting (“FA”), and Health and
Life Sciences (“HLS”). Substantially all Tech and FA services are sold and delivered through our field offices. The HLS segment includes our Clinical
Research, Scientific, Healthcare-Nursing (“Nursing”) and Healthcare-Non Nursing (“Med Records”) specialties. The sales and delivery functions of
substantial portions of HLS, particularly Clinical Research and Med Records, are concentrated in our headquarters, with services being provided for certain
clients through our field offices. Our headquarters provides support services to our field offices in areas such as human resources, nationwide recruiting,
training, marketing, and national sales initiatives, in addition to the traditional “back office” support services like payroll, billing, accounting, legal and tax,
which are highly centralized.
Kforce is focused on providing “staffing” services to our clients. Our staffing services include Flexible Staffing Services (“Flex”) and Search Services
(“Search”).
Flex
Through Flex, we provide clients’ with qualified individuals (“consultants”) on a temporary basis with the appropriate skills and experience, when it is
determined it is “the right match”. To be successful, our employees (“associates”) endeavor to (1) understand the clients’ needs, (2) determine and understand
the capabilities of the consultants being recruited, and (3) deliver and manage the client-consultant relationship to the satisfaction of both the clients and the
consultants. Typically, the better job Kforce and our consultants do, the longer the assignments last and the more often those clients turn to Kforce for
additional needs.
The Flex business comprised 93.7% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. Flex revenues are driven by hours billed and billing rates. Flex
gross profit is determined by deducting consultant pay, benefits and other related costs from Flex revenues. Flex associate commissions, related taxes and
other compensation and benefits as well as field management compensation are included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses (“SGA”) along
with administrative and corporate compensation. The Flex business model involves attempting to maximize consultant hours and billing rates, while
optimizing consultant pay rates and benefit costs and commissions and other compensation and benefits for associates, as well as minimizing the other
operating costs necessary to effectively support such activities.
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Search
The Search business is a smaller, yet important part of our business that involves locating permanent employees for our clients. We primarily perform searches
on a contingency basis, with fees being earned only if personnel are hired by our clients. Fees are typically structured as a percentage of the placed
individual’s first-year annual compensation. We recruit permanent employees from our Flex consultant population, from the job boards, and from candidates
we identify who are currently employed and not actively seeking another position. Sometimes consultants initially work with clients on a Flex basis and then
later are converted into permanent employees, for which we also receive Search fees. There can be no assurance or expectation that Search revenues will
increase if economic conditions improve, as has been the case in previous economic cycles. Clients and recruits are often targets for both Flex and Search
services, and this common focus contributes to our objective of providing integrated solutions for all of our clients’ human capital needs.
Search revenues are driven by placements made and the fees billed. There are no consultant payroll costs associated with the placement and thus all search
revenue generally increases gross profit by a like amount. Search associate commissions, compensation and benefits are also included in SGA. Search
revenues comprised 6.3% of revenue in 2004.
Our Industry
We serve Fortune 1000 companies, as well as small and mid-size local and regional companies, with our largest ten clients representing approximately 17%
of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. The specialty staffing industry is made up of thousands of companies, most of which are small local firms
providing a limited service offering to a small local client base. We believe Kforce is one of the ten largest specialty staffing firms in the United States, that
the ten firms combined have a market share of less than 30% of the applicable market and that no single firm has a larger than 7% market share. Competition
in a particular market can come from many different companies, either large or small. We believe, however, that our geographic presence, diversified service
offerings within our core businesses, and focus on consistent sales and delivery that is highly disciplined, provide a competitive advantage particularly with
larger clients that have operations in multiple markets.
We believe 2003 may have been a bottoming-out year for the economy and for the staffing industry after having declined for approximately three years and
that indicators favorable for staffing services improved through 2004. Selected industry reports indicate the United States temporary staffing industry has
shown revenue levels of $76 billion in 2002, $76 billion in 2003 and $81 billion in 2004. Of course, no predictions can or should be made about the general
economy, the staffing industry as a whole, or specialty staffing in particular. We do believe, however, that a sustained economic recovery will stimulate
demand for substantial additional U.S. workers or conversely, to contract with an economic slowdown, that Flex demand generally increases before demand
for permanent placements increases, that our three areas of focus, Tech, FA and HLS, will be among the higher growth categories in both the short and longterm and that over the long-term, temporary staffing will become a higher percentage of total jobs, particularly in the professional and technical areas.
Further, we believe that the recent positive trends in our operating results, which we believe are enhanced by the streamlining of our operations and
centralizing certain support functions during the economic downturn of 2001-2003, demonstrate a strong positioning for success. There can be no assurance
that customer demand for Kforce’s specialty staffing sectors will return to previous levels or that pricing will return to historical levels. However, the National
Association of Temporary and Staffing Services estimated that more than 80% of all U.S. businesses now utilize temporary staffing services. There can be no
assurance that the Kforce Health and Life Sciences business segment will be able to assemble a sufficient candidate pool to service client needs. Partially
driven by requirements at many public companies pertaining to the adoption of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, competition for finance and
accounting candidates significantly increased in 2004. There can be no assurance that Kforce will be able to assemble a sufficient candidate pool to service
client needs in finance and accounting. In addition, a number of national staffing companies are increasingly utilizing a lower-priced staffing preferredvendor model. These factors may impact the future growth and profitability of Kforce.
Future Growth
Kforce’s growth may be organic and/or through acquisition of other entities that enhance or expand our existing businesses. We believe that we are
positioned to acquire and integrate other businesses that are strategically beneficial as evidenced by our successful acquisition and integration of Hall,
Kinion and Associates, Inc. in June 2004.
On February 1, 2005, Kforce completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of VistaRMS, Inc. (“Vista”) a privately held company based in
Herndon, Virginia. Vista is engaged in the business of providing integrated business and information technology staffing and solutions to the commercial
and government sectors.
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Highlights
The sections that follow this overview discuss and refer to critical accounting estimates and recent pronouncements, Kforce’s results of operations and
important aspects of its liquidity and capital resources. Set forth below are what we believe to be important highlights of our operating results and our
positioning for the future. Such highlights should be considered in the context of all of the discussions herein and in conjunction with the Financial
Statements. We believe such highlights are as follows:
•

After three years of decreasing revenues, revenue improved during 2004, with growth in each of Kforce’s operating segments for the year.

•

Search revenue grew each quarter in 2004, with growth of 36.2% during 2004.

•

Kforce completed the acquisition and successful integration of Hall Kinion during the second quarter. The integration of sales associates, the
consolidation of 26 offices and the transition of the corporate headquarters all occurred on schedule.

•

Operating expenses were reduced to 28.8% of revenues for 2004 versus 29.7% for 2003, and 34.6% for 2002.

•

We believe that the quality of accounts receivable, our primary operating asset, continues to be good, with days sales outstanding (“DSO”) at 41
days and 2004 net write-offs of $1.8 million.

•

Kforce’s stock price on the Nasdaq National Market increased 18.7% from $9.35 on December 31, 2003, to $11.10 at December 31, 2004.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS
The SEC has indicated that “critical accounting estimates” may be material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly
uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change, and due to their material impact on financial condition or operating performance. Readers
should also refer to the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in Note 1 to the Financial Statements for additional information. The following
discussion is intended to assist the readers’ understanding of the judgments, accounting estimates, and uncertainties inherent in the more significant of
Kforce’s policies.
This section is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all accounting estimates and all accounting policies are not set forth in the Financial Statements. In
many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, with no need for management’s judgment in their application. There are also areas in which management’s estimates and its judgment in selecting
any available alternative would not produce a materially different result.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Fallouts
Kforce has established a reserve for estimated credit losses and fallouts on trade receivables based on our past experience and expectations of potential future
write-offs, and ongoing analysis of factors including short and long-term write-off trends, changes in economic conditions, and concentration of accounts
receivable among clients. The allowance as a percentage of gross accounts receivable was 6.5% as of December 31, 2004 and 8.3% as of December 31, 2003.
As of December 31, 2004, no single client has a receivable balance greater than 2.9% of total accounts receivable, and the largest ten clients represent
approximately 16.8% of the total accounts receivable balance. Kforce incurred significant write-offs of accounts receivable in certain prior years. In 2002, net
write-offs were $1.4 million, in 2003, there were net write-ons of $0.4 million and in 2004, net write-offs were $1.8 million. We cannot predict that such
recent results can be sustained, particularly in a period of revenue growth. Also, it is possible that the write-off results could be materially impacted as the
composition of accounts receivable changes over time. This is especially true if the economy deteriorates. We continually review and refine the estimation
process to make it as responsive to these changes as possible.
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Income Taxes
Kforce incurred net losses for each of the four years ending December, 31, 2002, and, as a result, has significant net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) for
both federal and state income tax purposes. For accounting purposes, the estimated tax effects of such NOLs, plus or net of timing differences, result in current
and non-current deferred tax assets. However, a determination must be made that it is “more likely than not” that the deferred tax assets will be realized, or
valuation allowances must be established to offset such assets. At December 31, 2002, a “more likely than not” conclusion could not be reached, and the
deferred tax assets were fully reserved. Kforce also acquired certain deferred tax assets in 2004 from Hall Kinion which were also fully reserved at the date of
acquisition. Kforce had net income during each of the quarters in the year ended December 31, 2003, and portions of the deferred tax assets were recognized
in that year by reducing such assets and the related valuation allowances instead of providing income tax expense, other than certain state tax expense or
benefits. Kforce also had net income during each of the quarters in the year ended December 31, 2004. Kforce believes that profitability in each of the
quarters for the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2004, and the corresponding forecast of future operating earnings, justifies changing the
conclusion reached at December 31, 2002. Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2004, Kforce has recognized a $13.5 million income tax benefit, which
consists of the reversal of the valuation allowance in 2004, net of current and deferred income tax of $5.7 million. In addition, during the year ended
December 31, 2004, Kforce reversed $21.8 million of valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets acquired in conjunction with the Hall Kinion
acquisition. This reversal was recorded as an offset to goodwill. At December 31, 2004, Kforce has a remaining valuation allowance of $3.7 million to offset
certain deferred tax assets, including certain deferred tax assets acquired from Hall Kinion, for which a “more likely than not” conclusion could not be
reached. Kforce will continue to evaluate this conclusion on a quarterly basis.
Goodwill
Kforce conducts an annual assessment of the carrying value of goodwill in accordance with accounting standards first applicable in 2002, when an
impairment of $33.8 million was recorded and classified as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The annual assessments found that no
impairment existed at December 31, 2003 or December 31, 2004. The annual assessment requires estimates and judgments by management to determine
valuations for each “reporting unit”, which for Kforce are Tech, FA, and HLS. Although not required, we may use independent outside experts to assist in
performing such valuations. An independent expert valuation was performed in 2002 and 2004, and management followed a similar methodology to reach its
conclusion in 2003. To the extent that economic conditions or the actual business activities and prospects of Kforce are materially worse in the future, the
carrying value of goodwill assigned to any or all of its reporting units could require material write-downs. Kforce had goodwill of $108.4 and $61.8 million
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase of $46.6 million in Goodwill is attributable to the acquisition of Hall Kinion.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Kforce periodically reviews the carrying value of long-lived assets to determine if impairment has occurred. In Kforce’s case, this primarily relates to fixed
assets, capitalized software, and identifiable intangible assets (not goodwill) from acquisitions, which are being depreciated or amortized as described in the
Financial Statements and which had net book values at December 31, 2004 of $8.6 million, $3.0 million, and $9.8 million, respectively. Impairment losses, if
any, are recorded in the period identified. Significant judgment is required to determine whether or not impairment has occurred. The determination is made
by evaluating expected future undiscounted cash flows or the anticipated recoverability of costs incurred and, if necessary, determining the amount of the
loss, if any, by evaluating the fair value of the assets. As further described in Note 4 to the Financial Statements, impairment write-offs were $0.5 million in
2004 and $1.6 million in 2002, related to certain internally developed and purchased software and were included in selling, general and administrative
expenses (“SGA”). No such write-offs were recorded in 2003. Evaluation of the impairment of long-lived assets requires the exercise of continuing judgment
and estimates by management.
Self-Insurance
Kforce offers employee benefits programs, including workers compensation and health insurance, to eligible employees, for which Kforce is self-insured for a
portion of the cost. Kforce retains liability up to $250,000 for each workers compensation claim and up to
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$150,000 annually for each health insurance claim for which it is not insured. These self-insurance costs are accrued using estimates to approximate the
liability for reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. Kforce believes that its estimation processes are adequate and its estimates in these areas
have consistently been similar to actual results. However, estimates in this area are highly subjective and future results could be materially different.
Revenue Recognition
Net service revenues constitute the largest single item in our financial statements, though estimates in regard to revenue recognition are not material in
nature. Net service revenues consist of Search fees and Flex billings inclusive of billable expenses and net of credits, discounts, rebates and fallouts. Kforce
recognizes Flex billings based on the hours worked and reported, together with reimbursable expenses, by placed consultants. Search fees are recognized
upon placement, net of an allowance for “fallouts”. Fallouts are Search placements that do not complete the applicable contingency period which vary on a
contract by contract basis. Contingency periods are typically ninety days or less. The allowance for fallouts is estimated based upon historical activity of
Search placements that do not complete the contingency period and expectations of future fallouts, and is included with the allowance for doubtful accounts
as a reduction in receivables.
Accrued Commissions
Associates earn commissions as a percentage of actual revenue or gross profit pursuant to a calendar year basis commission plan. For each associate, the
amount of commissions paid as a percentage of revenue or gross profit increases as revenue levels increase. For interim periods, Kforce accrues commissions
for actual revenue at a percentage equal to the percentage of total expected commissions payable to total revenue for the entire year. In estimating the
percentage of expected commissions payable, Kforce uses factors including anticipated write–offs and the revenue anticipated for each associate. To the
extent that these estimates differ from the actual results, commissions accrued could be materially different than commissions paid. Because of the calendar
year basis of the plans, this estimation process is more significant at interim quarter ends than it is at calendar year end.
Accrued Bonuses
Kforce pays bonuses to certain executive management, field management and corporate employees based on, or after giving consideration to, a variety of
measures of quarterly and annual performance. Executive and corporate bonuses are accrued for payment near year end, based in part upon anticipated annual
results compared to annual budgets. Field management bonuses are a component of approved compensation plans which specify individual incentive target
levels based on actual results. Variances in revenue, gross margin, selling, general and administrative expenses or net income at a consolidated, segment or
individual manager level can have a significant impact on the calculations and therefore the estimates of the required accruals. Accordingly, the actual
earned bonuses may be materially different from the estimates used to determine the quarterly accruals.
EFFECTS OF RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
The following recently issued accounting pronouncements were effective for Kforce beginning January 1, 2004, and management has determined that the
adoption of these standards had no material impact on Kforce’s consolidated financial statements.
•

SFAS 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”, requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation in the period in which it occurred.

•

SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections”, rescinds SFAS 4,
“Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, and an amendment of that Statement, SFAS 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to
Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements”. SFAS 145 also rescinds SFAS 44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers”, and SFAS 13,
“Accounting for Leases”, eliminating an inconsistency between certain sale-leaseback transactions.

•

SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”, addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated
with exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. SFAS 146 requires costs associated with exit or disposal activities to
be recognized when the costs are incurred, rather than at a date of commitment to an exit or disposal plan.

•

SFAS 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, amends and clarifies financial accounting and
reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives)
and for hedging activities under SFAS 133. The changes in SFAS 149 improve financial reporting by requiring that contracts with comparable
characteristics be accounted for similarly. In particular, SFAS 149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment
meets the characteristic of a derivative discussed in paragraph 6(b) of SFAS 133, (2) clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component,
(3) amends the definition of an underlying asset or liability to conform it to language used in FIN 45, and (4) amends certain other existing
pronouncements.

•

SFAS 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Certain Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity”, establishes standards for
how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer
classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances).

In December of 2004 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a revised version of SFAS 123, “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R). This
statement establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods and services, but focuses
primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in Share-Based Payment transactions. This statement supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. This statement requires a public entity to measure the
cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions).
That cost is recognized over the period in which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, which is usually the vesting period.
No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the requisite service. This statement is effective for Kforce as of
the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Kforce is currently evaluating the impact of this proposed
standard on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
In December of 2004, FASB issued SFAS 153, “Exchange of non-monetary assets.” This statement amends APB Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the exception
for non-monetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-monetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. The provisions of this statement are effective for non monetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005. Management does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on Kforce’s consolidated financial statements.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Kforce saw a return to profitability in 2003 despite continuous challenges in the macro-economic environment. Profitability continued in 2004 driven by
revenue growth in all segments. We believe the expected stabilization of the economic outlook will allow for continued improving trends in the staffing
industry and growth opportunities across our business lines in terms of both revenue and profitability. We believe this is particularly true in the Flex
component of our revenues, which historically has shown growth during the early stages of an economic recovery. Our Search business has shown quarterly
growth throughout 2004; however, it remains difficult to predict whether there will be future growth in our Search business.
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We believe key components to our recent success were the initiatives undertaken during the last several years to restructure both our back office and field
operations. The results of these efforts have increased operating efficiencies, thereby lowering our break-even level and enabling us to be more responsive to
our clients. We believe our field operations model, which allows us to deliver our service offerings in a disciplined and consistent manner across all
geographies and business lines, as well as our highly centralized back office operations, are competitive advantages and keys to our future growth and
profitability.
The acquisition of Hall Kinion, effective on June 7, 2004, impacts our financial results and business drivers in the quarters ended June 30, September 30, and
December 31, 2004. As a result of our successful integration efforts, revenues and costs contributed by the acquired entity are merged into the Kforce business
segments, making it not feasible to accurately estimate the impact of the acquired business on Kforce’s consolidated revenues and margins. Exclusive of any
impacts of the acquisition, we believe that demand is increasing and revenues are growing in all business segments. In addition, we believe that the
acquisition has provided a positive impact on Flex revenues for the Technology and Finance and Accounting segments. Search business and the HLS
segment were not materially affected by the merger. Kforce believes a portion of the increase in SGA, primarily during the second quarter of 2004, is
attributable to non-recurring integration expenses, transaction-related charges and temporary duplicate expenses.
Net Service Revenues. The following table sets forth, as a percentage of net service revenues, certain items in our consolidated statements of operations for
the indicated years:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

2003

2002

Revenue by Segment:
Tech
FA
HLS

46.3%
29.5
24.2

45.1%
24.8
30.1

44.0%
23.7
32.3

Net service revenues

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

93.7%
6.3

93.9%
6.1

92.7%
7.3

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

30.8%
28.0
1.7
3.8
3.8%

31.1%
28.8
1.1
1.0
1.0%

Revenue by Time:
Flex
Search
Net service revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net income (loss)

32.7%
32.8
(2.6)
(2.6)
(9.2)%

The following table details net service revenues by service offering for each business segment and percentage changes from the prior year.
(in $000’s)

2004

Increase
(Decrease)

2003

Increase
(Decrease)

2002

Tech
Flex
Search

$294,598
11,397

36.0%
59.1%

$216,609
7,162

0.4%
(29.4)%

$215,731
10,140

Total Tech

$305,995

36.7%

$223,771

(0.9)%

$225,871

Flex
Search

$169,411
26,058

63.5%
36.0%

$103,630
19,157

4.7%
(15.8)%

$ 99,009
22,754

Total FA

$195,469

59.2%

$122,787

0.8%

$121,763

Flex
Search

$156,071
3,916

7.7%
(3.4)%

$144,972
4,055

(10.0)%
(14.5)%

$161,168
4,745

Total HLS

$159,987

7.4%

$149,027

(10.2)%

$165,913

Total Flex
Total Search

$620,080
41,371

33.3%
36.2%

$465,211
30,374

(2.2)%
(19.3)%

$475,908
37,639

Total revenue

$661,451

33.5%

$495,585

(3.5)%

$513,547

FA

HLS

22

Table of Contents

Kforce experienced revenue growth in all segments in 2004 in comparison to declines or flat revenue in 2003. Tech revenue increased 36.7% in 2004 versus
slight declines in 2003 from 2002. FA revenue increased 59.2% in 2004 building on slight improvements in 2003. Our HLS business segment, which
declined 10.2% in 2003 despite growth in our Clinical Research business, showed revenue growth of 7.4% in 2004 due to improvements in all of the HLS
business lines. Exclusive of the estimated revenue contributions from the acquisition of Hall Kinion, we believe that Flex revenue in the Tech and FA
segments of the Kforce business would have grown compared to the prior year. HLS revenues were unaffected by the Hall Kinion acquisition.
While quarterly comparisons are not fully discussed herein, certain quarterly revenue trends are referred to in discussing the annual comparisons. This 2004
quarterly information is presented only for this purpose.
QUARTER ENDED
MARCH 31

(in $000’s, except Billing Days)

Billing Days
Flex Revenue
Tech
FA
HLS
Total Flex
Search Revenue
Tech
FA
HLS
Total Search

JUNE 30

SEPT 30

DEC 31

64

64

64

62

$ 57,601
28,515
35,742

$ 67,650
36,119
38,525

$ 86,364
50,440
40,595

$ 82,983
54,337
41,209

$121,858

$142,294

$177,399

$178,529

$

2,049
5,441
860

$

2,527
6,361
980

$

$

$

8,350

$

9,868

$ 11,463

$ 11,690

3,307
7,056
1,100

3,514
7,200
976

Total Revenue
Tech
FA
HLS

$ 59,650
33,956
36,602

$ 70,177
42,480
39,505

$ 89,671
57,496
41,695

$ 86,497
61,537
42,185

Total revenue

$130,208

$152,162

$188,862

$190,219

Flexible Billings. The primary drivers of Flex are the number of hours billed, bill rate per hour and, to a limited degree, the amount of expenses incurred by
Kforce that are billable to the client.
Changing market share and the acquisition of Hall Kinion, coupled with overall changes in opportunities as the result of an economic recovery are the main
factors in changes in the number of hours billed. Total hours billed increased 39.8% to 14.8 million hours in 2004 from 10.6 million hours in 2003, due to
increases in all segments. We believe the decrease of 2.9% in 2003 from 2002 was primarily a result of the decline in economic conditions over that period
offset by initial signs of economic improvements in Tech and stabilization in FA. Flex hours billed for the year, by segment, were as follows:
Increase
(Decrease)

2004

Tech
FA
HLS

5,185
6,214
3,435

39.3%
70.4%
6.0%

3,722
3,647
3,241

6.7%
(0.5)%
(14.1)%

3,488
3,667
3,770

14,834

39.8%

10,610

(2.9)%

10,925

Total hours billed

23

2003

Increase
(Decrease)

(in 000’s)

2002

Table of Contents

Billable expenses increased 9.4% in 2004 to $12.9 million from $11.8 million in 2003 and increased 6.2% in 2003 from $11.1 million in 2002. The increases
in 2004 and 2003 are attributable primarily to increases in FA and Tech segments’ project work. As the economic environment improves, clients’ requests for
consultants for longer assignments, which usually involve travel, typically increase. Changes in HLS billed expenses have corresponded with the overall
changes in Flex billings for the segment. Flex billable expenses included in revenue for the year by segment were:
2004

(in $000’s)

Increase
(Decrease)

2003

Tech
FA
HLS

$ 3,112
1,093
8,724

14.6%
16.4%
6.9%

$ 2,714
939
8,162

Total billable expenses

$12,929

9.4%

$11,815

Increase
(Decrease)

32.1%
369.1%
(8.0)%
6.2%

2002

$ 2,055
200
8,868
$11,123

Search Fees. The increase or decrease in Search fees is primarily attributable to the increase or decrease in the number of placements. Total placements
increased 34.8% to 3,567 in 2004 and decreased 17.4% to 2,646 placements in 2003 from 3,203 in 2002. An increase of 1.0% in 2004 and a decrease of 2.3%
in 2003 in the average placement fee also contributed to the results. We believe these results are primarily attributable to the improving economic conditions.
Search activity historically increases after economic conditions have shown sustained improvement and is strongest during the peak of an economic cycle,
although there can be no assurance that this historical trend will be followed in the current cycle. We believe that the acquisition of Hall Kinion has only had
a minimal impact on Search revenue for 2004.
Gross Profit. Gross profit on Flex billings is determined by deducting the direct cost of services (primarily flexible personnel payroll wages, payroll taxes,
payroll-related insurance, and subcontract costs) from net service revenues. Consistent with industry practices, gross profit dollars from search fees are equal
to revenues, because there are generally no direct costs associated with such revenues. Gross profit increased 32.4% to $203.9 million in 2004 and decreased
8.3% to $154.0 million in 2003 from $168.0 million in 2002. Gross profit as a percentage of net service revenues decreased to 30.8% in 2004 compared to
31.1% in 2003 and 32.7% in 2002.
The change in gross profit is attributable to changes in volume evidenced by changes in hours billed for Flex and for the number of placements for Search
combined with changes in the spread between bill rate and pay rate (“Flex Rate”) for Flex or the bill rate (“Rate”) for Search. The increase in gross profit for
Flex from 2003 to 2004 was $38.9 million, of which $46.2 million resulted from an increase in volume and $7.3 million resulted from a decrease in the Flex
Rate. The increase in Search gross profit from 2003 to 2004 was $11.0 million, comprised of a $10.5 million increase in volume and a $0.5 million increase in
Rate. Flex gross profit declined by $6.7 million from 2002 to 2003 as the result of a $3.7 million decrease in volume and $3.0 million as the result of decrease
in the Flex Rate. Search gross profit declined by $7.3 million from 2002 to 2003 as the result of a $6.4 million decrease in volume and a $900,000 decrease in
Rate.
Changes in total gross profit percentage for the year by segment are as follows:
2004

Increase
(Decrease)

2003

Increase
(Decrease)

2002

Tech
FA
HLS

27.6%
37.5%
28.8%

0.3%
(5.3)%
(1.8)%

27.5%
39.6%
29.3%

(4.9)%
(9.2)%
(1.6)%

29.0%
43.6%
29.8%

Total gross profit percentage

30.8%

(0.8)%

31.1%

(5.0)%

32.7%

Because Search revenue is accounted for as 100% gross profit, changes in the amount of search fees as a percent of total revenue can significantly impact the
total gross profit percentage. The decrease in gross profit percentages in 2004 and 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily the result of decreases in search
fees as a percent of total revenue.
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Flex gross profit percentage, year over year, has been negatively impacted by a shift in our client base to larger client contracts which provide a higher
volume of business but often have lower margins. Additionally, payroll taxes, particularly unemployment taxes, which are highest in the first quarter of the
year because employees have not yet earned sufficient wages to exceed the basis on which taxes are payable, have risen in recent years and may continue to
rise and negatively impact Flex gross profit. In some cases, gross profit percentages for Flex have been negatively impacted over the past year by customer
pressure to reduce bill rates and our inability to lower consultant pay rates in response to customer pressures. However, the spread between bill rates and pay
rates appears to have stabilized in the second and third quarters of 2004 for the Tech, FA and HLS segments. The reduction in gross profit percentage for the
FA segment is primarily the result of the inclusion of a larger mix of professional administrative positions contributed by the OnStaff group.
Below is a table detailing Flex gross profit percentage for the year by segment.
2004

Increase
(Decrease)

2003

Increase
(Decrease)

2002

Tech
FA
HLS

24.8%
27.9%
27.0%

(1.3)%
(1.9)%
(1.2)%

25.2%
28.4%
27.4%

(1.8)%
(7.2)%
(1.4)%

25.6%
30.6%
27.8%

Total Flex gross profit percentage

26.2%

(1.4)%

26.6%

(3.0)%

27.4%

Selling, General and Administrative (“SGA”) Expenses. SGA expenses were $185.5 million, $142.9 million, and $168.2 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, increasing by 29.8% during 2004 and decreasing 15.0% during 2003. SGA expenses as a percentage of net service revenues decreased to 28.0%
in 2004 and 28.8% in 2003 compared to 32.8% for 2002.
The increase in SGA expense in 2004, as compared to 2003 and 2002, is primarily attributable to compensation and facility costs relating to supporting the
acquired Hall Kinion operations and increases in compensation expense as discussed below. Also contributing to the increase in SGA were additional costs
related to non-recurring integration expenses, transaction-related charges and temporary duplicate expenses, as well as a charge to accelerate the expense of
lease costs to be incurred on a field office as discussed below. Even with such non-recurring items in 2004, SGA expenses as a percentage of net service
revenues continued to decrease in 2004.
Total commissions, compensation, payroll taxes, and benefits costs were $137.9 million, $101.0 million and $106.4 million representing 74.4%, 70.6% and
62.8% of total SGA for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Increases in commissions and other incentive compensation are due
to increases in gross profit and improved sales. Additional increases in compensation expense are due primarily to increases in headcount to support the
increased volume of business, the increasing costs of payroll taxes, particularly unemployment taxes which have risen in recent years and the acceleration of
the restricted stock expense in 2004 as discussed below. The guiding principles related to employee compensation include competitive compensation plans
that clearly pay for performance and align with Kforce’s objectives. Commissions and related payroll taxes and benefit costs are variable costs driven
primarily by revenue and gross profit levels achieved by associates.
In January 2002, Kforce issued 223,800 shares of restricted stock to certain members of senior management and other employees in exchange for voluntarily
reducing their 2002 salary and cash bonus potential. These shares vested over a five-year period with an acceleration clause if certain Kforce common stock
price thresholds were met. During 2003 and 2002, $221,000 and $212,000, respectively, were charged to compensation expense for the straight-line
amortization of vesting over the five-year period. On January 5, 2004, Kforce common stock closed at a price level that fully satisfied the acceleration clause
for the 2002 shares and all of such restricted stock thereby vested. Because Kforce had been amortizing the value of such restricted stock on a straight line
basis over the five-year period, and the stock price threshold had not been met on or prior to December 31, 2003, Kforce was required to record the
unamortized balance of $673,000 as compensation expense in the period when the stock price threshold was achieved, which was the first quarter of 2004.
On September 9, 2004, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Kforce accelerated the vesting period of stock options for all current
employees that would otherwise have been unvested on January 1, 2005. The vesting period of options to purchase a total of 855,662 shares of Kforce’s
common stock was accelerated. These options are held by fifteen employees, including options to purchase an aggregate of 748,162 shares of Kforce’s
common stock held by six Executive Officers. Because of this
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accelerated vesting, Kforce does not currently have any outstanding options that would otherwise remain unvested on July 1, 2005. Accordingly, fair value
accounting required by SFAS 123R, which will be adopted by Kforce on July 1, 2005, will not be applicable to any of Kforce’s currently outstanding
options.
Kforce recorded $104,000 of compensation expense in 2004 related to the option acceleration due to the departure of an executive officer. Kforce expects the
remaining affected employees to continue to provide services through their applicable original vesting dates; therefore, there is no additional current expense
as a result of the acceleration. If all affected employees were to terminate their employment prior to the applicable original vesting dates, the maximum future
expense would be approximately $940,000 after scheduled vesting dates in January 2005 have passed and would reduce to approximately $59,000 after
scheduled vesting dates in January 2006 have passed.
On November 30, 2004, Kforce accelerated the vesting of 191,930 shares of restricted common stock that were granted to seven members of senior
management in the first quarter of 2003. These shares were originally scheduled to vest in February 2005. Of this grant, 161,646 shares were granted to the
CEO and the next four highest compensated employees. Kforce recorded $27,000 of compensation expense related to this acceleration.
In addition to those activities undertaken to improve efficiencies, Kforce has attempted to manage its accounts receivable to minimize write-offs. Though
there can be no assurance that Kforce will be able to maintain low levels of write-offs in the future, Kforce’s ability to sustain minimum write-offs and
maintain days sales outstanding of accounts receivable at low levels has contributed to its continued low levels of SGA as a percentage of revenue. Bad debt
expense was $1.8 million and $1.4 million or 0.3% and 0.3% of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002, respectively. The year ended
December 31, 2003 had a net credit to expense of $0.4 million.
Kforce has substantially restructured both its field and back office operations over the past several years. We believe that these changes not only have had a
significant impact on reductions in SGA expenses in 2003 and 2002, but also have allowed us to maintain a relatively low level of SGA as a percentage of
revenue, as revenues increased in 2004. Some of the activities completed over the past three years as a result of restructuring include: (1) the roll-out of a
methodology in our field operations to ensure a consistent, disciplined process in our sales, recruiting and delivery activities; (2) the centralization at
headquarters of the primary processing activities such as billing, time entry, credit and collections; (3) the restructuring of compensation plans to more
closely align with performance; and (4) the restructuring and consolidation of our technology infrastructure, including a new data center host at significantly
more attractive terms. As a result of increased efficiencies achieved by these actions, we believe the back office and other support service costs will increase at
a lower rate than our revenues and profit in a growing environment. Additional systems initiatives are being undertaken in 2005 to further automate and
integrate processing and support activities, which are expected to make them more efficient to scale, while also enhancing exceptional customer service
capabilities. For example, we have acquired a new front-end (“CRM”) and time-entry systems that are expected to be implemented in 2005.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization were $5.2 million, $4.4 million and $9.6 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
representing an increase of 19.4% and a decrease of 54.6% during 2004 and 2003, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of net
service revenue decreased to 0.8% in 2004 from 0.9% for 2003 and 1.9% for 2002. Decreases or increases by category of expense, for the year, are as follows:
Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

2003
Expense

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

(in $000’s)

2004
Expense

2002
Expense

Fixed asset depreciation
Capital lease asset depreciation
Capital software amortization
Intangible assets amortization
Other amortization

$2,073
227
749
1,836
336

(21.5)%
—
(23.2)%
338.2
0.0%

$2,641
—
976
419
335

(47.4)%
—
(70.8)%
(27.6)%
(50.6)%

$5,025
—
3,347
579
678

Total depreciation and amortization

$5,221

19.4%

$4,371

(54.6)%

$9,629

The increase in expense in 2004 as compared to 2003 is primarily due to increases in amounts of intangible assets amortized as intangible assets increased
from the Hall Kinion acquisition in June of 2004 and also due to new capital leases for technology equipment. The decrease in expense in 2003 as compared
to 2002 is primarily due the decrease in the amount of owned assets and reductions in debt related amortization. Capitalized software
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amortization expense has also decreased due to write-offs of obsolete software in 2002. The purchases and implementation of the new CRM and time-entry
software mentioned above, will lead to increases in software amortization in future years. We believe the implementation of this software will enhance
efficiency and productivity.
Other Expense. Other expense was $1.7 million in 2004, $1.2 million in 2003 and $3.2 million in 2002. Other expense consists primarily of interest on
Kforce’s credit facility. The interest expense changes are primarily driven by changes in Kforce’s outstanding balance and changes in the one month LIBOR
rate which is used as the base rate in the credit facility. The average LIBOR rates in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 1.54%, 1.20% and 1.76%, respectively. Other
expense is partially offset by miscellaneous income of $0.6 million in 2003 consisting primarily of legal and financial settlements. Other expense for 2002
includes $1.0 million of loss on disposal of assets related to office consolidations.
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Accounting Change. The income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle of $11.5 million in 2004, $5.5 million in 2003 and $(13.1) million in 2002, is primarily the result of changes in net service revenues and gross
margin and reduced SGA and other expenses discussed above.
Income Taxes. The income tax benefit for 2004 was $13.5 million and the income tax provision for 2003 and 2002 was $0.4 million and $0.1 million,
respectively. The 2004 income tax benefit is primarily attributable to the reversal of valuation allowances of $19.2 million, initially recorded in 2002 against
all deferred tax assets, offset by current and deferred tax expense of $5.7 million. The 2003 income tax provision is due to the recording of state income tax
expense for which no corresponding state tax carryforwards were available. The 2002 tax provision was the net result of establishing of a valuation allowance
against the deferred tax benefit of 2002 federal and state net operating losses.
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle. Kforce adopted SFAS 142 as of January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 requires goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives to be tested for impairment on an annual basis. As a result of this impairment test, Kforce recorded an impairment of
approximately $33.8 million, consisting of $11.1 million and $22.7 million for the Human Resources and IT units, respectively, which is classified as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for the year ended December 31, 2002. Conditions contributing to the goodwill impairment were
negative industry and economic trends which lowered profits and cash flows over the 18 months preceding the recognition of the impairments.
Net Income/Loss. Net income was $25.0 million in 2004 compared to $5.1 million in 2003 and a net loss of $47.0 million in 2002, resulting from the net
effects of those items discussed above.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Historically, we have financed our operations through cash generated by operating activities and funds available from our revolving credit facilities. As
highlighted in the Statements of Cash Flows, Kforce’s liquidity and available capital resources are impacted by four key components: existing cash and
equivalents, operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.
Cash and Equivalents
Cash and equivalents totaled $0.4 million at the end of 2004, a decrease of $13.3 million from the $13.7 million at year-end 2003 and $0.7 million less than
the $1.1 million at year-end 2002. As further described below, during 2004, Kforce generated $6.4 million of cash from operating activities, used $31.6
million of cash in investing activities and generated $11.9 million from financing activities.
Operating Activities
During 2004, cash flow provided by operations was approximately $6.4 million, resulting primarily from net income and non-cash adjustments for
depreciation and amortization offset by non-cash adjustment for deferred income tax and the funding of the increase in accounts receivable.
Kforce’s gross accounts receivable were $97.0 million at the end of 2004, which was a $29.1 million increase from $67.9 million at the end of 2003. If Kforce
continues to experience growth in revenue in 2005, we expect to need to fund increases in accounts receivable. Currently, capacity exists for this purpose
under the Credit Facility as described below.
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At December 31, 2004, Kforce had $24.4 million in positive working capital in addition to its $0.4 million of cash and equivalents. Kforce’s calculation of
working capital for the year ended 2004 is reduced by Kforce’s Credit Facility of $34.1 million due to its expiration in 2005. Working capital for 2004,
excluding the Credit Facility, is $58.9 million. Its current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.3 at the end of 2004 as compared to 2.1 at
the end of 2003. The decrease in the current ratio is due to the inclusion of Kforce’s Credit Facility in current liabilities. The current ratio at the end of 2004,
excluding the Credit Facility, is 2.1. Kforce is currently reviewing alternatives with regard to renewing or refinancing the Credit Facility.
Investing Activities
During 2004, cash flow used in investing activities was approximately $31.6 million, resulting primarily from $28.0 million for the acquisition of Hall
Kinion and $3.6 million in capital expenditures, consisting primarily of computer software. Kforce expects capital expenditures to increase in 2005, primarily
as the result of plans to purchase and implement new customer relationship management, time-entry, request for proposal and possibly other software.
Anticipated capital expenditures in 2005 are currently expected to be in the $5.5 million to $7.5 million range and Kforce believes it has sufficient cash and
borrowing capacity to fund these and such other capital expenditures necessary to operate the business.
Financing Activities
For the year 2004, cash flow provided by financing activities was approximately $11.9 million, resulting primarily from increases in credit facility
borrowings of $12.1 million to pay for transaction costs related to the Hall Kinion acquisition and the exercise of stock options of $4.5 million offset by the
purchase of the treasury shares of $4.3 million and the payment of other financing of $0.4 million.
Kforce periodically issues restricted stock as part of compensation plans for certain members of corporate and field management. Details regarding these
issuances can be found in Note 10 to the Financial Statements.
Credit Facility
Long-term debt outstanding under the $100 million Amended and Restated Credit Facility with a syndicate of four banks (“the Credit Facility”) was $34.1
and $22.0 million at the end of 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The Credit Facility, which was originally amended on December 6, 2002 and terminates November 3, 2005, provides for maximum revolving credit of $100
million (not to exceed 85% of our “Eligible Receivables” as such term is defined in the Credit Facility). Kforce has begun exploring alternatives for replacing
or extending the current Credit Facility in preparation for the November 3, 2005 expiration. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by all of the
assets of Kforce and its subsidiaries. Kforce entered into a Sixth Amendment to the Credit Facility dated as of August 26, 2004 (the “Amendment”) primarily
to lower the applicable interest rates, effective August 1, 2004, by approximately 0.50%, to rates ranging from Prime minus 0.25% to Prime plus 0.25% or
LIBOR plus 1.50% to LIBOR plus 2.50%, pursuant to financial performance criteria for the previous four quarters as set forth in the Credit Facility. Pricing
was fixed at Prime or LIBOR plus 1.75% until March 31, 2005. Prior to the Amendment amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility bore interest at rates
ranging from Prime to Prime plus 0.75% or LIBOR plus 1.75% to LIBOR plus 3.25%, pursuant to certain financial performance targets as set forth in the
original amended Credit Facility. Pricing was fixed for one year at LIBOR plus 2.25%, until December 6, 2003, after which pricing changes quarterly based
on the previous four quarters’ performance. The terms of the Credit Facility also include certain financial covenants to which Kforce is subject, including a
requirement to maintain at least $10 million of borrowing availability. In addition, should the amount available to be borrowed be less than $15 million but
greater than $10 million, Kforce must attain certain EBITDA targets as follows:
Period Ending

EBITDA

The four (4) fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2004
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2005
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2005
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2005

$ 15.5 million
$ 16.0 million
$ 17.0 million
$ 18.0 million

EBITDA for the four quarters ending December 31, 2004, as calculated pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility, was $20.0 million
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Our borrowings as of March 14, 2005 and December 31, 2004 do not exceed the specified amounts at which these financial covenants apply and at no time
during the history of the Credit Facility have we triggered such covenants. In addition to the $34.1 million and $37.0 million outstanding, the amounts
available under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2004, and March 14, 2005 were $26.4 million and $31.2 million, respectively. The amounts available
without triggering the debt covenants as of December 31, 2004 and March 14, 2005 were approximately $21.4 million and $26.2 million, respectively.
The Credit Facility contains a provision that limits the amount of capital expenditures that Kforce may make in any fiscal year to $6 million. This provision
was waived up to $7.0 million as of December 31, 2004. Capital expenditures during the fiscal year 2004 totaled $6.8 million as calculated under the Credit
Facility. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, we are prohibited from making any dividend distributions.
Our board of directors has authorized the repurchase of up to $115 million of our common stock on the open market, from time to time, depending on market
conditions. The Credit Facility contains a provision that allows Kforce to repurchase $25 million of common stock per year. As of December 31, 2004, we
had repurchased approximately 19.6 million shares for $108.9 million; therefore, approximately $6.1 million and $6.1 million was available under the
current board authorization and $20.7 million and $25.0 million was available under the current Credit Facility limitations, as of December 31, 2004 and
March 9, 2005, respectively. Additional stock repurchases could have a material impact on the cash flow requirements for the next twelve months.

Period

Total
number of
shares
purchased

Average
price paid
per share

January 2004
February 2004
March 2004
April 2004
May 2004
June 2004
July 2004
August 2004
September 2004
October 2004
November 2004
December 2004

34,510
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
351,011

$ 10.40
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
11.26

Total

385,521

Total number of
shares purchased
as part of
publicly
announced plans

Amount
available
under bank
plan

Amount
available
under board
plan

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
24,640,944
20,689,719

$10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
10,006,478
6,055,253

$ 10.40

—

$20,689,719

$ 6,055,253

January 2003
February 2003
March 2003
April 2003
May 2003
June 2003
July 2003
August 2003
September 2003
October 2003
November 2003
December 2003

—
49,207
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
2.97
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$25,000,000
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854
24,853,854

$10,511,680
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534
10,365,534

Total

49,207

$

2.97

—

$24,853,854

$10,365,534

In March, April and May of 2003, we entered into four fixed interest rate swap contracts for a total notional amount of $22 million, expiring in March and
May of 2005. The contracts, which have been classified as cash flow hedges pursuant to SFAS 133 effectively convert $22 million of our outstanding debt
under the Credit Facility to a fixed rate of approximately 5%, thus reducing the impact of interest rate increases on future income.
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
Summarized below are Kforce’s obligations and commitments to make future payments under lease agreements and debt obligations as of December 31,
2004:
Total

Less than
1 year

1-3 Years

3-5 Years

More than
5 years

Operating leases
Capital leases
Credit facility
Deferred compensation plan liability
Other debt

$42,165
2,288
34,100
9,244
730

$10,872
852
34,100
966
315

$11,392
1,436
—
812
415

$ 5,521
—
—
235
—

$14,379
—
—
7,231
—

Total

$88,527

$47,105

$14,055

$ 5,756

$21,610

(in $000’s)
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Kforce has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan pursuant to which eligible highly compensated key employees may elect to defer part of their
compensation to later years. These amounts, which are classified as other long-term liabilities, are payable upon retirement or termination of employment.
Amounts payable upon the retirement or termination of employment may become payable during the next five years if covered employees retire or terminate
during that time.
The amount outstanding on our Credit Facility bears interest at a fixed rate of approximately 5.0% on $22 million of the debt as a result of the hedges
described above. The remaining $12.1 million balance bears interest at a floating rate. At this level of $34.1 million of debt and this effective rate of 5.0% on
the entire balance, for a period of one year, interest expense would be approximately $1.7 million.
Kforce provides letters of credit to certain vendors in lieu of cash deposits. Kforce currently has letters of credit totaling $5,745 outstanding for facility lease
deposits, workers compensation and property insurance obligations.
Kforce has no material, unrecorded commitments, losses, contingencies or guarantees associated with any related parties or unconsolidated entities.
We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations, and borrowings under the Credit Facility will be adequate to meet the capital
expenditure and the working capital requirements of current operations for at least the next twelve months. However, deterioration in the business
environment and market conditions could negatively impact operating results and liquidity. There is no assurance that, (i) if operations were to deteriorate
and additional financing were to become necessary, we will be able to obtain financing in amounts sufficient to meet operating requirements or at terms
which are satisfactory and which allow us to remain competitive, or (ii) we will be able to meet the financial covenants contained in the Credit Facility in
order to obtain the additional $5 million of capacity. Our expectation that existing resources will fund capital expenditure and working capital requirements
is a forward-looking statement that is subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ from those indicated as a result of a number of factors,
including the use of currently available resources for possible acquisitions and possible additional stock repurchases.
Acquisitions and Divestitures
Kforce made acquisitions and divestitures in 2004 and 2002 which are discussed in Note 6 to the Financial Statements. In addition, we have purchased the
assets of VistaRMS, Inc. as of February 1, 2005, as discussed below.
Although we expect increases in net service revenues as a result of each acquisition and expect such acquisitions to be accretive, we are unable to predict that
there will be any pattern related to costs as a percentage of net service revenues.
Hall, Kinion and Associates Inc.
On June 7, 2004, Kforce acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Hall, Kinion and Associates Inc. (“Hall Kinion”) and its subsidiaries in
exchange for approximately 5.7 million shares of Kforce stock. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. Hall Kinion’s first quarter
2004 and full year 2003 revenues were $30.4 million and $156.9 million, respectively. The results of Hall Kinion’s operations since the date of acquisition
have been included in Kforce’s consolidated financial statements. Hall Kinion specialized in providing technology and finance and accounting related talent
on a temporary and permanent basis to its customers primarily in the United States. The results of the technology and finance and accounting businesses
(previously provided by Hall Kinion’s “OnStaff” group) are included in Kforce’s Technology and Finance and Accounting business segments, respectively.
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As a result of this acquisition, Kforce expanded its market presence by adding 18 offices, not including 25 offices that have been consolidated with existing
Kforce offices. The acquisition also expanded Kforce’s service offerings in technology and finance and accounting in certain market segments. We believe
the integration of the operations of Hall Kinion into Kforce is substantially complete and has had a positive effect on revenues, net income and earnings per
share beginning in the third quarter of 2004. We have not compiled separate results for the former Hall Kinion operations because these operations have been
integrated into Kforce and it is not feasible to track their results.
Details of the terms of the acquisition are included in a Registration Statement on Form S-4 that we filed on December 24, 2003, and amended on February 9,
2004, April 13, 2004, May 3, 2004 and May 5, 2004.
VistaRMS, Inc.
On February 1, 2005, the Firm completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of VistaRMS, Inc. (“Vista”), a privately held company based in
Herndon, Virginia. Vista is engaged in the business of providing integrated business and information technology staffing and solutions to the commercial
and government sectors. We believe the integration of the operations of Vista into Kforce will be substantially complete as of the end of the first quarter of
2005.
Pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 3, 2004, between Kforce, Vista, and the shareholders of Vista, Kforce purchased substantially
all of the assets of Vista and assumed and became responsible for certain of Vista’s liabilities at the closing of the transaction on February 1, 2005. As
consideration for the assets being acquired, Kforce issued upon the closing of the transactions 2,348,337 shares of Kforce common stock (the “Common
Stock”). The number of shares of Common Stock issued in connection with the Agreement was based on a price per share of Common Stock of $10.22, which
represented the average per share closing price of the Common Stock during the period of October 20, 2004 through November 2, 2004.
On the date of closing, Kforce placed into escrow 450,000 shares of the Common Stock for the purpose of securing Vista’s indemnification obligations under
the Agreement and placed an additional 782,779 shares of the Common Stock into escrow to satisfy potential adjustments to the purchase price that will be
determined following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement. The purchase price will be reduced (i) to the extent the net
assets of Vista as of June 30, 2004 exceed the net assets of Vista as of the date of the closing of the transaction contemplated by the Agreement, (ii) in the
event that revenue generated by Vista pursuant to contracts and relationships with its customers is not able to be assigned or transferred to Kforce, (iii) in the
event that certain of Vista’s accounts receivable that are being transferred to Kforce under the Agreement remain uncollected 90 days following the closing of
the transaction contemplated by the Agreement, and (iv) by the amount of any tax liability incurred by Kforce resulting from Vista’s use of the cash receipts
and disbursements method of accounting for computing taxable income.
Income Tax Audits
We were audited by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service in 2002 for our tax years ending December 31, 1999 and 1998. The audit was concluded with no
adverse findings or assessments by the Internal Revenue Service.
We are also periodically subject to state and other local income tax audits for various tax years. During 2004, income tax audits for the states of New York
and Massachusetts were concluded with no material adverse assessments. At December 31, 2004, ongoing audits for which no final determination has been
made were being conducted by the states of North Carolina and New Jersey. As of March 9, 2005, we do not believe the resolution of any of these audits will
have a material adverse impact on our operations or financial condition.
Registration Statement on Form S-3
On May 24, 2002, Kforce filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 that allows the issuance of up to $250 million of common stock and other equity and
financial instruments for the financing of various corporate activities to potentially include funding for acquisitions and other business expansion
opportunities, as well as compensation arrangements. Such filings are referred to as “Shelf Registrations”. No issuance of securities has been made under this
registration statement as of December 31, 2004. The Shelf Registration was not used for the shares issued in connection with the Hall Kinion or Vista
acquisitions because Shelf Registrations on Form S-3 are not available for the registration of securities issued in business combination transactions. There is
no assurance that the existence of the Shelf Registration will assist Kforce in registering its securities in connection with future efforts to raise capital or for
other purposes.
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ITEM 7a. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Kforce is exposed to a variety of risks, including changes in interest rates on borrowings. As of December 31, 2004, the notional value of outstanding interest
rate swap agreements effectively converted $22.0 million of our $34.1 million of outstanding debt at a fixed rate, leaving Kforce exposed to changes in
interest rates on the unhedged $12.1 million of debt. Kforce does not engage in trading market risk sensitive instruments for speculative purposes. Kforce
believes that effects on it of changes in interest rates are limited and a 1% change in rates would have an annual effect of approximately $121,000 on our
interest expense.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and the report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent auditors, are set forth on the pages
indicated in Item 15 and are incorporated into this item by reference.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None
ITEM 9a. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act (the “Evaluation”), under the supervision and with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act (“Disclosure Controls”). Based on the Evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, our
Disclosure Controls are effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in our periodic SEC reports.
Changes in Internal Controls
There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the Evaluation that occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, those controls.
Inherant Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
CEO and CFO Certifications
Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications of the CEO and the CFO, respectively. The Certifications are required in accordance with Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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(the “Section 302 Certifications”). This Item of this report, which you are currently reading, is the information concerning the Evaluation referred to in the
Section 302 Certifications and this information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302 Certifications for a more complete understanding of the
topics presented.
Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of Kforce is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Kforce’s internal control system
was designed to provide reasonable assurance to Kforce’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published
financial statements.
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide
only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
On March 15, 2005, Kforce management assessed the effectiveness of Kforce’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making
this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment we believe that, as of December 31, 2004, Kforce’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based
on those criteria.
Kforce’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an audit report on our assessment of Kforce’s internal control
over financial reporting. This report appears below.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Kforce Inc. Tampa, Florida
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting that Kforce
Inc. and subsidiaries (“Kforce”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Kforce’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of Kforce’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Kforce maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated,
in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, Kforce maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004 of Kforce and our report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
March 16, 2005
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
On March 16, 2005, Kforce Inc. entered into amended employment agreements with William L. Sanders and Joseph J. Liberatore (the “Executives”). Pursuant
to the agreements, Mr. Sanders will serve as President and be entitled to an annual base salary of $490,000 and Mr. Liberatore will serve as Chief Financial
Officer and be entitled to an annual base salary of $350,000. Each agreement extends for a rolling period of two years and 364 days, unless the agreement is
earlier terminated by the relevant Executive with or without good reason, by Kforce with or without cause, or the Executive’s employment is terminated by
reason of voluntary retirement, death or disability.
Each agreement also provides that in the event that Kforce terminates the Executive’s employment without cause, or if the Executive terminates his
employment with Kforce for good reason, Kforce will be obligated to pay, as severance, an amount equal to two times the sum of the annual base salary on
the date of termination (a defined term) plus the average of the individual’s last three years’ bonuses. The agreements further provide that if a change in
control occurs and the Executive’s employment is terminated at any time prior to the first anniversary of the change in control date other than for cause or by
the Executive for good reason, then the Executive shall be entitled to receive, as severance, an amount in cash equal to 2.99 times his annual base salary on
the date of termination plus the average of his last three years bonuses.
On March 16, 2005, Kforce also entered into an employment agreement with Michael Ettore pursuant to which he will serve as Chief Services Officer and be
entitled to a base salary of $250,000. The term of the agreement is for a rolling period of two years, unless the agreement is earlier terminated by Mr. Ettore
with or without good reason, by Kforce with or without cause, or by reason of Mr. Ettore’s death or disability. The agreement with Mr. Ettore provides that in
the event that Kforce terminates his employment without cause, or he terminates his employment with Kforce for good reason, Kforce will be obligated to
pay, as severance, an amount equal to two times the sum of the annual base salary on the date of termination (a defined term) plus the average of his last two
years’ bonuses. The agreement further provides that if a change in control occurs and Mr. Ettore’s employment is terminated at any time prior to the first
anniversary of the change in control date, other than for cause or by Mr. Ettore for good reason, then he shall be entitled to receive, as severance, an amount
in cash equal to two times his annual base salary on the date of termination.
A copy of the agreements are attached as Exhibits 10.2 , 10.3 and 10.5.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF KFORCE
The information required by Item 10 relating to our executive officers and directors is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by Item 11 relating to executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by Item 12 relating to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholders matters is
incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Information regarding equity compensation plans required by this item is included in Item 5 of Part II of this report and is incorporated into this item by
reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The information required by Item 13 relating to certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Item 14 relating to executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 10-K
(a)

The following documents are filed as part of this Report:
1. Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements, and related notes thereto, of Kforce with the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon are included in Part IV of this report on the pages indicated by the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements
and Schedule as presented on page 36 of this report.
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2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule. The consolidated financial statement schedule of Kforce is included in Part IV of this report on
the page indicated by the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule as presented on page 36 of this report. The independent
auditors’ report as presented on pages 37 of this report apply to the consolidated financial statement schedule. This financial statement schedule
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, and related notes thereto of Kforce.
Schedules not listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule have been omitted because they are not applicable, not
required, or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits. See Item 15(c) below.
(c)

Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibits Index are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this report.

(d)

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 15(a) above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Kforce Inc.
Tampa, Florida
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kforce Inc. and subsidiaries (“Kforce”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of Kforce’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kforce Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002, Kforce changed its method of accounting for goodwill to conform to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Kforce’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Kforce’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Kforce’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
March 16, 2005
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
DECEMBER 31,
2004

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and fallouts of $6,268 and $5,624, respectively
Income tax refund receivable
Current deferred tax asset, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Non-current deferred tax asset, net
Other assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs
Bank overdrafts
Current debt - credit facility
Other current debt
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt - credit facility
Long-term debt - other
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$

2003

363
90,682
606
17,180
5,162

$ 13,715
62,274
—
—
3,055

113,993
8,579
19,016
13,416
9,838
108,353

79,044
7,422
—
11,250
803
61,798

$ 273,195

$160,317

$ 22,097
30,321
1,349
34,100
993
303

$ 14,348
20,523
3,389
—
—
—

89,163
—
1,727
11,536

38,260
22,000
—
8,652

102,426

68,912

—
559
257,315
(2,759)
37
17,373
(101,756)

—
489
197,660
(863)
(151)
(7,638)
(98,092)

170,769

91,405

$ 273,195

$160,317

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par; 15,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par; 250,000 shares authorized, 55,891 and 48,903 issued, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Unamortized stock based compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Less reacquired shares at cost; 18,614 and 18,350 shares, respectively
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

2003

2002

$661,451
457,567

$495,585
341,617

$513,547
345,585

203,884
185,488
5,221

153,968
142,915
4,371

167,962
168,233
9,629

Income (loss) from operations
Other expense (income):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net

13,175

6,682

(9,900)

(84)
1,703
(405)

(137)
2,200
1,143

Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

11,474
13,537

5,468
(350)

(13,106)
(102)

Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

25,011
—

5,118
—

(13,208)
(33,823)

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation
Cash flow hedges, net of taxes

25,011

5,118

(47,031)

—
188

—
154

Net service revenues
Direct costs of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization

(98)
1,827
(28)

223
68

Comprehensive income (loss)

$ 25,199

$

5,272

Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - Basic

$

0.73

$

0.17

$

(0.42)

Earnings (loss) per share - Basic

$

0.73

$

0.17

$

(1.49)

Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic

34,125

$ (46,740)

30,514

31,577

Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle - Diluted

$

0.69

$

0.16

$

(0.42)

Earnings (loss) per share - Diluted

$

0.69

$

0.16

$

(1.49)

Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted

36,091

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS)
Years Ended December 31,

Common stock – shares:
Shares at beginning of period
Exercise of stock options
Stock issued for business acquired
Issuance of restricted stock
Shares at end of period
Common stock – par value:
Balance at beginning of period
Exercise of stock options
Stock issued for business acquired
Issuance of restricted stock
Balance at end of period
Additional paid-in capital:
Balance at beginning of period
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit from disqualifying dispositions of stock options
Deferred compensation plan transactions
Employee stock purchase plan
Stock issued for business acquired
Issuance of restricted stock
Balance at end of period
Deferred compensation stock obligation:
Balance at beginning of period
Change in obligation
Balance at end of period
Unamortized stock based compensation:
Balance at beginning of period
Issuance of restricted stock, net
Amortization of stock based compensation
Balance at end of period
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Balance at beginning of period
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of taxes
Amortization of hedged interest
Balance at end of period
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit):
Balance at beginning of period
Net income (loss)
Balance at end of period
Treasury stock - shares:
Shares at beginning of period
Deferred compensation plan transactions
Employee stock purchase plan
Repurchase of common stock
Shares at end of period

2004

2003

2002

48,903
849
5,742
397

48,544
193
—
166

48,264
77
202
1

55,891

48,903

48,544

$

489
9
57
4

$

485
2
—
2

$

483
—
2
—

$

559

$

489

$

485

$ 197,660
4,506
611
—
68
51,331
3,139

$196,510
872
—
228
(297)
—
347

$195,177
262
34
(28)
(39)
(2)
1,106

$ 257,315

$197,660

$196,510

$

—
—

$

(742)
742

$ (1,765)
1,023

$

—

$

—

$

(742)

$

(863)
(3,143)
1,247

$

(894)
(349)
380

$

—
(1,106)
212

$

(2,759)

$

(863)

$

(894)

$

(151)
—
188
—

$

(305)
—
(151)
305

$

(596)
223
40
28

$

37

$

(151)

$

(305)

$

(7,638)
25,011

$ (12,756)
5,118

$ 34,275
(47,031)

$ (7,638)

$ (12,756)

18,350
—
(121)
385

18,286
177
(162)
49

16,524
105
(162)
1,819

18,614

18,350

18,286

$ 17,373

Treasury stock - cost:
Balance at beginning of period
Deferred compensation plan transactions
Employee stock purchase plan
Repurchase of common stock

$ (98,092)
—
646
(4,310)

$ (97,452)
(1,357)
863
(146)

$ (90,530)
(575)
888
(7,235)

Balance at end of period

$(101,756)

$ (98,092)

$ (97,452)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for (Recovery of) bad debts and fallouts on accounts and notes receivable
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision, net
Amortization of stock based compensation
Gain on cash surrender value of company-owned life insurance policies
Deferred compensation expenses
Amortization of hedged interest
Loss on asset sales/disposals
Loss on recognition of currency translation
Loss on asset impairment
Loss on impairment of goodwill
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Trade and notes receivables, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income tax refund receivable
Other assets, net
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll costs
Bank overdrafts
Income taxes payable
Other liabilities

2004

2003

2002

$ 25,011

$ 5,118

$(47,031)

Cash provided by operating activities

5,221
1,846
(12,789)
1,247
(469)
404
—
224
—
498
—

4,371
(394)
—
380
(1,469)
1,226
305
74
—
—
—

9,629
1,430
363
212
(424)
369
46
1,078
223
1,608
33,823

(13,090)
(458)
(338)
(1,058)

1,212
783
551
(560)

6,611
1,118
9,899
1,073

(807)
4,745
(2,040)
203
(1,970)

(2,056)
2,209
867
—
364

555
(1,069)
(4,451)
292
(510)

12,981

14,844

6,380

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of Hall Kinion, net of cash received
Payments on notes receivable from related parties
Cash proceeds from sale of assets
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments on) bank line of credit, net
Payment of capital expenditure financing
Payment of hedge interest
Loan origination fees
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Repurchases of common stock
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(3,646)
(28,012)
—
42

(1,255)
—
—
208

(596)
—
666
—

(31,616)

(1,047)

70

12,100
(421)
—
—
4,515
(4,310)

—
—
—
—
874
(146)

(6,185)
—
(554)
(404)
262
(7,235)

11,884

728

(14,116)

(13,352)
13,715

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIAIRIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ORGANIZATION
Kforce Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Firm”) is a provider of professional staffing services in 81 locations in 45 markets in the United States. Kforce provides its
customers staffing services in the following specialties: Technology, Finance and Accounting, and Health and Life Sciences. Kforce provides flexible staffing
services on both a temporary and contract basis and provides search services on both a contingency and retained basis. Kforce serves clients from the Fortune
1000, as well as local and regional, small to mid-size companies.
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kforce Inc. and its subsidiaries. References in this document to “Kforce,” “the Company,”
“Kforce,” “we,” “our” or “us” refer to Kforce or its subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise requires. All material intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
RECLASSIFICATION
Certain amounts reported for prior periods have been reclassified to be consistent with the current period presentation.
USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Kforce classifies all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents.
ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS AND FALLOUTS
Kforce has established a reserve for expected credit losses and fallouts on trade receivables based on past experience and expectations of potential future
write offs. Kforce performs ongoing analyses of factors including recent write off and delinquency trends, changes in economic conditions, and concentration
of accounts receivables among clients in establishing this reserve. The allowance as a percentage of gross accounts receivable was 6.5% as of December 31,
2004 and 8.3% as of December 31, 2003. No single client has a receivable balance greater than 2.9% of the total accounts receivable and the top ten clients
represent approximately 16.8 % of the total accounts receivable balance.
FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The cost of leasehold improvements is amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the terms
of the related leases, which range from three to fifteen years.
INCOME TAXES
Kforce accounts for income taxes under the principles of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. SFAS
109 requires the asset and liability approach to the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. SFAS 109 requires that unless it is “more likely than
not” that a deferred tax asset can be utilized to offset future taxes, a valuation allowance must be recorded against that asset. The tax benefits of deductions
attributable to the employees’ disqualifying dispositions of shares obtained from incentive stock options are reflected as increases in additional paid-in
capital.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Kforce, using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies, has determined the estimated fair value of financial instruments.
However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting data to develop the estimates of fair value. The fair values of Kforce’s financial instruments are
estimated based on current market rates and instruments with the same risk and maturities. The fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying value
due to the variable interest rate applicable to the debt.
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
In accordance with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, Kforce does not amortize goodwill but performs an annual review to ensure that no
impairment of goodwill exists. In some of Kforce’s acquisitions, a portion of the purchase price has been allocated to non-compete agreements and customer
lists. These assets have been capitalized and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Kforce also has allocated
a portion of the purchase price of Hall Kinion to the OnStaff trade name. This asset has been determined to have an indefinite life and is not being amortized.
As a result of the impairment test performed in 2002 as required by SFAS 142, Kforce recorded an impairment charge of $33,800, consisting of $11,100 and
$22,700 for the Human Resources and Information Technology units, respectively. The impairment charge is classified as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle for the year ended December 31, 2002.
IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, which became effective for Kforce as of January 1, 2002,
Kforce periodically reviews the carrying value of long-lived assets to determine if impairment has occurred. Impairment losses, if any, are recorded in the
period identified. Significant judgment is required to determine whether or not impairment has occurred. The determination is made by evaluating expected
future undiscounted cash flows or the anticipated recoverability of costs incurred and, if necessary, determining the amount of the loss, if any, by evaluating
the fair value of the assets.
CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE
Kforce purchases, and in certain cases develops, and implements new computer software to enhance the performance of its accounting and operating systems.
Kforce accounts for direct internal and external costs subsequent to the preliminary stage of the projects under the principles of SOP 98-1, “Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Software development costs are being capitalized and classified as other assets and
amortized over the estimated useful life of the software using the straight-line method. Direct internal costs, such as payroll and payroll-related costs, and
external costs during the development stage of each project are capitalized and classified as capitalized software. Kforce capitalized development stage
implementation costs of $976 during the year ended 2004. Kforce did not incur or capitalize any internally developed software costs during 2003 or 2002.
DEFERRED LOAN COSTS
Costs incurred to secure Kforce’s Credit Facility were capitalized and are being amortized over the terms of the related agreements using the straight-line
method, which approximates the interest method.
COMMISSIONS
Associates make placements and earn commissions as a percentage of actual revenue or gross profit pursuant to a calendar year basis commission plan. The
amount of commissions paid as a percentage of revenue or gross profit increases as volume increases. Kforce accrues commissions for actual revenue or gross
profit at a percentage equal to the percent of total expected commissions payable to total revenue and gross profit for the year.
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STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure”, was issued in December 2002. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change from the intrinsic-value-based method of
recognizing stock compensation under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, to the SFAS 123 fairvalue-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Under the fair value method, the fair value of stock options granted to employees
is recognized as compensation over the service period (usually the vesting period). Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is recognized for
options that are in-the-money, thereby having intrinsic value, at the date of grant. SFAS 148 also amends SFAS 123 to require more prominent disclosure in
interim and annual financial statements of the effect of all stock-based compensation. Kforce continues to apply the intrinsic-value method under APB
Opinion 25 in accounting for its plans and discloses the effect on net income and earnings per share as if Kforce had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 148 to stock-based employee and non-employee compensation. As of December 31, 2004, Kforce had two stock-based employee
compensation plans, an employee incentive stock option plan and a non-employee director stock option plan. Kforce applies the recognition and
measurement principles of APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for those plans. No stock-based employee compensation expense is
reflected in net income as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date
of the grants.
The table below illustrates the effects on Kforce’s net income and earnings per share had compensation cost for Kforce’s option plans been determined based
on the fair value at the grant dates, as prescribed by SFAS 148.
Included in the pro forma amounts below for 2004 is an expense related to options to purchase 856 shares of common stock for which vesting was accelerated
in September 2004. As a result of recognizing this expense during the period in which they were accelerated, no future expense related to these options will
be incurred. These options were originally scheduled to vest during 2005 and 2006.
In addition, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation”, the modification to
accelerate the vesting of a fixed award effectively results in the renewal for that award if, after the modification, an employee is able to exercise the award
that, under the original terms, would have expired unexercisable. Accordingly, in the event that an employee terminates prior to the time that the stock
options would have vested under the original terms, Kforce would incur additional compensation expense based upon the intrinsic value at the time of the
acceleration of vesting, reduced by any amounts previously expensed as a result of the acceleration.
If all affected employees were to terminate their employment prior to the applicable original vesting dates, the maximum future expense would be
approximately $3,253, with such amount reduced to approximately $940 after scheduled vesting dates in January 2005 have passed and to approximately
$59 after scheduled vesting dates in January 2006 have passed.
Pro Forma
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Net income (loss):
As reported
Compensation expense per SFAS 123
Tax benefit, pro forma
Pro forma net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic:
As reported
Pro forma
Diluted:
As reported
Pro forma
(a)

2004

2003

2002

$25,011
(4,471)
1,762

$ 5,118
(3,467)
—

$(47,031)
(6,538)
—

$22,302

$ 1,651

$(53,569)

$
$

0.73
0.65

$ 0.17
$ 0.05

$
$

(1.49)
(1.70)

$
$

0.69
0.62

$ 0.16
$ 0.05

$
$

(1.49)
(1.70)

The pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense for the options to purchase 856 shares of common stock that were accelerated in
September 2004 was $685. Excluding this amount from the pro forma results above would have resulted in expense, net of tax, of $2,294 for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and pro forma net income per share – basic of $.67 and pro forma net income per share – diluted of $.63 for the
year ended December 31, 2004.
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(b)

Included in the calculation of net income is expense related to the amortization of Kforce’s restricted stock plan. Restricted stock amortization is
treated the same under FAS 123 and APB 25 and therefore has no impact on the pro forma net income.

Kforce has not included any tax benefit associated with the compensation expense per SFAS 123 for 2003 or 2002 because any tax benefit would be
eliminated through the recording of a valuation allowance for those years. For 2004, the relative tax benefit associated with the compensation expense per
SFAS 123 has been included above. For purposes of determining the compensation expense per SFAS 123, the fair value of each option is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions used for grants during the applicable periods: dividend yield of
0.0%, risk-free interest rates of 3.9% for options granted, a weighted average expected option term of 4.7 years, and a volatility factor of 50%.
SELF-INSURANCE
Kforce offers employee benefit programs, including workers compensation and health insurance, to eligible employees, for which Kforce is self-insured for a
portion of the cost. Kforce retains liability up to $250 for each workers compensation accident and up to $150 annually for each health insurance participant.
Self-insurance costs are accrued using estimates to approximate the liability for reported claims and claims incurred but not reported.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Net service revenues consist of search fees and flexible billings inclusive of billable expenses, net of credits, discounts and fallouts. Kforce recognizes
flexible billings based on hours worked by assigned personnel. Search fees are recognized upon placement, net of an allowance for “fallouts”. Fallouts are
search placements that do not complete the contingency period. Contingency periods are typically ninety days or less.
Revenues received as reimbursements of billable expenses are reported gross within revenue in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force, Issue 01-14,
“Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred”.
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of foreign currency translation adjustments, which arose primarily from activities of Kforce’s former
Canadian operations (Note 6), and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of certain derivative instruments that qualify for hedge
accounting under SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS
Results of foreign operations are translated using the weighted average exchange rates during the period, while assets and liabilities are translated into U.S.
dollars using current or historical rates at the end of the period depending upon the related assets. Resulting foreign currency translation adjustments are
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).
ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES
Effective for Kforce as of January 1, 2001, SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended, establishes accounting
and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as
derivatives), and for hedging activities. It also requires that all derivatives and hedging activities
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be recognized as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet and be measured at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from the changes in fair value of
derivatives are recognized in net income (loss) or recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), and recognized in the statement of operations when the
hedged item affects earnings, depending upon the purpose of the derivatives and whether they qualify for hedge accounting treatment. Kforce’s policy is to
designate at a derivative’s inception the specific assets, liabilities, or future commitments being hedged and monitor the derivative to determine if it remains
an effective hedge. Kforce does not enter into or hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. The fair value of Kforce’s interest rate swaps agreements
is based on dealer quotes. In the unlikely event that the counterparty fails to perform under the contract, Kforce bears the credit risk that payments due to
Kforce, if applicable, may not be collected.
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Under SFAS 128, “Earnings Per Share”, basic earnings (loss) per share is computed as earnings divided by weighted average shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings (loss) per share include the dilutive effects of stock options and other potentially dilutive securities such as non-vested stock grants.
Options to purchase 2,381, 3,421 and 4,346 shares of common stock were not included in the computations of diluted earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, because these options were anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 205 shares of restricted stock were not
included in the computation of dilutive earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2002 because the restricted stock shares were anti-dilutive. The
dilutive effect of options to purchase 4,081 and 2,764 of common stock and 318 and 404 shares of restricted stock are included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
The following recently issued accounting pronouncements were effective for Kforce beginning January 1, 2004, and management has determined that the
adoption of these standards had no material impact on Kforce’s consolidated financial statements.
•

SFAS 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”, requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation in the period in which it occurred.

•

SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections”, rescinds SFAS 4,
“Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, and an amendment of that Statement, SFAS 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to
Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements”. SFAS 145 also rescinds SFAS 44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers”, and SFAS 13,
“Accounting for Leases”, eliminating an inconsistency between certain sale-leaseback transactions.

•

SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”, addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated
with exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. SFAS 146 requires costs associated with exit or disposal activities to
be recognized when the costs are incurred, rather than at a date of commitment to an exit or disposal plan.

•

SFAS 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, amends and clarifies financial accounting and
reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives)
and for hedging activities under SFAS 133. The changes in SFAS 149 improve financial reporting by requiring that contracts with comparable
characteristics be accounted for similarly. In particular, SFAS 149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment
meets the characteristic of a derivative discussed in paragraph 6(b) of SFAS 133, (2) clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component,
(3) amends the definition of an underlying asset or liability to conform it to language used in FIN 45, and (4) amends certain other existing
pronouncements.

•

SFAS 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Certain Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity”, establishes standards for
how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer
classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances).
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In December of 2004 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a revised version of SFAS 123, “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R). This
statement establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods and services, but focuses
primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in Share-Based Payment transactions. This statement supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. This statement requires a public entity to measure the
cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions).
That cost is recognized over the period in which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, which is usually the vesting period.
No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the requisite service. This statement is effective for Kforce as of
the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Kforce is currently evaluating the impact of this proposed
standard on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
In December of 2004, FASB issued SFAS 153, “Exchange of non-monetary assets.” This statement amends APB Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the exception
for non-monetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-monetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. The provisions of this statement are effective for non monetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2005. Management does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on Kforce’s consolidated financial statements.
2. FIXED ASSETS
Major classifications of fixed assets and related asset lives are summarized as follows:
DECEMBER 31,
USEFUL LIFE

Land
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Capital leases

5-7 years
3-5 years
3-15 years
3 years

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

2004

2003

$ 1,310
5,424
1,188
3,936
2,248

$ 1,310
10,453
3,374
4,698
—

14,106
5,527

19,835
12,413

$ 8,579

$ 7,422

Kforce purchased fixed assets totaling $1,272 and $740 during 2004 and 2003, respectively and invested in assets under capital leases of $2,248 during
2004. Depreciation and amortization expense during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2,300, $2,640 and $5,024, respectively. Kforce recognized losses on the sale
or disposal of assets of $224, $74 and $1,078 for the years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Land consists of a parcel of property adjacent to the site of the corporate headquarters building.
3. INCOME TAXES
The benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

Current:
Federal
State
Deferred
Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance

$

(265)
1,013
(6,461)
19,250

$13,537
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2003

$

2002

—
(350)
(2,200)
2,200

$

—
261
19,635
(19,998)

$ (350)

$

(102)
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The benefit (provision) for income taxes shown above varied from the statutory federal income tax rates for those periods as follows:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

2003

2002

Federal income tax rate
State income taxes, net of federal tax effect
Non-deductible compensation
Non-deductible meals and entertainment
Alternative Minimum Tax
IRS transaction cost method of accounting change
Other
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

(35.0)%
2.4
(10.6)
(2.6)
(2.3)
—
(1.7)
167.8

(35.0)%
(6.4)
(6.2)
(4.1)
—
—
4.3
41.0

35.0%
5.2
—
(0.6)
—
1.6
1.1
(42.5)

Effective tax rate

118.0%

(6.4)%

(0.2)%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004

Deferred taxes, current:
Assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accrued liabilities
Federal net operating loss carryforward
State net operating loss carryforward

$

2003

3,145
3,812
9,001
1,222

$

17,180
—

Valuation allowance
Net current deferred tax asset
Deferred taxes, non-current:
Assets
Deferred compensation
Federal net operating loss carryforward
State net operating loss carryforward
Depreciation and amortization
Other

3,452
(3,452)

$

17,180

$

$

3,686
9,587
5,063
4,040
304

$

22,680
Liabilities
Depreciation and amortization

$

48

19,016

3,443
13,416
4,049
—
242

(2,525)

22,680
(3,664)

Net non-current deferred tax asset

—

21,150

—

Non current deferred tax asset, net of deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance

2,329
1,123
—
—

18,625
(18,625)
$

—
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In 2002, Kforce carried back $19,502 of 2001 federal net operating losses to earlier years for a refund of federal taxes paid of $6,582. At December 31, 2004,
Kforce had federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $53,100 related to a net operating loss in 2002 and the recording of Hall
Kinion federal NOLs, both of which expire in varying amounts through 2024. Further, Kforce has approximately $74,000 of state tax NOLs at December 31,
2004, which will be carried forward to be offset against future state taxable income. The state tax NOLs expire in varying amounts through 2022.
Kforce incurred operating losses in 2001 and 2002 and as a result has NOLs for both federal and state income tax purposes. For accounting purposes, the
estimated tax effects of such NOLs, plus or net of timing differences, result in current and non-current deferred tax assets. However, a determination must be
made that it is “more likely than not” that the NOLs will be utilized for tax purposes, or valuation allowances must be established to offset such assets. At
December 31, 2002, a “more likely than not” conclusion could not be reached, and the deferred tax assets were fully reserved. Kforce had net income during
2003, and portions of the deferred tax assets were recognized by reducing such assets and the related valuation allowances by $2,200, instead of providing
any 2003 income tax expense other than certain state tax expense for which corresponding state tax carryforwards were not available. In 2004, Kforce has
recognized a $12,524 income tax benefit, net of current income tax expense of $6,659, related to the reversal of the valuation allowances. Kforce continues to
carry a $3,664 valuation allowance at December 31, 2004, offsetting federal and state NOL carryforwards for which a “more likely than not” conclusion for
tax purposes could not be reached. $1,721 of this valuation allowance relates to net deferred tax assets recorded in conjunction with the acquisition of Hall
Kinion. Therefore, if this portion of the valuation allowance is reversed at a future date, the related tax benefit will be recorded as an offset to goodwill
previously recognized in conjunction with this acquisition. Also in 2004, Kforce reversed $21,841 of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets
recorded in conjunction with the Hall Kinion acquisition. The reversal of these valuation allowances has been recorded as an offset to Goodwill recognized
in conjunction with this acquisition.
The additional income tax benefit of $1,000 in 2004 relates to state income tax benefits including the filing of amended state tax returns for earlier years and
the favorable settlement of a Massachusetts state audit.
Kforce completed a U.S. Internal Revenue Service audit in 2002 for its tax years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998. The audit was concluded with no
adverse findings or assessments by the IRS. Kforce is also periodically subject to state and other local income tax audits for various tax years. At December
31, 2004, ongoing audits for which no final determination has been made include the states of North Carolina and New Jersey. During 2004, income tax
audits for the states of New York and Massachusetts were concluded with no material adverse assessments.
4. OTHER ASSETS
DECEMBER 31,

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies
Capitalized software, net of amortization
Prepaid rent – headquarters, net of amortization
Deferred merger and acquisition costs
Deferred loan costs, net of amortization
Cash flow hedge asset (Note 7)
Other non-current assets

2004

2003

$ 8,452
3,009
1,184
178
279
37
277

$ 7,238
644
1,294
1,459
615
—
—

$13,416

$11,250

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies relates to policies maintained by Kforce that could be used to fund obligations under the Deferred
Compensation Plan (Note 8).
Kforce purchased capitalized software for $3,266 and $515 during 2004 and 2003, respectively. Accumulated amortization on capitalized software was
$3,081 and $2,332 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, Kforce capitalized costs related to software developed for internal use
totaling $976 in 2004. Amortization expense on capitalized software during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $750, $976 and $3,347, respectively.
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In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, Kforce periodically reviews the carrying value of longlived assets to determine if impairment has occurred. During the year ended December 31, 2004 it was determined that time entry software purchased but not
implemented by Kforce could not be customized to meet Kforce’s requirements. Based on this determination Kforce recognized an impairment loss of $498
which included $305 in capital software costs and $193 of maintenance costs. During the year ended December 31, 2003, it was determined that there were
no impairments for the year. During the year ended December 31, 2002, Kforce reviewed its customer relationship management (CRM) software and other
software which Kforce had purchased but not implemented. Based on this review, it was determined that a significant redesign of the CRM software was
needed, that the current value of the CRM software was impaired and that, based on Kforce’s current revenue base, certain purchased software would not be
implemented by Kforce. Impairment losses of $1,608 relating to the reviews were recognized by Kforce for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
impairment losses are recorded as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
As part of the agreement with the landlord of the new headquarters, Kforce was required to prepay lease costs relating to building upgrades above a base
amount. This amount is being amortized over the 15 year term of the lease.
Deferred merger and acquisition costs of $178 have been capitalized in connection with Kforce’s Asset Purchase Agreement with VistaRMS, Inc. (Note 16).
The costs have been deferred and capitalized as of December 31, 2004 and will be recorded as additional purchase price, or reduction of stockholders’ equity
for such costs relating to issuing Kforce’s shares, upon the close of the transaction. Deferred merger and acquisition costs of $1,459 were capitalized in
connection with Kforce’s Plan of Merger with Hall, Kinion & Associates, Inc. (Note 6). The costs were deferred and capitalized as of December 31, 2003 and
are recorded as part of the purchase price of Hall Kinion.
Accumulated amortization on deferred loan costs was $2,221 and $1,886 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense on deferred
loan costs was $335, $335 and $678 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
5. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” which was adopted by Kforce as of January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 requires
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment on an annual basis. To the extent
that an indication of impairment exists, Kforce must perform a second test to measure the amount of the impairment. In the first step, Kforce identified its
reporting units and determined the carrying value of each by assigning Kforce’s assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill, to them as of January 1,
2002. Kforce identified its reporting units as Information Technology, Finance and Accounting, Health and Life Sciences and Human Resources. For
purposes of reporting, the Human Resources business line is part of the Information Technology reporting segment, but based on analysis under SFAS 142,
Kforce determined that the business line met the criteria of a reporting unit. Kforce then determined the fair value of each reporting unit utilizing an
independent appraiser, by using a combination of present value and several earning valuation techniques and comparing the fair values to the carrying
values of each reporting unit. Kforce completed the first step as of June 30, 2002, and determined that impairment may have existed in the Information
Technology and Human Resources units.
In the second step, Kforce compared the implied fair values of the affected reporting units’ goodwill to the carrying values to determine the amount of the
impairment. The fair value of goodwill was determined by allocating the reporting units’ fair values, if any, to all of their assets and liabilities in a manner
similar to purchase price allocations in accordance with SFAS 141. Kforce completed the second step in the fourth quarter of 2002. As a result of this
impairment test, Kforce recorded an impairment charge of $33,823, consisting of $11,135 and $22,688 for the Human Resources and Information Technology
units, respectively. The impairment charge is classified as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Conditions contributing to the goodwill impairment were negative industry and economic trends which had lowered profits and cash flows over the 18
months preceding the recognition of the impairment and which continued to impact earnings forecasts.
In 2004 and 2003, Kforce completed annual tests for goodwill impairment as required by SFAS 142, and found no impairment existed at December 31, 2004
or 2003.
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In accordance with SFAS 141, “Business Combinations” Kforce assigned, based on a valuation analysis performed by an independent firm, $10,000 to
customer list intangible assets and $870 related to the OnStaff tradename in the acquisition of Hall Kinion (Note 6). The remaining value of intangible assets
relates to customer lists and non-compete agreements acquired during 2001 that are being amortized over four years. Accumulated amortization on intangible
assets from acquisitions was $2,709 and $873 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense on intangible assets from acquisitions
for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $1,836, $419 and $579, respectively. For existing intangible assets from acquisitions, amortization expense for 2005, 2006,
2007 and 2008 will be $2,884, $2,500, $2,500 and $1,083, respectively.
6. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
Hall, Kinion & Associates Inc.
On June 7, 2004, Kforce acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Hall, Kinion and Associates Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Hall Kinion”). This
transaction was accounted for in accordance with SFAS 141, “Business Combinations”, using the purchase method. The results of Hall Kinion’s operations
since the date of acquisition have been included in Kforce’s consolidated financial statements. Hall Kinion specialized in providing technology and finance
and accounting related talent on a temporary and permanent basis to its customers primarily in the United States. As a result of this acquisition, Kforce
expanded its market presence by adding 18 offices, not including those offices already combined with existing Kforce offices. The acquisition also expanded
Kforce’s service offerings in technology and finance and accounting in certain market segments.
As consideration for the purchase of the common stock, the Company issued 5,742 shares of Kforce stock at a price of $8.95 a share, the market price of the
shares on the date of issuance, with a total addition to equity of $51,388. Kforce also incurred $13,899 in transaction costs, which includes $1,459 of
transaction costs paid in 2003. Additionally, Kforce assumed net assets of $10,362 and bought out potential future earnouts related to OnStaff for $2,500.
The following table summarizes the total purchase price, net assets acquired and intangible assets recorded in conjunction with the acquisition:
Equity issued
Transaction costs
Future earnouts – OnStaff

$51,388
13,899
2,500

Total purchase price

$67,787

Goodwill
Customer lists
Tradename
Net assets acquired

$46,555
10,000
870
10,362

Total purchase price

$67,787

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:
Cash
Other current assets
Furniture and equipment
Other assets

$ 2,827
19,906
586
21,856

Total assets acquired

45,175

Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities

14,233
10,638
9,942

Total liabilities assumed

34,813

Net assets assumed

$10,362
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Included in other assets above is a net deferred tax asset of $21,841 that was acquired in conjunction with the acquisition.
Based on analysis completed in accordance with SFAS 141, $10,000 of the excess purchase price was allocated to acquired intangible assets and is included
in intangible assets, net in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Such value is assigned to customer lists and contracts that are amortized over a
weighted average useful life of 4 years. An additional $870 was assigned to the OnStaff trade name, which is also included in intangible assets, net, in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. This asset has been determined to have an indefinite life and is not being amortized.
The $46,555 of remaining excess purchase price was assigned to goodwill. This goodwill has been allocated to the Technology and Finance and Accounting
business segments. This goodwill is not anticipated to be deductible for tax purposes. See Note 3 for discussion of deferred tax assets recorded in conjunction
with the Hall Kinion acquisition.
The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information for Kforce gives effect to the acquisition of Hall Kinion as if it had occurred on
January 1, 2002. These unaudited pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of the results of
operations that actually would have resulted had the acquisitions occurred on the date indicated, or that may result in the future.

Revenues
Net income (loss)
Basic income (loss) per share
Diluted income (loss) per share
Basic shares outstanding
Diluted shares outstanding

2004

2003

2002

$718,949
$ 19,076
$
.52
$
.49
36,603
38,570

$652,504
$ (13,454)
$
(.37)
$
(.37)
36,256
36,256

$633,975
$ (67,679)
$ (1.81)
$ (1.81)
37,319
37,319

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
Human Resources business
In the fourth quarter of 2002, Kforce exited its Human Resources business, a portion of the Information Technology segment. The Human Resources business
contributed revenue of $4,121 during the year ended 2002.
Canadian Operations
In June 2001, Kforce sold its Canadian operation, consisting of its Toronto office, and continued to collect on receivables not sold in the transaction. In the
fourth quarter of 2002, Kforce finalized all significant business related to the Canadian operations and recognized a cumulative translation loss of $223,000.
7. CREDIT FACILITY
On November 3, 2000, Kforce entered into a $90,000 Amended and Restated Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks (“the Credit Facility”). On December 6,
2002, Kforce amended certain terms and conditions of the Credit Facility, and its term was extended to November 3, 2005. The Credit Facility provides for a
maximum revolving credit facility of $100,000 (not to exceed 85% of Kforce’s “Eligible Receivables” as such term is defined in the Credit Facility).
Borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by all of the assets of Kforce. Kforce entered into a Sixth Amendment to the Credit Facility dated as of
August 26, 2004 (the “Amendment”) primarily to lower the applicable interest rates, effective August 1, 2004, by approximately 0.50%, to rates ranging from
Prime minus 0.25% to Prime plus 0.25% or LIBOR plus 1.50% to LIBOR plus 2.50%, pursuant to financial performance criteria for the previous four quarters
as set forth in the Credit Facility. Prior to the amendment amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility bear interest at rates ranging from Prime to Prime plus
0.75% or LIBOR plus 1.75% to LIBOR plus 3.25%, pursuant to certain financial performance targets as set forth in the Credit Facility. Pricing was fixed for
one year from the time of the December 6, 2002 amendment at LIBOR plus 2.25%. After December 6, 2003, pricing changes quarterly based on the previous
four quarters’ performance. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, Kforce is prohibited from making any dividend distributions.
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The terms of the Credit Facility also include certain financial covenants to which Kforce is subject, including a requirement to maintain at least $10,000 of
borrowing availability. In addition, if the amount available to be borrowed is less than $15,000 but greater than $10,000, Kforce must attain certain EBITDA
targets as follows:
Period Ending

EBITDA

The four (4) fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2004
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2005
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2005
The four (4) fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2005

$15,500
$16,000
$17,000
$18,000

Borrowings under the Credit Facility were $34,100 and $22,000 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which amounts did not exceed the
specified amounts at which the financial covenants apply, and at no time during the history of the Credit Facility have such covenants been triggered.
The Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of up to $115,000 of Kforce’s common stock on the open market, from time to time, depending on
market conditions. The Credit Facility contains a provision that allows Kforce to repurchase $25,000 of common stock per year. As of December 31, 2004,
approximately 19,617 shares had been repurchased for approximately $108,945, under this plan. Approximately $6,055 was available under current board
authorization and approximately $20,689 was available under the current Credit Facility limitations as of December 31, 2004.
The Credit Facility also contains a provision that limits the amount of capital expenditures that Kforce may make in any calendar year to $6,000. Total
capital expenditures were $6,786 and $1,255 during 2004 and 2003, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2004, Kforce’s capital expenditures limit
under the Credit Facility was waived up to $7,000.
In April 2001, Kforce entered into two fixed interest rate swap contracts in relation to a portion of the Credit Facility for a total notional amount of $22,000
with terms expiring no later than May 2003. Effective October 24, 2001, the interest rate was lowered and the expiration date was extended to October 2003
on $12,000 of the swap contracts. The swap contracts, which were classified as cash flow hedges, effectively converted a portion of the outstanding debt
under the Credit Facility to a fixed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate changes on future income. The differential between floating rate
receipts and fixed rate payments is accrued as market rates fluctuate and recognized as an adjustment to interest expense. On December 16, 2002, Kforce paid
$554 to the counter party to cancel both swaps. Kforce amortized the amount remaining in other comprehensive income as of the cancellation date,
approximately $333, net of income taxes, over the original, as amended, remaining life of the swaps. Approximately $305 and $46 ($305 and $28, net of
income taxes) was charged to interest expense and credited to other comprehensive income during 2003 and 2002, respectively, relating to the cancelled
swaps.
In March, April and May of 2003, Kforce entered into four fixed interest rate swap contracts with a total notional amount of $22,000 expiring in March and
May of 2005. The contracts qualify as cash flow hedges of the future interest payments under the Credit Facility pursuant to SFAS 133, as amended.
Consistent with SFAS 133, the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts, approximately $37 net of income taxes, was included in other assets and the
change in the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts, approximately $188, was included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31,
2004.
8. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
DECEMBER 31,

Deferred compensation plan liability (Note 9)
Accrued rent, long-term
Straight-line rent accrual
Cash flow hedge liability (Note 7)
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2004

2003

$ 8,278
1,559
1,699
—

$6,838
249
1,414
151

$11,536

$8,652
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Kforce has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan pursuant to which eligible Firm management and highly compensated key employees may elect to
defer part of their compensation to later years. These amounts, which are classified as other long-term liabilities, are payable upon retirement or termination of
employment.
Kforce has accrued the net present value of rent for the minimum required lease payments on vacant properties and the net rent payable after sublease
payments on sublet properties, at interest rates of 4% to 9%. In addition to the non-current amounts of $1,559 and $249 for 2004 and 2003 included above,
respectively, net lease payments scheduled within the next 12 months of $2,431 and $1,004 for 2004 and 2003, respectively, have been included in accounts
payable and other current liabilities.
Future minimum lease payments and receipts for accelerated leases and subleases under non-cancelable operating leases are summarized as follows:
2005

2006

2007

2008

Thereafter

Lease payments
Sublease receivables

$3,240
809

$1,847
832

$1,542
843

$714
421

$

—
—

Net Leases Payable

$2,431

$1,015

$ 699

$293

$

—

Expenses of $684, $272 and $464 were recognized during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to record accrued rent related to vacated or subleased
properties. Additional increases in the December 31, 2004 liabilities are attributable to leases acquired as part of the Hall Kinion acquisition and are included
in goodwill. The straight-lining of escalating rent payments relates primarily to Kforce’s corporate headquarters facility lease (Note 12). These expenses are
included in SGA.
9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
401(k) SAVINGS PLAN
Kforce has a qualified defined contribution 401(k) plan covering substantially all employees. Employer matching contributions are discretionary and are
funded annually as approved by the Board of Directors. Kforce has accrued a match of $692 for the plan year ended December 31, 2004. A match of $475 was
made in 2004 for the plan year ended December 31, 2003. A match of $550 was made in 2003 for the plan year ended December 31, 2002. No match was
made by Kforce during 2002 for the plan year ended December 31, 2001. Assets of this plan are held in trust for the sole benefit of employees.
At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Plan held 862, 981, and 1,231 shares, respectively, of Kforce’s stock, representing approximately 2.31%, 3.21%
and 4.07%, respectively, of Kforce’s outstanding shares.
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
Kforce has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan which allows all employees to purchase stock at a 15% discount from market prices and without commissions
on the purchases. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan as of the next plan enrollment date following their date of hire. During 2004, 2003, and
2002, respectively, Kforce issued 121, 162, and 162 shares of common stock, at an average purchase price of $6.18, $3.49 and $5.23 per share, pursuant to the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. These shares were transferred to the plan from Kforce’s treasury stock. Of the 121 shares issued in 2004, Kforce issued 69 of
the shares at an average price of $4.34 and 52 shares at an average price of $8.02. Of the 162 shares issued in 2003, Kforce issued 74 of the shares at an
average price of $3.38 and 88 shares at an average price of $3.59. Of the 162 shares issued in 2002, Kforce issued 61 of the shares at an average price of $5.06
and 101 shares at an average price of $5.34. In January 2005, Kforce issued 55 shares at an average price of $7.96, related to employee contributions made
during the second half of 2004.
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
Kforce has a nonqualified deferred compensation plan pursuant to which eligible management and highly compensated key employees may elect to defer
part of their compensation to later years. These amounts are classified as accounts payable and other accrued liabilities if due to be paid within the next year
or as other long-term liabilities if due to be paid out after the next year or upon retirement or termination of employment. At December 31, 2004 and 2003,
amounts included in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities related to the deferred compensation plan totaled $966 and $1,399, respectively.
Amounts included in other
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long-term liabilities related to the deferred compensation plan totaled $8,279 and $6,838 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Kforce has insured
the lives of the participants in the deferred compensation plan to assist in the funding of the deferred compensation liability. The cash surrender value of
these Firm-owned life insurance policies, $8,452 and $7,238 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are classified as other assets (Note 4).
Compensation expense of $731, $1,375, and $1,171 was recognized for the plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
Kforce has accrued a discretionary matching contribution of $81 for the plan year ended December 31, 2004. A match of $115 was made by Kforce in 2004
for the plan year ended December 31, 2003. No match was made by Kforce in 2002 for the plan year ended December 31, 2001.
10. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS
In 1994, Kforce established an employee incentive stock option plan that allows the issuance of Incentive Stock Options. The plan was subsequently
amended in 1996 to allow for the issuance of Nonqualified Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights and Restricted Stock. The number of shares of common
stock that may be issued under the plan was increased from 6,000 at inception to 12,000 in 2001.
During 1995, Kforce established a non-employee director stock option plan, which authorized the issuance to non-employee directors of options to purchase
common stock. The maximum number of shares of common stock that can be issued under this plan is 400.
A summary of Kforce’s stock option and restricted stock activity is as follows:
EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE
STOCK OPTION
PLAN

NONEMPLOYEE
DIRECTOR
STOCK OPTION
PLAN

TOTAL

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE PER
SHARE

Outstanding as of December 31, 2001
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

6,056
1,260
(77)
(1,370)

319
—
—
—

6,375
1,260
(77)
(1,370)

$
$
$
$

9.41
5.30
3.43
9.84

Outstanding as of December 31, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

5,869
907
(359)
(248)

319
—
—
—

6,188
907
(359)
(248)

$
$
$
$

8.52
4.14
4.37
10.69

Outstanding as of December 31, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

6,169
1,605
(1,246)
(67)

319
—
—
—

6,488
1,605
(1,246)
(67)

$
$
$
$

8.05
8.19
4.94
9.90

Outstanding as of December 31, 2004

6,461

319

6,780

$

8.63

Exercisable at December 31:
2002
2003
2004

3,162
3,972
5,457

319
319
319

3,482
4,291
5,776
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WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
FAIR VALUE
OF OPTIONS
GRANTED

$

2.63

$

1.96

$

4.78
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On September 9, 2004, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Kforce accelerated stock options for all current employees that would
otherwise have been unvested on January 1, 2005. Options to purchase a total of 855,662 shares of Kforce’s common stock were accelerated. These options
are held by fifteen employees, including options to purchase an aggregate of 748,162 shares of Kforce’s common stock held by six Executive Officers.
Effective October 26, 2004, the former Chief Financial Officer ceased being employed by Kforce. Kforce expects the other affected employees to continue to
provide services through their applicable original vesting dates; therefore, the only current expense as a result of the acceleration relates to one employee and
the effect on Kforce was an expense of $104,000 in October 2004. If the remaining affected employees were to terminate their employment prior to the
applicable original vesting dates, the maximum future expense would be approximately $940,000, with such amount reduced to approximately $59,000 after
scheduled vesting dates in January 2006 have passed.
Options expire at the end of ten years from the date of grant.
As of December 31, 2004, the total number of available shares to grant was 836 and 4 under the Employee Incentive Stock Option Plan and Non-Employee
Director Stock Option Plan, respectively.
The following table summarizes information about employee and director stock options:
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES

$ 0.000 - $ 3.150
$ 3.151 - $ 6.300
$ 6.301 - $ 9.450
$ 9.451 - $12.600
$12.601 - $15.750
$15.751 - $18.900
$18.901 - $22.050
$22.051 - $25.200
$25.201 - $28.350

NUMBER
OUTSTANDING AT
DECEMBER 31,
2004 (SHARES)

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
REMAINING
CONTRACTUAL
LIFE (YEARS)

687
1,889
1,823
956
1,082
2
4
222
115

8.5
6.3
5.9
7.8
4.8
2.9
2.9
3.1
3.2

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1.49
4.56
8.02
11.03
14.30
18.06
19.32
22.38
27.79

6,780

6.2

$

8.64

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE ($)

OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
NUMBER
EXERCISABLE AT
DECEMBER 31,
2004 (SHARES)

RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES

$ 0.000 - $ 3.150
$ 3.151 - $ 6.300
$ 6.301 - $ 9.450
$ 9.451 - $12.600
$12.601 - $15.750
$15.751 - $18.900
$18.901 - $22.050
$22.051 - $25.200
$25.201 - $28.350
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WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE ($)

376
1,882
1,823
269
1,083
2
4
222
115

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2.73
4.56
8.02
11.24
14.30
18.06
19.32
22.38
27.79

5,776

$

8.83
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The following restricted stock grants are included in the employee incentive stock option plan in the above table detailing grants, exercises and forfeitures.
In 2001, Kforce granted approximately 194 shares of stock that was restricted as to sale, to certain members of management, not including the Chief
Executive Officer, in lieu of a cash bonus. The restriction period ended in February 2003 and Kforce repurchased 49 shares of such stock, at market value, for
$146.
In January 2002, Kforce issued 223 shares of restricted stock to certain members of senior management and other employees in exchange for voluntarily
reducing their 2002 salary and cash bonus potential. These shares vested over a five-year period with an acceleration clause if certain Kforce common stock
price thresholds were met. During 2003 and 2002, $221 and $212, respectively, were charged to compensation expense for the straight-line amortization of
vesting over the five-year period. On January 5, 2004, Kforce common stock closed at a price level that fully satisfied the acceleration clause for the 2002
shares and all of such restricted stock thereby vested. Because Kforce had been amortizing the value of such restricted stock on a straight-line basis over the
five-year period, and the stock price threshold had not been met on or prior to December 31, 2003, Kforce was required to record the unamortized balance of
$673 as compensation expense in the period when the stock price threshold was achieved, which was the first quarter of 2004.
In February 2003, Kforce granted 192 shares of restricted stock to certain members of senior management as a component of compensation. The shares, which
were originally scheduled to vest in February of 2005, were accelerated by Kforce on November 30, 2004. During 2004 and 2005 Kforce recognized $163
and $136, respectively, of compensation expense for the straight line amortization of the vesting over two years. Kforce recognized an additional $27 of
expense in 2004 due to the acceleration.
In January 2004, Kforce granted 75 shares, net of 13 shares which were forfeited, of restricted stock to certain members of senior management as a component
of compensation. Also, in December 2004, Kforce granted 223 shares of restricted stock to certain members of senior management as a component of
compensation. Kforce recognizes compensation expense using straight-line amortization over the vesting period of two years. Kforce recognized $383 of
compensation in relation to these grants for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Tax benefits resulting from disqualifying dispositions of shares acquired under Kforce’s employee incentive stock option plan were $611, $0 and $34 in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These tax benefits have been credited to additional paid-in-capital in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
11. SEVERANCE COSTS
In 2002, Kforce incurred expense of $1,479 for severance costs, including $1,102 for the termination of a named officer. Severance cost is a component of
SGA in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEASE COMMITMENTS
Kforce leases space and operating assets under operating and capital leases expiring at various dates, with some leases cancelable upon 30 to 90 days notice.
The leases require payment of taxes, insurance and maintenance costs in addition to rental payments.
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Future minimum lease payments, inclusive of accelerated lease payments (Note 8), under non-cancelable capital and operating leases are summarized as
follows:
2005

Capital Leases
Present values of payments
Interest

2008

2009

$ 561
24

$ —
—

$ —
—

851

585

—

—

9,132
1,275
465

6,112
308
355

4,509
43
64

3,134
—
63

2,270
—
53

14,379
—
—

10,872

6,775

4,616

3,197

2,323

14,379

$11,724

$7,626

$5,201

$3,197

$2,323

$14,379

$

Cap Lease Payments
Operating Leases
Facilities
Equipment
Furniture
Total Operating Leases
Total Leases

2006

2007

698
154

$ 763
88

852

Thereafter

$

—
—
—

Kforce acquired $2,248 of computer equipment under capital lease in 2004. Capital lease payments made in 2004 totaled $266, inclusive of imputed interest
of $42. Interest on capital leases is calculated using an interest rate of 9%.
Rental expense under operating leases was $13,195, $14,784, and $16,936 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
On September 14, 2001, Kforce executed an agreement for lease of its new headquarters and consolidation of its Tampa operations. Kforce has classified the
lease as an operating lease. Significant terms included the prepayment of rent in the amount of $2,200. The prepayment is being amortized over the 15 year
term of the lease. Kforce is required to make minimum annual lease payments escalating from approximately $1,929 to $2,949, which are included in the
above future minimum lease payments. $698 and $1,324, respectively, related to the present value of future minimum lease payments under these
agreements, are included in other current debt and long-term debt-other in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2004.
OTHER FINANCING COMMITMENTS
Kforce entered into two financing agreements related to the purchase of capitalized software valued at $893 during the year ended December 31, 2004. Future
payments under the agreements are $315, $314 and $100, inclusive of interest of $20, $10 and $1, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively. Payments under the agreements totaled $215 inclusive of $20 of interest in 2004. $295 and $403, respectively, related to the present value of
future payments under these agreements, are included in other current debt and long term debt – other in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2004.
LETTERS OF CREDIT
Kforce provides letters of credit to certain vendors in lieu of cash deposits. Kforce currently has letters of credit outstanding for workers compensation and
property insurance totaling $2,000 and for facility lease deposits totaling approximately $3,700 .
LITIGATION
In the ordinary course of its business, Kforce is, from time to time, threatened with or named as a defendant in various lawsuits, including discrimination,
harassment and other similar allegations. Kforce maintains insurance in such amounts and with such coverage and deductibles as management believes is
reasonable. The principal risks that Kforce insures against are workers’ compensation, personal injury, bodily injury, property damage, professional
malpractice, errors and omissions, employment practices liability and fidelity losses. Kforce is not aware of any litigation that would reasonably be expected
to have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS
Kforce has entered into employment agreements with certain executive officers and managers that provide for minimum compensation, salary and
continuation of certain benefits for a six month to three-year period under certain circumstances. The agreements also provide for a payment of one to three
times their annual salary and average annual bonus if a change in
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control (as defined by the agreements) of Kforce occurs and include a covenant against competition with Kforce that extends for one year after termination for
any reason. Kforce’s liability at December 31, 2004, would have been approximately $24,653 in the event of a change in control or $18,045 if all of the
employees under contract were to be terminated by Kforce without good cause (as defined) under these contracts.
13. SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Kforce reports segment information in accordance with SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of Enterprise and Related Information”. SFAS 131 requires a
management approach in determining reportable segments of an organization. The management approach designates the internal organization that is used by
management for making operation decisions and addressing performance as the source of determining Kforce’s reportable segments. Kforce’s internal
reporting follows its three functional service offerings: Technology, Finance and Accounting, and Health and Life Sciences. Kforce also reports Flexible
billings and Search fees separately by segment.
Historically, and through December 31, 2004, Kforce has generated only sales and gross profit information on a functional basis. As such, asset information
by segment is not disclosed. Substantially all operations and long-lived assets are located in the U.S.
Information concerning operations in these segments of business is as follows:
TECHNOLOGY

FINANCE AND
ACCOUNTING

HEALTH AND LIFE
SCIENCES

$

294,598
11,397

$

169,411
26,058

$

156,071
3,916

$620,080
41,371

$
$

305,995
84,513

$
$

195,469
73,263

$
$

159,987
46,108

$661,451
$203,884

$

216,609
7,162

$

103,630
19,157

$

144,972
4,055

$465,211
30,374

$
$

223,771
61,646

$
$

122,787
48,586

$
$

149,027
43,736

$495,585
$153,968

$

215,731
10,140

$

99,009
22,754

$

161,168
4,745

$475,908
37,639

$
$

225,871
65,408

$
$

121,763
53,051

$
$

165,913
49,503

$513,547
$167,962

TOTAL

2004
Net service revenues
Flexible billings
Search fees
Total revenue
Gross profit
2003
Net service revenues
Flexible billings.
Search fees
Total revenue
Gross profit
2002
Net service revenues
Flexible billings.
Search fees
Total revenue
Gross profit
14. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
QUARTER ENDED
MAR 31

JUN 30

SEPT 30

DEC 31

Net service revenues
Gross profit
Net income
Net earnings per share-basic
Net earnings per share-diluted

$130,208
38,708
1,067
$
.03
$
.03

$152,162
47,261
251
$
.01
$
.01

$188,862
57,875
6,047
$
.16
$
.16

$190,219
60,040
17,646
$
.48
$
.45

Net service revenues
Gross profit
Net income

$123,724
38,417

$123,165
38,805

$122,958
37,849

$125,738
38,897

Net earnings per share-basic
Net earnings per share-diluted

$
$

2004

2003

288
.01
.01

$
$

686
.02
.02

$12,636 of net income in the fourth quarter of 2004 relates to net tax benefit recorded in that quarter. See Note 3 for further discussion.
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$

1,354
.04
.04

$
$

2,790
.09
.09
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15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:
2004

Cash paid (received) during the period for:
Income taxes
Interest, net

$

Non-Cash Transaction Information:
Cash flow hedges, net of taxes
Tax benefit from disqualifying dispositions of stock options
Common Stock Transactions:
Deferred compensation plan transactions
Employee stock purchase plan
Issuance of stock in an acquisition
Restricted stock issued or assigned in lieu of compensation, net of forfeitures
Software acquired under financing agreement
Equipment acquired under capital lease
Cash used in connection with acquisition, net:
Transaction costs
Payment of acquired business bank line of credit
Payment of 2003 OnStaff earnout
Buyout of future OnStaff earnout
Payment of acquired business long-term liability
Cash received in acquisition

(399)
1,841

2003

2002

$ (441)
1,314

$(10,475)
3,172

188
611

151
—

68
—

—
714
51,388
3,143
893
2,247

80
566
—
349
—
—

603
849
2
1,106
—
—

$12,441
10,638
4,210
2,500
1,050
(2,827)

$ —
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$28,012

$ —

$

—

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On February 1, 2005, Kforce completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of VistaRMS, Inc. (“Vista”), pursuant to an Asset Purchase agreement,
dated as of December 3, 2004. Kforce is also responsible for certain of Vista’s liabilities. Vista is based in Herndon, Virginia, and has produced revenue of
approximately $50,000 in technology staffing over the last 12 months with approximately 40% of that revenue in the Federal government sector. Since the
transaction closed subsequent to year end, none of Vista’s results of operations have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2004.
As consideration for the net assets being acquired, Kforce issued 2,348 shares of Kforce common stock (the “Common Stock”). The number of shares of
Common Stock issued in connection with the Agreement was based on a price per share of the Common Stock of $10.22, which represented the average per
share closing price of the Common Stock during the period of October 20, 2004 through November 2, 2004. Kforce has also incurred acquisition-related costs
in conjunction with the acquisition of $178. Kforce is currently in the process of allocating the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired from Vista.
On the date of closing, Kforce placed into escrow 450 shares of the Common Stock for the purpose of securing Vista’s indemnification obligations under the
Agreement and placed an additional 783 shares of the Common Stock into escrow to satisfy potential adjustments to the purchase price that will be
determined following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement. The purchase price will be reduced (i) to the extent the net
assets of Vista as of June 30, 2004 exceed the net assets of Vista as of the date of the closing of the transaction contemplated by the Agreement, (ii) in the
event that revenue generated by Vista
60

Table of Contents

pursuant to contracts and relationships with its customers is not able to be assigned or transferred to Kforce, (iii) in the event that certain of Vista’s accounts
receivable that are being transferred to Kforce under the Agreement remain uncollected 90 days following the closing of the transaction contemplated by the
Agreement, and (iv) by the amount of any tax liability incurred by Kforce resulting from Vista’s use of the cash receipts and disbursements method of
accounting for computing taxable income.
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SCHEDULE II
KFORCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING
ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE
COLUMN A

DESCRIPTION

COLUMN B

COLUMN C

BALANCE AT
BEGINNING OF

COLUMN D

COLUMN E

CHARGED TO
COSTS AND
EXPENSES
(RECOVERY)

CHARGED
TO OTHER
ACCOUNTS

DEDUCTIONS
(RECOVERY)

BALANCE AT
END OF
PERIOD

$

$

$

$

Trade receivables

2002
2003
2004

$ 5,470
5,827
5,624

Notes receivable from former officer

2002
2003
2004

1,976
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

1,976
—
—

—
—
—

Receivables from officers and related parties

2002
2003
2004

300
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

300
—
—

—
—
—
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1,430
(394 )
1,921

—
—
—

1,073
(191 )
1,277

5,827
5,624
6,268
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
KFORCE INC
Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ DAVID L. DUNKEL
David L. Dunkel
Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ DAVID L. DUNKEL
David L. Dunkel
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ JOSEPH J. LIBERATORE
Joseph J. Liberatore
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ DAVID M. KELLY
David M. Kelly
Vice President, Treasurer and Chief
Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ JOHN N. ALLRED
John N. Allred
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ W.R. CAREY, JR.
W.R. Carey, Jr.
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ RICHARD M. COCCHIARO
Richard M. Cocchiaro
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ MARK F. FURLONG
Mark F. Furlong
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ TODD W. MANSFIELD
Todd W. Mansfield
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ ELAINE D. ROSEN
Elaine D. Rosen
Director
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Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ RALPH E. STRUZZIERO
Ralph E. Struzziero
Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ HOWARD W. SUTTER
Howard W. Sutter
Vice President and Director

Date: March 16, 2005

By:

/s/ A. GORDON TUNSTALL
A. Gordon Tunstall
Director
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(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-91738) filed May 9, 1996.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-26058), filed October 29, 1998.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-26058), filed on November 3, 2000.

(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-26058) filed March 29, 2000.

(5)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 333-26058) filed March 29, 2001.

(6)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-50539) filed April 21, 1998.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-50543) filed April 21, 1998.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-94563) filed January 13, 2000.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-60302) filed May 4, 2001.

(10)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-68212) filed August 23, 2001.

(11)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-26058) filed March 29, 2002.

(12)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-26058) filed November 14, 2002.

(13)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-26058) filed December 6, 2002.

(14)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form S-4 (File No. 333-111566) filed December 24, 2003, as amended.

(15)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-26058) filed May 17, 2000.

(16)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (File No. 000-26058) filed March 11, 2004.
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Exhibit 10.2
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of March 16, 2005, between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the
“Employer”), and William L. Sanders (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to continue to obtain the benefit of services by the Executive, and the Executive desires to continue to render services to
the Employer.
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Employer has determined that it is in the Employer’s best interest and that of its
shareholders to recognize the substantial contribution that the Executive has made and is expected to make in the future to the Employer’s business and to
continue to retain Executive’s services in the future.
The Employer and the Executive desire to set forth in this Agreement the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the
Employer. Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations set forth below, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Employer and the Executive agree as follows:
TERMS
1. EMPLOYMENT.
The Executive agrees to continue employment with the Employer (and one or more of the Employer’s subsidiary corporations if and when
assigned by Employer) to render the services specified in this Agreement upon the terms and conditions and for the compensation provided in this
Agreement, and Employer agrees to so employ Executive. All compensation paid to the Executive by the Employer or any subsidiary of the Employer, and
all benefits and perquisites received by the Executive from the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, will be aggregated in determining whether the Executive
has received the compensation and benefits provided for in this Agreement.
2. TERM OF EMPLOYMENT.
(a) End of Term. The term of the employment of the Executive under this Agreement will be for the period commencing on the date of this
Agreement and ending on the earliest of:
(i) 2 years and 364 days after notice of termination of this Agreement is given by the Employer to the Executive;

(ii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Executive at Executive’s election and without “Good Reason” (as
defined in Section 9 of this Agreement);
(iii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Employer for “Cause” (as defined in Section 8 of this Agreement) or
by the Employer without Cause in accordance with Section 9 or by the Executive for Good Reason pursuant to Section 9;
(iv) the date of the Executive’s death; or
(v) the Disability Effective Date (as such term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement) following the Executive’s Disability (as such
term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
It is understood that at each and every moment of time the remaining term of employment hereunder shall be 2 years and 364 days, unless this Agreement or
Executive’s employment is terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.
(b) Date of Termination. As used in this Agreement the term “Date of Termination” means (i) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the
Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 2(a) above, the date that is 2 years and 364 days after the date of the Executive’s receipt of the notice of
termination of this Agreement or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive terminates Executive’s employment at
Executive’s election and without Good Reason pursuant to clause (ii) of Section 2(a), the date of the Employer’s receipt of the notice of termination from the
Executive or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Employer for Cause or by the
Employer without Cause pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement, or by the Executive for Good Reason, fifteen days after the date of receipt of the notice of
termination by the Executive or the Employer, respectively, or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iv) if the Executive’s employment
terminates by reason of the Executive’s voluntary retirement, the date that such retirement becomes effective in accordance with the Employer’s plans and
policies; and (v) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective
Date (as that term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
3. SERVICES TO BE RENDERED; EXCLUSIVITY.
(a) Service. During the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall perform the duties of President, or any
reasonably comparable duties that may be assigned to the Executive from time to time.
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(b) Full Time Efforts. During the term of this Agreement and excluding any periods of vacation, family or sick leave or holidays to which
the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote Executive’s full business time and energy to the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries, and matters related thereto, and shall use Executive’s reasonable commercial efforts and ability to promote the interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries. The Executive agrees that he/she will diligently endeavor to promote the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its subsidiaries and
that Executive will perform services contemplated hereby in accordance with the policies established by the Employer from time to time. The Executive shall
serve without additional remuneration in such senior executive capacities for one or more direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Employer as the Employer may
from time to time request, subject to appropriate authorization by the subsidiary or subsidiaries involved and any limitations under applicable law and
indemnification on the same terms as the Executive is indemnified by the Employer. The failure of the Executive to discharge an order or perform a function
because the Executive reasonably and in good faith believes such would violate a law or regulation or be dishonest shall not be deemed a breach by
Executive of Executive’s obligations or duties under this Agreement and shall not entitle the Employer to terminate this Agreement pursuant to any of its
provisions.
(c) Certain Permissible Activities. The Executive may serve as a director or in any other capacity of any business enterprise, including an
enterprise whose activities may involve or relate to the business of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries but only if such service is expressly approved by
the Employer in writing. The Executive may (i) make and manage personal business investments of Executive’s choice, (ii) teach at educational institutions
and deliver lectures, and (iii) serve in any capacity with any civic, educational or charitable organization, or any governmental entity or trade association, in
each such case without seeking or obtaining approval by the Employer so long as such activities and service do not materially interfere or conflict with the
performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement. It is agreed that to the extent that the Employer shall have approved any service of the Executive
pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to a Change in Control Date (as defined in Section 10 below), or to the extent that the Executive may
have engaged in activities pursuant to the second sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to such Change in Control Date, the continued conduct of such activities
or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto during the 2 years and 364 days subsequent to such Change in Control Date shall be
permissible and not in violation of any provisions of this Agreement and the previously obtained Employer approval may not be revoked or limited in any
material respect during the 2 years and 364 days following such Change in Control Date.
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4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.
(a) Base Salary. The Employer agrees that the Executive will be paid for Executive’s services under this Agreement a salary at the annual
rate of at least $490,000, payable in periodic installments in accordance with the Employer’s normal salary payment dates for the Executive. Such salary as in
effect from time to time is referred to in this Agreement as the Executive’s “Base Salary.”
(b) Additional Benefits. The Executive shall also be entitled during the term of this Agreement to all rights and benefits for which
Executive is otherwise eligible under any bonus plan, stock option plan, stock purchase plan, participation or extra compensation plan, supplemental
executive retirement plan, deferred compensation plan, profit-sharing plan, life, medical and dental insurance policy, director and officer liability insurance
plan or indemnification program, vacation, sick leave, family leave and holiday program or plan, or plans that confer the use of automobiles or
condominiums (and pay the related expenses thereof) or that pay for club membership fees or tax or financial counseling or other plans or benefits, in any
such case, which the Employer or any of its subsidiaries (i) may provide for the Executive or (ii) provided the Executive is eligible to participate therein, may
provide generally to officers of the Employer (collectively, “Additional Benefits”). This Agreement shall not affect adversely (from the perspective of the
Executive) the provisions of any other compensation, retirement or other benefit program or plan of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries and shall not be
considered to be a guarantee that the Executive will receive any awards or other benefits under any plans, policies or arrangements which are performancerelated. Moreover, Executive’s participation in any such plan shall be subject to the provisions of applicable law, including the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
(c) Individual Benefits. The Employer shall continue to provide to the Executive such individual perquisites as are in effect for
Executive as of the first day of Executive’s employment under this agreement.
(d) Expense Reimbursement. The Employer agrees to reimburse the Executive in full for all such reasonable and necessary business,
entertainment and travel expenses incurred or expended by Executive in connection with the performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement;
provided the Executive submits to the Employer vouchers or expense statements satisfactorily evidencing such expenses as may be reasonably required by
the Employer and such expenses are in accordance with any applicable corporate policy.
(e) Limitations on Reductions. The Employer shall have the right to reduce one or more Additional Benefits but only in conjunction
with a
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corollary reduction of such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers. Any increase in the Executive’s Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce
any other obligation to the Executive under this Agreement.
5. TERMINATION UPON DISABILITY.
(a) Continuation of Benefits upon Disability. If the Executive becomes totally and permanently unable to perform Executive’s duties
because of any Disability (as defined below) during the term of Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive’s full-time employment under
this Agreement shall terminate effective on the thirtieth day after the Executive’s receipt of written notice of termination from the Employer (such thirtieth
day being referred to in this Agreement as the “Disability Effective Date”). In addition to the payments specified in Section 6 below, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 5, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide the Executive the following:
(i) until the earliest to occur of the Executive’s death, the Executive’s 65th birthday, 2 years and 364 days after the Disability
Effective Date or the date of the Executive’s return to full-time employment hereunder pursuant to Section 5(f) (such earliest day being referred to herein as
the “Disability Termination of Benefits Date”) the Base Salary, medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits in which the
Executive was participating immediately prior to the Disability Effective Date (including, without limitation, medical, dental, life and disability insurance),
each such benefit to be continued in a manner no less favorable to the Executive than the benefit to which Executive was entitled immediately prior to the
Disability Effective Date; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during the 2 years and 364 days after the Disability Effective Date, the
Employer shall continue to pay the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis described in
this clause (i), to the Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death for the balance of such 2
years and 364 days period;
(ii) until the Disability Effective Date, a continuation of vesting of all unvested stock options granted by the Employer to the
Executive, such vesting to occur in accordance with the terms of each such grant as in effect on the Disability Effective Date and upon the assumption that no
termination of employment had occurred; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during the 2 years and 364 days immediately after the
Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Effective Date, such vesting shall include any vesting which would occur
upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and provided, further, that, if and to the extent further vesting is
prohibited by the terms of any one or more of such grants or otherwise, the Executive shall be entitled to in-lieu cash payments from the Employer on each
date (each a “Vesting Date”) when vesting would have
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occurred absent such prohibition, but in no event beyond 2 years and 364 days following the Disability Effective Date, equal to the spread on such Vesting
Date between the exercise price and fair market value of stock subject to stock options that would have otherwise vested on such Vesting Date; and provided,
further, that if, after the Disability Effective Date, it is or becomes impossible on any date to continue to calculate any future in-lieu cash payments based on
such continuation of vesting, the Executive shall thereupon be entitled immediately to the additional vesting which would normally have occurred during
such 2 years and 364 days period following the Disability Effective Date with respect to the affected type of in-lieu cash payments described above and shall
be entitled immediately to receive payment of the amount specified for such type of in-lieu cash payments based on such additional vesting as of such date;
and
(iii) until the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, if the Executive is a participant in such plans on the Executive’s Disability
Effective Date, a continuation of crediting of additional years of cumulative service (for all purposes, including for purposes of accrual and vesting of
benefits and equity-based incentives) under any Executive Retirement Plan, Deferred Compensation Plan and/or Senior Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (collectively, the “SERP”) in accordance with the terms of the SERP and upon the assumption that no termination of employment had occurred;
provided, however, that if the Disability Termination of Benefits Date occurs due to the Executive’s death during the 2 years and 364 days immediately after
the Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, such continuation shall include any further
accrual and vesting which would occur upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and
(b) Offset. The obligations of the Employer to make payments under this Agreement to the Executive, pursuant to this Section 5,
following Executive’s Disability shall be reduced prospectively to the extent that the Executive receives payment of amounts under any salary continuation
or similar feature contained in any disability insurance policy covering the Executive or under any salary continuation or similar feature under Social
Security or any similar federal, state or local program. In addition, any medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits to be
provided by the Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 5(a) shall be secondary to any similar benefits provided by Social Security, Medicare, any private
insurance maintained by or covering the Executive or any other similar plan or program covering the Executive. The Executive shall provide to the
Employer upon written request from time to time a certification as to the types and amounts of the benefits referred to in the first two sentences of this Section
5(b) received by the Executive or to which Executive is entitled.
(c) Substitution of Benefits. If the Executive’s full-time services are terminated due to Executive’s Disability and the Executive is entitled under
the
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terms of this Agreement to, but is no longer eligible under the relevant plan for, Additional Benefits because of such termination, the Executive (or in the
event of Executive’s death prior to the date that is 2 years and 364 days after the Disability Effective Date, Executive’s designated Beneficiaries (as defined
in Section 7 below)) shall be entitled to, and the Employer shall provide, to the extent required by in this Agreement, benefits substantially equivalent to
such Additional Benefits to which the Executive was entitled immediately prior to Executive’s Disability and shall do so for the period during which
Executive remains entitled to receive such Additional Benefits as provided in this Section 5. With respect to the continuation of such benefits, the Executive
or Executive’s Beneficiaries (as such term is defined in Section 7) shall also be paid by the Employer an amount which, after federal, state, local or other
income or other taxes on such amount, shall reimburse the Executive (or Executive’s Beneficiaries) for any additional tax liabilities incurred by the
Executive (or any such Beneficiary) by reason of the receipt of such benefits after the termination of, rather than during the term of, Executive’s employment
under this Agreement.
(d) Partial Disability. In the event of a partial Disability of the Executive, it is understood that the Executive will provide such part-time services
as may be consistent with the nature and extent of such Disability and Executive’s position, duties, responsibilities and status specified in Section 3(a) of this
Agreement, the Employer shall not be entitled to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement as a result of such partial Disability (provided
that despite such partial disability, the Executive is able to substantially perform most of Executive’s duties), and the terms and conditions of this Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect after such partial Disability.
(e) Definition of Disability. As used in this Agreement, the term “Disability” means the failure of the Executive to render for six consecutive
calendar months, or for shorter periods aggregating one hundred eighty or more business days in any twelve month period, the services contemplated by this
Agreement which a physician selected by the Employer or its insurers (and reasonably acceptable to the Executive or the Executive’s legal representative)
determines is due to mental or physical illness or injury.
(f) Return from Disability. If and to the extent the Executive recovers from any such Disability, Executive will resume Executive’s duties and
responsibilities hereunder partially or fully to the extent of Executive’s recovery, and the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be
reinstated as if the Executive’s employment had not been terminated pursuant to Section 5(a) of this Agreement.
6. DEATH OF THE EXECUTIVE.
(a) Vesting of Options. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer or while receiving any payments on account of a Disability as
set
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forth in Section 5 above and during the term of this Agreement, all stock options standing in the name of the Executive shall immediately fully vest and must
be exercised within 90 days of the date of the Executive’s death by the appropriate beneficiary.
(b) Continuation of Base Salary and Benefits. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer and during the term of this Agreement,
the Employer shall continue to pay the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis
described in Section 5(a)(i), to the Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death, for a period of
2 years and 364 days following Executive’s death.
7. PAYMENTS AND BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR ANY REASON.
On the Date of Termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Executive’s Base Salary will
cease thereafter to accrue except as specifically provided in Sections 5, 6 or 9 and the Executive (or in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s designated
beneficiaries, Executive’s personal representative, or the executor or administrator of Executive’s estate (Executive’s “Beneficiaries”)) will be entitled to such
rights and benefits under the Employer’s compensation and benefit plans, policies and arrangements in which the Executive is then a participant as may be
provided for under such plans, policies and arrangements (which shall not be modified adversely to the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries after
Executive’s Date of Termination). In addition, the Employer shall:
(a) pay and deliver to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to Executive’s Beneficiaries) not later than thirty days after
Executive’s Date of Termination or such later date as the Executive or such Beneficiaries may request in writing, all amounts of money and all stock or other
property owed to Executive by the Employer as of the Date of Termination, including but not limited to Executive’s accrued Base Salary, any amounts
payable in lieu of accrued vacation, amounts payable to Executive under any expense reimbursement plans or policies for expenses incurred through the
Date of Termination, the amount of any bonus due under any incentive plan to the Executive for any bonus period or performance measurement cycle of the
Employer that ended prior to the Date of Termination which remained unpaid on the Date of Termination and any compensation previously deferred by the
Executive and any accrued interest on earnings on such deferred compensation to the extent not previously paid to the Executive;
(b) cause the trustee of any trusteed plan of the Employer to pay and deliver, and the Employer shall pay and deliver under any similar nontrusteed plan of the Employer, to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to
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Executive’s Beneficiaries), at the earliest practicable date after payments become due under such plan, all money, stock and other property which such plans
require to be paid or delivered or are otherwise payable or deliverable to Executive after the termination of Executive’s employment;
(c) continue to insure the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) with respect to Executive’s activities as a
director, officer or Executive of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, for a period of three years after such Date of Termination, under such policies of
director and officer liability insurance as Employer shall provide for its senior officers generally; provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have
occurred prior to such Date of Termination or shall thereafter occur, such policies of insurance shall be no less favorable to the Executive than such policies
as may have been in effect for the Executive at any time during the one hundred twenty day period immediately preceding the Change in Control Date; and
(d) continue to honor such rights to indemnification as the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) may be
entitled pursuant to any plan of indemnification or indemnification agreement in effect at the Date of Termination.
(e) The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the payments and benefits described in Section 7(a) – (d) above in the event
that the Executive breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such
breach the Executive will pay to the Employer any damages the Employer may be able to recover, in addition to any other relief to which Employer may be
entitled.
8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY EMPLOYER FOR CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if the termination is for Cause. For
purposes of this Agreement, the Employer shall have “Cause” to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if, and only if, any of the
following shall occur:
(i) the Executive’s conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction or entry of a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere for an act
on the Executive’s part constituting any felony; or
(ii) a willful breach by the Executive of any provisions of this Agreement if such breach results in demonstrably material injury to
the Employer.
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(iii) the Executive’s willful dishonesty or fraud with respect to business or affairs of the Employer if such dishonesty or fraud
results in demonstrable material injury to Employer.
(b) Procedural Requirements. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall not be subject to termination for Cause without: (i)
reasonable notice to the Executive setting forth the reasons for Employer’s intention to terminate and specifying the particulars thereof in detail, and (ii) an
opportunity for the Executive to cure any such breach, if possible, within thirty days after receipt of such notice.
9. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE FOR GOOD REASON OR BY EMPLOYER WITHOUT CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Good Reason. The Executive may terminate Executive’s employment under this Agreement and all of Executive’s obligations
under this Agreement to the Employer accruing after the date of such termination (other than Executive’s obligations under Sections 12, 13, 16, 18, 19, 26
and 27) if the termination is for “Good Reason,” which for purposes of this Agreement is defined as:
(i) failure by the Employer to perform any of its obligations hereunder (including, but not limited to, Employer’s obligations under
Sections 3 and 4) other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith; or
(ii) the diminution of the Executive’s salary and or a material diminution of the Executive’s benefits, except in connection with
the termination of the Executive’s employment for permanent disability, Cause, as a result of the Executive’s death or termination by the Executive other
than for Good Reason;
(iii) any failure by the Employer to obtain the assumption of this Agreement by any successor or assignee of the Employer;
(iv) any attempt by the Employer to terminate the Executive for Cause which does not result in a valid termination for Cause.
(v) Any event or circumstance that results in David Dunkel no longer holding the position of Chief Executive Officer of the
Employer.
Any termination by Employee for Good Reason will be effective only upon Employer’s failure to cure following thirty days’ prior written notice of the Good
Reason from the Executive to the Employer.
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(b) Employer’s Termination Without Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement without Cause (as
defined above) by written notice to the Executive. Any such termination shall become effective upon fifteen days prior written notice from the Employer to
the Executive.
(c) Compensation and Benefits Upon Section 9 Termination. In addition to the payments specified in Section 7 of this Agreement, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 9, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide to the Executive the following:
(i) Salary through Date of Termination at the rate in effect immediately prior to the time a Notice of Termination is given plus any
benefits and awards (including both cash and stock components) which pursuant to the terms of any Plans have been earned and otherwise payable, but
which have not been paid;
(ii) As severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary for any period subsequent to the Date of Termination, an amount in cash equal to
two times the sum of the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination plus the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses (the “Severance
Payment”). For the purposes of the definition of “Severance Payment” the Company shall compute the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses by
including the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, already earned by the Executive at the time of termination related to the calendar year of the termination or (B)
the bonus, if any, earned in the third full calendar year preceding the termination of the Executive (e.g., if the Executive is terminated on August 1, 2005 (and
this Section 9 is applicable), the Company shall include in the bonus calculation the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive through August
1, 2005, or (B) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive in calendar year 2002). Additionally, also for the purpose of the definition of “Severance Payment,”
in the event the Executive received a grant of stock, restricted stock or stock options during any relevant year (a “Grant”), then the Company shall compute
the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses by including: (i) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock grant, the amount reported by the
Company to the Internal Revenue Service relating to such stock grant for the relevant year; (ii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a restricted stock grant, the
full grant price, computed for the purposes of this agreement by multiplying the number of granted restricted shares by the closing share price on the grant
date, and; (iii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock option grant, the imputed present value of such options at the time of the grant, defined for purposes
of this agreement as 50% of the exercise price. For example, if the Executive is terminated on October 1, 2003 (and this Section 9 is applicable) and the
Executive received a cash bonus of $300,000 in 2002, a bonus consisting of stock with a value reported to the Internal Revenue Service of $400,000 in 2001,
and a bonus consisting of options with an Option Value of $425,000 in 2000, then the average bonus for calculating the Severance Payment will be
$375,000.
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(iii) The Executive will have 90 days subsequent to the Date of Termination to exercise all stock options and restricted stock awards that
have been granted and were vested at Date of Termination; and
(iv) All salary and benefits shall cease at the time of such termination, subject to the terms of any benefit or compensation plan then in
force and applicable to the Executive. The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the Severance Payment in the event that the Executive
breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidential Information Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such breach the
Executive will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the Severance Payment paid to the Executive prior the Executive’s breach, in addition
to any damages the Employer may be able to recover. The Employer shall not have any additional liability or obligation hereunder by reason of such
termination.
(d) This Section 9 shall not apply to any termination of this Agreement with notice under Section 2(a)(i).
10. CHANGE IN CONTROL.
(a) Effectiveness of Section. If at any time during the term of the Executive’s employment by the Employer pursuant to this Agreement, a Change
in Control of the Employer (as defined below) shall occur, the provisions of this Section 10 shall become effective without any limitation on any other rights
the Executive may have under this Agreement. Sections (c) and (d) of this Section 10 shall become ineffective with respect to such Change in Control on the
first anniversary of the date on which such Change in Control occurs (the “Change in Control Date”) unless the Executive’s employment has theretofore been
terminated for any reason; provided, however, that if another Change in Control occurs after such first anniversary, Sections 10(c) and (d) shall become
effective once again with respect to such subsequent Change in Control. If the Executive’s employment so terminates prior to such first anniversary, the
provisions of Sections 10(c) and (d) shall survive so long as the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries are entitled to any benefits under this Agreement.
(b) Definition of Change in Control. For the purpose of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean:
(i) the acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (a “Person”) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning o Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either (A) the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Employer (the “Outstanding Employer
Common Stock”) or (B) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Employer entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors (the “Outstanding Employer Voting
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Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this clause (i), the following acquisitions shall not constitute a Change in Control: (u) any acquisition
directly from the Employer, (w) any acquisition by the Employer, (x) any acquisition by any executive benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained
by the Employer or any corporation controlled by the Employer, (y) any acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with
clauses (A), (B) and (C) of clause (iii) of this Section 10(b), or (z) any acquisition by David L. Dunkel or his family members; or
(ii) individuals who, as of the date of this Agreement, constitute the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Incumbent Board”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Board”); provided, however, that any individual
becoming a director subsequent to the date of this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Employer’s shareholders, was approved by a
vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the
Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election
contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or
(iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets
of the Employer (a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the Persons who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and Outstanding Employer Voting Securities immediately prior to such
Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock and the
combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation
resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Employer or all or
substantially all of the Employer’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership,
immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and Outstanding Employer Voting Securities, as the case may
be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any executive benefit plan (or related trust) of the Employer or
such corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, twenty-five percent or more of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding
voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination and (C) at least a majority of the
members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were
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members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business
Combination; or
(iv) approval by the shareholders of the Employer of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Employer.
(c) Certain Restrictions and Events Following Change in Control. If a Change in Control of the Employer occurs, then the following provisions
shall apply:
(i) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect, pursuant to
Section 4(b), any Additional Benefits which are described in Section 4(b) to which the Executive shall thereafter be entitled even in connection with a
reduction in such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers who are of a similar class and station as those of the Executive. If the continuation of
any benefit provided to the Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any benefit lost by the
Executive;
(ii) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate, or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect the Executive’s
individual perquisites, as described in Section 4(c) and must maintain these benefits as currently enjoyed by the Executive immediately prior to any Change
in Control; and
(iii) all stock options, restricted stock awards, equity-based incentive plans, SERP and similar grants theretofore or thereafter made
which are unvested shall immediately fully vest effective as of the Change in Control Date.
(d) Provisions Applicable to Termination of Employment. If a Change in Control shall occur and the Executive’s employment is thereafter
terminated at any time prior to the first anniversary of the Change in Control Date by the Employer other than for Cause or by the Executive for Good
Reason, then the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:
(i) the Executive shall be entitled to all payments and benefits provided in Section 7;
(ii) the payments required by the provisions of clause (i) of Section 9(c) shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within
ten days after the Date of Termination (or such later date as the Executive may elect);
(iii) the Executive shall receive as severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary subsequent to the Date of Termination and any
Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) above, an amount in cash equal to 2.99 times
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the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination. In addition, all benefits enjoyed by the Executive on the Date of Termination shall continue for a period
of 2 years and 364 days after the Date of Termination. In addition, the Executive will receive the average of the last 3 years’ bonuses, which average shall be
computed in the manner described in Section 9(c)(ii) above. The severance sum shall be paid to the Executive within 30 days of the Date of Termination. If
the continuation of any benefit provided to the Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any
benefit lost by the Executive; and
(iv) the Employer shall, at its sole expense as incurred, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope and provider of
which shall be selected by the Executive in Executive’s sole reasonable discretion.
11. EXCISE TAX.
In the event the amount payable to the Executive under Section 10(d) is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Excise Tax”), or any similar tax, the Employer will pay the Executive an additional amount (the “Gross-up
Payment’) sufficient to put the Executive in the same after-tax position as if no Excise Tax had been incurred. For purposes of determining the Gross-up
Payment, the Executive’s tax rate will be deemed to be the highest marginal tax rate in effect in the year of payment, without regard to the phase-out of
itemized deductions. The Gross-up Payment shall be payable within 30 days of the payment under Section 10(d), and the Employer shall provide the
Executive with the calculations utilized to determine the amount of the Gross-up payment.
12. PROPERTY.
(a) All right, title and interest in and to Intellectual Property (as defined below) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the
Employer. During the term of this Agreement, the Executive shall not remove from the Employer’s offices or premises any documents, records, notebooks,
files, correspondence, reports, memoranda or similar materials of or containing proprietary information, or other materials or property of any kind belonging
to the Employer unless necessary or appropriate in accordance with the duties and responsibilities required by or appropriate for Executive’s position and, in
the event that such materials or property are removed, all of the foregoing shall be returned to their proper files or places of safekeeping as promptly as
possible after the removal shall serve its specific purpose. The Executive shall not make, retain, remove and/or distribute any copies of any of the foregoing
for any reason whatsoever except as may be necessary in the discharge of Executive’s assigned duties and shall not divulge to any third person the nature of
and/or contents of any of the foregoing or of any other oral or written information to which Executive may have access or with which for any reason
Executive may become familiar, except as
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disclosure shall be necessary in the performance of Executive’s duties. Upon the termination of the Executive’s employment with the Employer, Executive
shall leave with or return to the Employer all originals and copies of the foregoing then in Executive’s possession, whether prepared by the Executive or by
others.
(b) The Executive agrees that all right, title and interest in and to any innovations, designs, systems, analyses, ideas for marketing programs, and
all copyrights, patents, trademarks and trade names, or similar intangible personal property which have been or are developed or created in whole or in part
by the Executive: (i) at any time and at any place while the Executive is employed by the Employer and which, in the case of any or all of the foregoing, are
related to and used in connection with the business of the Employer; (ii) as a result of tasks assigned to the Executive by the Employer; or (iii) from the use of
premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Employer (collectively, the “Intellectual Property”),
shall be and remain forever the sole and exclusive property of the Employer. The Executive shall promptly disclose to the Employer all Intellectual Property,
and the Executive shall have no claim for additional compensation for the Intellectual Property.
(c) The Executive acknowledges that all the Intellectual Property that is copyrightable shall be considered a work made for hire under United
States Copyright Law. To the extent that any copyrightable Intellectual Property may not be considered a work made for hire under the applicable provisions
of the United States Copyright Law, or to the extent that, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the Executive may retain an interest in any Intellectual
Property that is not copyrightable, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to the Employer any and all right, title, or interest that the
Executive may have in the Intellectual Property under copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark law, in perpetuity or for the longest period otherwise
permitted by law, without the necessity of further consideration. The Employer shall be entitled to obtain and hold in its own name all copyrights, patents,
trade secrets, and trademarks with respect thereto.
(d) The Executive further agrees to reveal promptly all information relating to the Intellectual Property to appropriate officers of the Employer
and to cooperate with the Employer and execute such documents as may be necessary or appropriate (i) in the event that the Employer desires to seek
copyright, patent or trademark protection, or other analogous protection relating to the Intellectual Property, and when such protection is obtained, to renew
and restore the same, or (ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of obtaining and maintaining such copyright, patent or trademark protection, or
other analogous protection.
(e) In the event the Employer is unable after reasonable effort to secure the Executive’s signature on any of the documents referenced in Section
12(d) above, whether because of the Executive’s physical or mental incapacity or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive hereby irrevocably
designates and
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appoints the Employer and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in Executive’s behalf and stead
to execute and file any such documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of any such copyright, patent or
trademark protection, or other analogous protection, with the same legal force and effect as if executed by the Executive.
13. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
Acceptance of this Agreement requires the Executive’s separate signature and acceptance of the Confidential Information Agreement and
Restrictive Covenant attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A.
14. ASSUMPTION BY SUCCESSOR.
The Employer will require any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Employer to (i) expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and the same extent the Employer
would be required to perform it as if no such succession had taken place; and (ii) notify the Executive of the assumption of this Agreement within ten days of
such assumption. Failure of the Employer to obtain such assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this
agreement. As used in this Agreement, “Employer” shall mean Kforce Inc. and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise. However, this agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, and distributees, devisees and legatees.
15. NO SET-OFF.
Except as contemplated by Section 5(b), the Employer’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to
perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right, or action which the Employer
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of
mitigation of the amounts payable, or benefits to be provided, to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement, and, except as expressly
provided in Sections 5(c), such amounts shall not be reduced whether or not the Executive obtains other employment.
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16. INDEMNIFICATION.
The Employer and the Executive acknowledge that the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer exposes the Executive to risks of
personal liability arising from, and pertaining to, the Executive’s participation in the management of the Employer. The Employer shall defend, indemnify
and hold harmless the Executive from any actual cost, loss, damages, attorneys fees, or liability suffered or incurred by the Executive arising out of, or
connected to, the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer. The Employer shall not be obligated to indemnify the Executive if the cost, loss, damage,
or liability results from the Executive’s violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Executive’s violation of criminal law, a transaction
from which the Executive received an improper personal benefit, the Executive’s violation of Section 607.0834 of the Florida Business Corporation Act (or
any successor law), or the Executive’s willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the best interests of the Employer. The Employer will not have any
obligation to the Executive under this section for any loss suffered if the Executive voluntarily pays, settles, compromises, confesses judgment for, or admits
liability with respect to without the approval of the Employer. Within thirty days after the Executive receives notice of any claim or action which may give
rise to the application of this section, the Executive shall notify the Employer in writing of the claim or action. The Executive’s failure to timely notify the
Employer of the claim or action will relieve the Employer from any obligation to the Executive under this section.
17. PRIOR EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS.
The Executive represents that he/she has not executed any agreement with any previous employer which may impose restrictions on Executive’s
employment with the Employer.
18. TRANSFERABILITY, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.
The rights and obligations of the Employer under this Agreement shall be transferable and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by or against its successors and assigns. No rights or obligations of the Executive hereunder shall be transferable or
assignable by the Executive to any third party.
19. ATTORNEY’S FEES.
The prevailing party in any action brought to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief that may
be granted, to a reasonable sum for attorney’s fees and costs incurred by such party in enforcing this Agreement (including fees incurred on any appeal).
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20. NO ORAL MODIFICATIONS.
No modifications or waivers of any provision hereof will be binding or valid unless in writing and executed by both parties.
21. WAIVER.
Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such
provision or provisions, or prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted the parties in this
Agreement are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
22. SEVERABILITY.
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof, and this Agreement
shall be construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted.
23. GOVERNING LAW AND BINDING EFFECT.
This Agreement was entered into in the State of Florida and shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of Florida.
24. CAPTIONS.
Captions and section headings used herein are for convenience only, are not of this Agreement, and shall not be used in construing this
Agreement.
25. COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.
26. NOTICE.
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if it is in writing and sent by hand delivery or by United
States Express Mail service to the parties at the following addresses:
To the Employer:

1001 E. Palm Ave
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
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To the Executive:

16203 Villareal de Avila
Tampa, Florida 33613
Attn: William L. Sanders

27. ARBITRATION.
Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in Tampa, Florida in
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered in the arbitrator’s award in any court having
jurisdiction. Such arbitration shall occur only after the parties have attempted to resolve the dispute or controversy by mediation under mutually agreeable
terms.
28. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.
This Agreement, and the attached Exhibit A, comprise the entire agreement between the Executive and the Employer. This Agreement
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be modified or terminated
orally. No modification, termination, or attempted waiver shall be valid unless it is in writing and is executed by each of the parties.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of July 1, 2003.
KFORCE, INC.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ William L. Sanders
William L. Sanders
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EXHIBIT A
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) dated as of March 16, 2005, is entered into by and between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Employer”) and
William Sanders (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to employ or continue employing the Executive and the Executive wishes to accept or continue employment upon the terms and
conditions set forth in the parties’ Employment Agreement (the “Employment Agreement”) and this Agreement. The Executive recognizes and agrees that
because of Executive’s employment with the Employer he/she has been and will be afforded an opportunity to learn confidential and proprietary information
and to know of and/or become known to various customers, potential customers and employees of the Employer and to learn the Employer’s business
practices. The Executive recognizes that this is a valuable right, is of great personal benefit to Executive in Executive’s career and therefore provides
sufficient basis for the restrictive covenants contained in this Agreement. Also, as set forth in the Employment Agreement, the Employer agrees to pay the
Executive significant severance pay under certain circumstances in consideration for the Executive’s agreement not to compete with the Employer.
Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows:
TERMS
1. Acknowledgement of Legitimate Business Interest of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges that as a result of Executive’s employment with
the Employer he/she has accepted and received trade secrets, valuable confidential business and professional information, substantial relationships with
specific prospective or existing clients, contractors, or customers, and goodwill associated with the ongoing business of the Employer, all of which are of
particular significance to the Employer and constitute legitimate business interests that the Employer has an interest in protecting. Therefore, the Executive
agrees as follows:
(a) Confidential Information. Except for proper business purposes on Employer’s behalf, at all times for the period of time commencing as of the
date of this Agreement and ending on the second anniversary of the date of termination of the Executive’s employment under the Employment Agreement
(the “Restriction Period”) the Executive agrees not to disclose or use any confidential information, including without limitation, information regarding
research, strategy, developments, product designs or specifications, processes, “know-how,” prices, suppliers, customers, contractors, candidates, clients, costs
or any other knowledge

or information with respect to confidential information or trade secrets of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that all notes, lists, data,
records, business forms, studies, marketing materials, training materials, reports, sketches, plans, unpublished memoranda and other documents (whether
electronic or hardcopy) concerning any information relating to the Employer’s business, held or created by the Executive, whether confidential or not, are the
property of the Employer and will not be used or retained by Executive except on behalf of employer in the course of Executive’s employment, and will not
be retained by Executive upon termination of Executive’s employment.
(b) Non-Solicitation. At all times during the Restriction Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, induce, influence, combine
or conspire with, or attempt to induce, any executive, employee, vendor, client, contractor, or supplier of the Employer to terminate their employment, or
other relationship with, or compete against the Employer or any present or future affiliates of the Employer in the Employer’s industry (the “Business”). In
particular, and without in any way limiting the forgoing, the Executive agrees that during the Restriction Period, whether the termination shall be voluntary
or involuntary, with or without cause, or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly: (a) attempt to hire any other
executive or employee of the Employer, including persons on assignment with clients, or otherwise encourage or attempt to encourage any other executive or
employee of the Employer to leave employment or terminate an assignment with the Employer; or (b) in any manner or at any time, solicit or encourage any
person, firm, corporation, or any business entity who are customers, clients, contractors, or prospective clients or contractors of the Employer to cease or
refrain from doing business with the Employer. Executive further agrees, during the Restriction Period, to refrain from directly or indirectly soliciting
business from any client of Employer with whom Executive had contact during the term of Executive’s employment with Employer. In the event the
Executive breaches any term contained in this Section, the Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the severance payments described in the
Employment Agreement (which includes both the Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement as well as any other
severance payable pursuant to Section 10(d)(iii) of the Employment Agreement) and will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the
severance payments paid to the Executive prior to the Executive’s breach, in addition to any damages the Employer may be able to recover.
(c) Exception. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event: (i) the Executive resigns for “Good Reason”
(as such term is defined in Section 9(a) of the Employment Agreement) or is terminated without “Cause” (as such term is defined in Section 8 of the
Employment Agreement), and (ii) the Executive delivers a written statement to the Company specifically releasing the Company from paying any Severance
Payment as contemplated by Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement (in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company), then the provisions of Section
1(b) of this Agreement shall have no force or effect.
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2. Severability and Specific Performance.
(a) If, in any judicial proceedings, a court shall refuse to enforce any of the covenants included in Paragraph 1(a) and (b), above, then such
unenforceable covenant shall be amended to relate to such lesser period or geographical area as shall be enforceable. In the event the Employer should bring
any legal action or other proceeding against the Executive for enforcement of this Agreement, the calculation of the Restriction Period, if any, shall not
include the period of time commencing with the filing of legal action or other proceeding to enforce this Agreement through the date of final judgment or
final resolution including all appeals, if any, of such legal action or other proceeding unless the Employer is receiving the practical benefits of Paragraph 1(a)
and/or (b), as applicable, during such time.
(b) The Executive hereby acknowledges that the restrictions on Executive’s activity as set forth in Paragraphs 1(a) and (b) hereof are required for
the Employer’s reasonable protection and are a material inducement for the Employer to retain or continue to retain the services of Executive. The Executive
hereby agrees that in the event of the violation by Executive of any such provisions of this Agreement, the Employer will suffer irreparable harm and will be
entitled to equitable relief, including an order requiring specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any damages that may be recoverable.
3. Miscellaneous Provisions.
(a) Notice: All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications under this Agreement will be in writing. Any notice, request,
demand, claim, or other communication under this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if delivered personally, telecopied (if confirmed), or sent by
registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below (or at such other address for a party as shall be
specified by like notice):
If to Executive:
16203 Villareal de Avila
Tampa, Florida 33613
Attn: William Sanders
3

If to the Employer:
Kforce Inc.
1001 East Palm Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
(b) Entire Agreement, Amendments. Except for the Employment Agreement and other agreements and writings expressly provided for therein,
this Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties to this Agreement relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, and
supersedes any prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, or representations of every nature between the parties. This Agreement may not be
changed or modified, except by an agreement in writing signed by each of the parties to this Agreement.
(c) Waiver. The waiver of the breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any other or
subsequent breach of this Agreement.
(d) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Florida, without regard to the conflict-oflaws provisions thereof.
(e) Invalidity. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of any other provision of this Agreement, and such
provision(s) shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to make it or them enforceable.
(f) Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original
as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and all of such shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become
binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of all of the parties reflected hereon as the signatories.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
Kforce Inc.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ William L. Sanders
William L. Sanders
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Exhibit 10.3
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of March 16, 2005, between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the
“Employer”), and Joe Liberatore (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to continue to obtain the benefit of services by the Executive, and the Executive desires to continue to render services to
the Employer.
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Employer has determined that it is in the Employer’s best interest and that of its
shareholders to recognize the substantial contribution that the Executive has made and is expected to make in the future to the Employer’s business and to
continue to retain Executive’s services in the future.
The Employer and the Executive desire to set forth in this Agreement the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the
Employer. Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations set forth below, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Employer and the Executive agree as follows:
TERMS
1. EMPLOYMENT.
The Executive agrees to continue employment with the Employer (and one or more of the Employer’s subsidiary corporations if and when
assigned by Employer) to render the services specified in this Agreement upon the terms and conditions and for the compensation provided in this
Agreement, and Employer agrees to so employ Executive. All compensation paid to the Executive by the Employer or any subsidiary of the Employer, and
all benefits and perquisites received by the Executive from the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, will be aggregated in determining whether the Executive
has received the compensation and benefits provided for in this Agreement.
2. TERM OF EMPLOYMENT.
(a) End of Term. The term of the employment of the Executive under this Agreement will be for the period commencing on the date of
this Agreement and ending on the earliest of:
(i) 2 years and 364 days after notice of termination of this Agreement is given by the Employer to the Executive;

(ii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Executive at Executive’s election and without “Good Reason”
(as defined in Section 9 of this Agreement);
(iii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Employer for “Cause” (as defined in Section 8 of this
Agreement) or by the Employer without Cause in accordance with Section 9 or by the Executive for Good Reason pursuant to Section 9;
(iv) the date of the Executive’s death; or
(v) the Disability Effective Date (as such term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement) following the Executive’s Disability (as
such term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
It is understood that at each and every moment of time the remaining term of employment hereunder shall be 2 years and 364 days, unless this Agreement or
Executive’s employment is terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.
(b) Date of Termination. As used in this Agreement the term “Date of Termination” means (i) if the Executive’s employment is terminated
by the Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 2(a) above, the date that is 2 years and 364 days after the date of the Executive’s receipt of the notice of
termination of this Agreement or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive terminates Executive’s employment at
Executive’s election and without Good Reason pursuant to clause (ii) of Section 2(a), the date of the Employer’s receipt of the notice of termination from the
Executive or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Employer for Cause or by the
Employer without Cause pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement, or by the Executive for Good Reason, fifteen days after the date of receipt of the notice of
termination by the Executive or the Employer, respectively, or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iv) if the Executive’s employment
terminates by reason of the Executive’s voluntary retirement, the date that such retirement becomes effective in accordance with the Employer’s plans and
policies; and (v) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective
Date (as that term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
3. SERVICES TO BE RENDERED; EXCLUSIVITY.
(a) Service. During the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall perform the duties of Chief
Financial Officer, or any reasonably comparable duties that may be assigned to the Executive from time to time.
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(b) Full Time Efforts. During the term of this Agreement and excluding any periods of vacation, family or sick leave or holidays to which
the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote Executive’s full business time and energy to the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries, and matters related thereto, and shall use Executive’s reasonable commercial efforts and ability to promote the interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries. The Executive agrees that he/she will diligently endeavor to promote the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its subsidiaries and
that Executive will perform services contemplated hereby in accordance with the policies established by the Employer from time to time. The Executive shall
serve without additional remuneration in such senior executive capacities for one or more direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Employer as the Employer may
from time to time request, subject to appropriate authorization by the subsidiary or subsidiaries involved and any limitations under applicable law and
indemnification on the same terms as the Executive is indemnified by the Employer. The failure of the Executive to discharge an order or perform a function
because the Executive reasonably and in good faith believes such would violate a law or regulation or be dishonest shall not be deemed a breach by
Executive of Executive’s obligations or duties under this Agreement and shall not entitle the Employer to terminate this Agreement pursuant to any of its
provisions.
(c) Certain Permissible Activities. The Executive may serve as a director or in any other capacity of any business enterprise, including an
enterprise whose activities may involve or relate to the business of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries but only if such service is expressly approved by
the Employer in writing. The Executive may (i) make and manage personal business investments of Executive’s choice, (ii) teach at educational institutions
and deliver lectures, and (iii) serve in any capacity with any civic, educational or charitable organization, or any governmental entity or trade association, in
each such case without seeking or obtaining approval by the Employer so long as such activities and service do not materially interfere or conflict with the
performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement. It is agreed that to the extent that the Employer shall have approved any service of the Executive
pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to a Change in Control Date (as defined in Section 10 below), or to the extent that the Executive may
have engaged in activities pursuant to the second sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to such Change in Control Date, the continued conduct of such activities
or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto during the 2 years and 364 days subsequent to such Change in Control Date shall be
permissible and not in violation of any provisions of this Agreement and the previously obtained Employer approval may not be revoked or limited in any
material respect during the 2 years and 364 days following such Change in Control Date.
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4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.
(a) Base Salary. The Employer agrees that the Executive will be paid for Executive’s services under this Agreement a salary at the annual
rate of at least $350,000, payable in periodic installments in accordance with the Employer’s normal salary payment dates for the Executive. Such salary as in
effect from time to time is referred to in this Agreement as the Executive’s “Base Salary.”
(b) Additional Benefits. The Executive shall also be entitled during the term of this Agreement to all rights and benefits for which
Executive is otherwise eligible under any bonus plan, stock option plan, stock purchase plan, participation or extra compensation plan, supplemental
executive retirement plan, deferred compensation plan, profit-sharing plan, life, medical and dental insurance policy, director and officer liability insurance
plan or indemnification program, vacation, sick leave, family leave and holiday program or plan, or plans that confer the use of automobiles or
condominiums (and pay the related expenses thereof) or that pay for club membership fees or tax or financial counseling or other plans or benefits, in any
such case, which the Employer or any of its subsidiaries (i) may provide for the Executive or (ii) provided the Executive is eligible to participate therein, may
provide generally to officers of the Employer (collectively, “Additional Benefits”). This Agreement shall not affect adversely (from the perspective of the
Executive) the provisions of any other compensation, retirement or other benefit program or plan of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries and shall not be
considered to be a guarantee that the Executive will receive any awards or other benefits under any plans, policies or arrangements which are performancerelated. Moreover, Executive’s participation in any such plan shall be subject to the provisions of applicable law, including the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
(c) Individual Benefits. The Employer shall continue to provide to the Executive such individual perquisites as are in effect for
Executive as of the first day of Executive’s employment under this agreement.
(d) Expense Reimbursement. The Employer agrees to reimburse the Executive in full for all such reasonable and necessary business,
entertainment and travel expenses incurred or expended by Executive in connection with the performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement;
provided the Executive submits to the Employer vouchers or expense statements satisfactorily evidencing such expenses as may be reasonably required by
the Employer and such expenses are in accordance with any applicable corporate policy.
(e) Limitations on Reductions. The Employer shall have the right to reduce one or more Additional Benefits but only in conjunction
with a corollary reduction of such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers. Any increase in the Executive’s Base Salary shall not serve to limit or
reduce any other obligation to the Executive under this Agreement.
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5. TERMINATION UPON DISABILITY.
(a) Continuation of Benefits upon Disability. If the Executive becomes totally and permanently unable to perform Executive’s duties
because of any Disability (as defined below) during the term of Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive’s full-time employment under
this Agreement shall terminate effective on the thirtieth day after the Executive’s receipt of written notice of termination from the Employer (such thirtieth
day being referred to in this Agreement as the “Disability Effective Date”). In addition to the payments specified in Section 6 below, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 5, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide the Executive the following:
(i) until the earliest to occur of the Executive’s death, the Executive’s 65th birthday, 2 years and 364 days after the Disability
Effective Date or the date of the Executive’s return to full-time employment hereunder pursuant to Section 5(f) (such earliest day being referred to herein as
the “Disability Termination of Benefits Date”) the Base Salary, medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits in which the
Executive was participating immediately prior to the Disability Effective Date (including, without limitation, medical, dental, life and disability insurance),
each such benefit to be continued in a manner no less favorable to the Executive than the benefit to which Executive was entitled immediately prior to the
Disability Effective Date; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during the 2 years and 364 days after the Disability Effective Date, the
Employer shall continue to pay the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis described in
this clause (i), to the Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death for the balance of such 2
years and 364 days period;
(ii) until the Disability Effective Date, a continuation of vesting of all unvested stock options granted by the Employer to the
Executive, such vesting to occur in accordance with the terms of each such grant as in effect on the Disability Effective Date and upon the assumption that no
termination of employment had occurred; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during the 2 years and 364 days immediately after the
Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Effective Date, such vesting shall include any vesting which would occur
upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and provided, further, that, if and to the extent further vesting is
prohibited by the terms of any one or more of such grants or otherwise, the Executive shall be entitled to in-lieu cash payments from the Employer on each
date (each a “Vesting Date”) when vesting would have occurred absent such prohibition, but in no event beyond 2 years and 364 days
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following the Disability Effective Date, equal to the spread on such Vesting Date between the exercise price and fair market value of stock subject to stock
options that would have otherwise vested on such Vesting Date; and provided, further, that if, after the Disability Effective Date, it is or becomes impossible
on any date to continue to calculate any future in-lieu cash payments based on such continuation of vesting, the Executive shall thereupon be entitled
immediately to the additional vesting which would normally have occurred during such 2 years and 364 days period following the Disability Effective Date
with respect to the affected type of in-lieu cash payments described above and shall be entitled immediately to receive payment of the amount specified for
such type of in-lieu cash payments based on such additional vesting as of such date; and
(iii) until the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, if the Executive is a participant in such plans on the Executive’s Disability
Effective Date, a continuation of crediting of additional years of cumulative service (for all purposes, including for purposes of accrual and vesting of
benefits and equity-based incentives) under any Executive Retirement Plan, Deferred Compensation Plan and/or Senior Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (collectively, the “SERP”) in accordance with the terms of the SERP and upon the assumption that no termination of employment had occurred;
provided, however, that if the Disability Termination of Benefits Date occurs due to the Executive’s death during the 2 years and 364 days immediately after
the Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, such continuation shall include any further
accrual and vesting which would occur upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and
(b) Offset. The obligations of the Employer to make payments under this Agreement to the Executive, pursuant to this Section 5,
following Executive’s Disability shall be reduced prospectively to the extent that the Executive receives payment of amounts under any salary continuation
or similar feature contained in any disability insurance policy covering the Executive or under any salary continuation or similar feature under Social
Security or any similar federal, state or local program. In addition, any medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits to be
provided by the Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 5(a) shall be secondary to any similar benefits provided by Social Security, Medicare, any private
insurance maintained by or covering the Executive or any other similar plan or program covering the Executive. The Executive shall provide to the
Employer upon written request from time to time a certification as to the types and amounts of the benefits referred to in the first two sentences of this Section
5(b) received by the Executive or to which Executive is entitled.
(c) Substitution of Benefits. If the Executive’s full-time services are terminated due to Executive’s Disability and the Executive is entitled under
the terms of this Agreement to, but is no longer eligible under the relevant plan for,
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Additional Benefits because of such termination, the Executive (or in the event of Executive’s death prior to the date that is 2 years and 364 days after the
Disability Effective Date, Executive’s designated Beneficiaries (as defined in Section 7 below)) shall be entitled to, and the Employer shall provide, to the
extent required by in this Agreement, benefits substantially equivalent to such Additional Benefits to which the Executive was entitled immediately prior to
Executive’s Disability and shall do so for the period during which Executive remains entitled to receive such Additional Benefits as provided in this Section
5. With respect to the continuation of such benefits, the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries (as such term is defined in Section 7) shall also be paid by the
Employer an amount which, after federal, state, local or other income or other taxes on such amount, shall reimburse the Executive (or Executive’s
Beneficiaries) for any additional tax liabilities incurred by the Executive (or any such Beneficiary) by reason of the receipt of such benefits after the
termination of, rather than during the term of, Executive’s employment under this Agreement.
(d) Partial Disability. In the event of a partial Disability of the Executive, it is understood that the Executive will provide such part-time services
as may be consistent with the nature and extent of such Disability and Executive’s position, duties, responsibilities and status specified in Section 3(a) of this
Agreement, the Employer shall not be entitled to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement as a result of such partial Disability (provided
that despite such partial disability, the Executive is able to substantially perform most of Executive’s duties), and the terms and conditions of this Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect after such partial Disability.
(e) Definition of Disability. As used in this Agreement, the term “Disability” means the failure of the Executive to render for six consecutive
calendar months, or for shorter periods aggregating one hundred eighty or more business days in any twelve month period, the services contemplated by this
Agreement which a physician selected by the Employer or its insurers (and reasonably acceptable to the Executive or the Executive’s legal representative)
determines is due to mental or physical illness or injury.
(f) Return from Disability. If and to the extent the Executive recovers from any such Disability, Executive will resume Executive’s duties and
responsibilities hereunder partially or fully to the extent of Executive’s recovery, and the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be
reinstated as if the Executive’s employment had not been terminated pursuant to Section 5(a) of this Agreement.
6. DEATH OF THE EXECUTIVE.
(a) Vesting of Options. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer or while receiving any payments on account of a Disability as
set forth in Section 5 above and during the term of this Agreement, all stock options
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standing in the name of the Executive shall immediately fully vest and must be exercised within 90 days of the date of the Executive’s death by the
appropriate beneficiary.
(b) Continuation of Base Salary and Benefits. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer and during the term of this Agreement,
the Employer shall continue to pay the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis
described in Section 5(a)(i), to the Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death, for a period of
2 years and 364 days following Executive’s death.
7. PAYMENTS AND BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR ANY REASON.
On the Date of Termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Executive’s Base Salary will
cease thereafter to accrue except as specifically provided in Sections 5, 6 or 9 and the Executive (or in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s designated
beneficiaries, Executive’s personal representative, or the executor or administrator of Executive’s estate (Executive’s “Beneficiaries”)) will be entitled to such
rights and benefits under the Employer’s compensation and benefit plans, policies and arrangements in which the Executive is then a participant as may be
provided for under such plans, policies and arrangements (which shall not be modified adversely to the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries after
Executive’s Date of Termination). In addition, the Employer shall:
(a) pay and deliver to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to Executive’s Beneficiaries) not later than thirty days after
Executive’s Date of Termination or such later date as the Executive or such Beneficiaries may request in writing, all amounts of money and all stock or other
property owed to Executive by the Employer as of the Date of Termination, including but not limited to Executive’s accrued Base Salary, any amounts
payable in lieu of accrued vacation, amounts payable to Executive under any expense reimbursement plans or policies for expenses incurred through the
Date of Termination, the amount of any bonus due under any incentive plan to the Executive for any bonus period or performance measurement cycle of the
Employer that ended prior to the Date of Termination which remained unpaid on the Date of Termination and any compensation previously deferred by the
Executive and any accrued interest on earnings on such deferred compensation to the extent not previously paid to the Executive;
(b) cause the trustee of any trusteed plan of the Employer to pay and deliver, and the Employer shall pay and deliver under any similar nontrusteed plan of the Employer, to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to Executive’s Beneficiaries), at the earliest practicable date after
payments become due under such plan, all money, stock and other property which such plans require to be paid or delivered or are otherwise payable or
deliverable to Executive after the termination of Executive’s employment;
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(c) continue to insure the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) with respect to Executive’s activities as a
director, officer or Executive of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, for a period of three years after such Date of Termination, under such policies of
director and officer liability insurance as Employer shall provide for its senior officers generally; provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have
occurred prior to such Date of Termination or shall thereafter occur, such policies of insurance shall be no less favorable to the Executive than such policies
as may have been in effect for the Executive at any time during the one hundred twenty day period immediately preceding the Change in Control Date; and
(d) continue to honor such rights to indemnification as the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) may be
entitled pursuant to any plan of indemnification or indemnification agreement in effect at the Date of Termination.
(e) The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the payments and benefits described in Section 7(a) – (d) above in the event
that the Executive breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such
breach the Executive will pay to the Employer any damages the Employer may be able to recover, in addition to any other relief to which Employer may be
entitled.
8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY EMPLOYER FOR CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if the termination is for Cause. For
purposes of this Agreement, the Employer shall have “Cause” to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if, and only if, any of the
following shall occur:
(i) the Executive’s conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction or entry of a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere for an act
on the Executive’s part constituting any felony; or
(ii) a willful breach by the Executive of any provisions of this Agreement if such breach results in demonstrably material injury to
the Employer.
(iii) the Executive’s willful dishonesty or fraud with respect to business or affairs of the Employer if such dishonesty or fraud
results in demonstrable material injury to Employer.
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(b) Procedural Requirements. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall not be subject to termination for Cause without: (i)
reasonable notice to the Executive setting forth the reasons for Employer’s intention to terminate and specifying the particulars thereof in detail, and (ii) an
opportunity for the Executive to cure any such breach, if possible, within thirty days after receipt of such notice.
9. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE FOR GOOD REASON OR BY EMPLOYER WITHOUT CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Good Reason. The Executive may terminate Executive’s employment under this Agreement and all of Executive’s obligations
under this Agreement to the Employer accruing after the date of such termination (other than Executive’s obligations under Sections 12, 13, 16, 18, 19, 26,
and 27) if the termination is for “Good Reason,” which for purposes of this Agreement is defined as:
(i) failure by the Employer to perform any of its obligations hereunder (including, but not limited to, Employer’s obligations under
Sections 3 and 4) other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith; or
(ii) the diminution of the Executive’s salary and or a material diminution of the Executive’s benefits, except in connection with
the termination of the Executive’s employment for permanent disability, Cause, as a result of the Executive’s death or termination by the Executive other
than for Good Reason;
(iii) any failure by the Employer to obtain the assumption of this Agreement by any successor or assignee of the Employer;
(iv) any attempt by the Employer to terminate the Executive for Cause which does not result in a valid termination for Cause.
Any termination by Employee for Good Reason will be effective only upon Employer’s failure to cure following thirty days’ prior written notice of the Good
Reason from the Executive to the Employer.
(b) Employer’s Termination Without Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement without Cause (as
defined above) by written notice to the Executive. Any such termination shall become effective upon fifteen days, prior written notice from the Employer to
the Executive.
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(c) Compensation and Benefits Upon Section 9 Termination. In addition to the payments specified in Section 7 of this Agreement, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 9, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide to the Executive the following:
(i) Salary through Date of Termination at the rate in effect immediately prior to the time a Notice of Termination is given plus any
benefits and awards (including both cash and stock components) which pursuant to the terms of any Plans have been earned and otherwise payable, but
which have not been paid;
(ii) As severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary for any period subsequent to the Date of Termination, an amount in cash equal to
two times the sum of the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination plus the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses (the “Severance
Payment”). For the purposes of the definition of “Severance Payment” the Company shall compute the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses by
including the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, already earned by the Executive at the time of termination related to the calendar year of the termination or (B)
the bonus, if any, earned in the third full calendar year preceding the termination of the Executive (e.g., if the Executive is terminated on August 1, 2005 (and
this Section 9 is applicable), the Company shall include in the bonus calculation the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive through August
1, 2005, or (B) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive in calendar year 2002). Additionally, also for the purpose of the definition of “Severance Payment,”
in the event the Executive received a grant of stock, restricted stock or stock options during any relevant year (a “Grant”), then the Company shall compute
the average of the Executive’s last three years’ bonuses by including: (i) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock grant, the amount reported by the
Company to the Internal Revenue Service relating to such stock grant for the relevant year; (ii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a restricted stock grant, the
full grant price, computed for the purposes of this agreement by multiplying the number of granted restricted shares by the closing share price on the grant
date, and; (iii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock option grant, the imputed present value of such options at the time of the grant, defined for purposes
of this agreement as 50% of the exercise price. For example, if the Executive is terminated on October 1, 2003 (and this Section 9 is applicable) and the
Executive received a cash bonus of $300,000 in 2002, a bonus consisting of stock with a value reported to the Internal Revenue Service of $400,000 in 2001,
and a bonus consisting of options with an Option Value of $425,000 in 2000, then the average bonus for calculating the Severance Payment will be
$375,000.
(iii) The Executive will have 90 days subsequent to the Date of Termination to exercise all stock options and restricted stock awards that
have been granted and were vested at Date of Termination; and
(iv) All salary and benefits shall cease at the time of such termination, subject to the terms of any benefit or compensation plan then in
force
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and applicable to the Executive. The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the Severance Payment in the event that the Executive
breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidential Information Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such breach the
Executive will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the Severance Payment paid to the Executive prior the Executive’s breach, in addition
to any damages the Employer may be able to recover. The Employer shall not have any additional liability or obligation hereunder by reason of such
termination.
(d) This Section 9 shall not apply to any termination of this Agreement with notice under Section 2(a)(i).
10. CHANGE IN CONTROL.
(a) Effectiveness of Section. If at any time during the term of the Executive’s employment by the Employer pursuant to this Agreement, a Change
in Control of the Employer (as defined below) shall occur, the provisions of this Section 10 shall become effective without any limitation on any other rights
the Executive may have under this Agreement. Sections (c) and (d) of this Section 10 shall become ineffective with respect to such Change in Control on the
first anniversary of the date on which such Change in Control occurs (the “Change in Control Date”) unless the Executive’s employment has theretofore been
terminated for any reason; provided, however, that if another Change in Control occurs after such first anniversary, Sections 10(c) and (d) shall become
effective once again with respect to such subsequent Change in Control. If the Executive’s employment so terminates prior to such first anniversary, the
provisions of Sections 10(c) and (d) shall survive so long as the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries are entitled to any benefits under this Agreement.
(b) Definition of Change in Control. For the purpose of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean:
(i) the acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (a “Person”) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning o Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either (A) the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Employer (the “Outstanding Employer
Common Stock”) or (B) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Employer entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors (the “Outstanding Employer Voting Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this clause (i), the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (u) any acquisition directly from the Employer, (w) any acquisition by the Employer, (x) any acquisition by any executive
benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Employer or any corporation controlled by the Employer, (y) any acquisition by any
corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of clause (iii) of this Section 10(b), or (z) any acquisition by David L.
Dunkel or his family members; or
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(ii) individuals who, as of the date of this Agreement, constitute the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Incumbent Board”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Board”); provided, however, that any individual
becoming a director subsequent to the date of this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Employer’s shareholders, was approved by a
vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the
Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election
contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or
(iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets
of the Employer (a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the Persons who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and Outstanding Employer Voting Securities immediately prior to such
Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock and the
combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation
resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Employer or all or
substantially all of the Employer’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership,
immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and Outstanding Employer Voting Securities, as the case may
be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any executive benefit plan (or related trust) of the Employer or
such corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, twenty-five percent or more of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding
voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business Combination and (C) at least a majority of the
members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the
execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or
(iv) approval by the shareholders of the Employer of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Employer.
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(c) Certain Restrictions and Events Following Change in Control. If a Change in Control of the Employer occurs, then the following provisions
shall apply:
(i) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect, pursuant to
Section 4(b), any Additional Benefits which are described in Section 4(b) to which the Executive shall thereafter be entitled even in connection with a
reduction in such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers who are of a similar class and station as those of the Executive. If the continuation of
any benefit provided to the Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any benefit lost by the
Executive;
(ii) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate, or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect the Executive’s
individual perquisites, as described in Section 4(c) and must maintain these benefits as currently enjoyed by the Executive immediately prior to any Change
in Control; and
(iii) all stock options, restricted stock awards, equity-based incentive plans, SERP and similar grants theretofore or thereafter made
which are unvested shall immediately fully vest effective as of the Change in Control Date.
(d) Provisions Applicable to Termination of Employment. If a Change in Control shall occur and the Executive’s employment is thereafter
terminated at any time prior to the first anniversary of the Change in Control Date by the Employer other than for Cause or by the Executive for Good
Reason, then the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:
(i) the Executive shall be entitled to all payments and benefits provided in Section 7;
(ii) the payments required by the provisions of clause (i) of Section 9(c) shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within
ten days after the Date of Termination (or such later date as the Executive may elect);
(iii) the Executive shall receive as severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary subsequent to the Date of Termination and any
Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) above, an amount in cash equal to 2.99 times the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination. In
addition, all benefits enjoyed by the Executive on the Date of Termination shall continue for a period of two years and 364 days after the Date of
Termination. In addition, the Executive will receive the average of the last three years bonuses, which average shall be computed in the manner described in
Section 9(c)(ii) above. The severance sum shall be paid to the Executive within 30 days of the Date of Termination. If the continuation of any benefit
provided to the Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any benefit lost by the Executive; and
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(iv) the Employer shall, at its sole expense as incurred, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope and provider of
which shall be selected by the Executive in Executive’s sole reasonable discretion.
11. EXCISE TAX.
In the event the amount payable to the Executive under Section 10(d) is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Excise Tax”), or any similar tax, the Employer will pay the Executive an additional amount (the “Gross-up
Payment’) sufficient to put the Executive in the same after-tax position as if no Excise Tax had been incurred. For purposes of determining the Gross-up
Payment, the Executive’s tax rate will be deemed to be the highest marginal tax rate in effect in the year of payment, without regard to the phase-out of
itemized deductions. The Gross-up Payment shall be payable within 30 days of the payment under Section 10(d), and the Employer shall provide the
Executive with the calculations utilized to determine the amount of the Gross-up payment.
12. PROPERTY.
(a) All right, title and interest in and to Intellectual Property (as defined below) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the
Employer. During the term of this Agreement, the Executive shall not remove from the Employer’s offices or premises any documents, records, notebooks,
files, correspondence, reports, memoranda or similar materials of or containing proprietary information, or other materials or property of any kind belonging
to the Employer unless necessary or appropriate in accordance with the duties and responsibilities required by or appropriate for Executive’s position and, in
the event that such materials or property are removed, all of the foregoing shall be returned to their proper files or places of safekeeping as promptly as
possible after the removal shall serve its specific purpose. The Executive shall not make, retain, remove and/or distribute any copies of any of the foregoing
for any reason whatsoever except as may be necessary in the discharge of Executive’s assigned duties and shall not divulge to any third person the nature of
and/or contents of any of the foregoing or of any other oral or written information to which Executive may have access or with which for any reason
Executive may become familiar, except as disclosure shall be necessary in the performance of Executive’s duties. Upon the termination of the Executive’s
employment with the Employer, Executive shall leave with or return to the Employer all originals and copies of the foregoing then in Executive’s possession,
whether prepared by the Executive or by others.
(b) The Executive agrees that all right, title and interest in and to any innovations, designs, systems, analyses, ideas for marketing programs, and
all
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copyrights, patents, trademarks and trade names, or similar intangible personal property which have been or are developed or created in whole or in part by
the Executive: (i) at any time and at any place while the Executive is employed by the Employer and which, in the case of any or all of the foregoing, are
related to and used in connection with the business of the Employer; (ii) as a result of tasks assigned to the Executive by the Employer; or (iii) from the use of
premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Employer (collectively, the “Intellectual Property”),
shall be and remain forever the sole and exclusive property of the Employer. The Executive shall promptly disclose to the Employer all Intellectual Property,
and the Executive shall have no claim for additional compensation for the Intellectual Property.
(c) The Executive acknowledges that all the Intellectual Property that is copyrightable shall be considered a work made for hire under United
States Copyright Law. To the extent that any copyrightable Intellectual Property may not be considered a work made for hire under the applicable provisions
of the United States Copyright Law, or to the extent that, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the Executive may retain an interest in any Intellectual
Property that is not copyrightable, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to the Employer any and all right, title, or interest that the
Executive may have in the Intellectual Property under copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark law, in perpetuity or for the longest period otherwise
permitted by law, without the necessity of further consideration. The Employer shall be entitled to obtain and hold in its own name all copyrights, patents,
trade secrets, and trademarks with respect thereto.
(d) The Executive further agrees to reveal promptly all information relating to the Intellectual Property to appropriate officers of the Employer
and to cooperate with the Employer and execute such documents as may be necessary or appropriate (i) in the event that the Employer desires to seek
copyright, patent or trademark protection, or other analogous protection relating to the Intellectual Property, and when such protection is obtained, to renew
and restore the same, or (ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of obtaining and maintaining such copyright, patent or trademark protection, or
other analogous protection.
(e) In the event the Employer is unable after reasonable effort to secure the Executive’s signature on any of the documents referenced in Section
12(d) above, whether because of the Executive’s physical or mental incapacity or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Employer and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in Executive’s
behalf and stead to execute and file any such documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of any such
copyright, patent or trademark protection, or other analogous protection, with the same legal force and effect as if executed by the Executive.
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13. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
Acceptance of this Agreement requires the Executive’s separate signature and acceptance of the Confidential Information Agreement and
Restrictive Covenant attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A.
14. ASSUMPTION BY SUCCESSOR.
The Employer will require any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Employer to (i) expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and the same extent the Employer
would be required to perform it as if no such succession had taken place; and (ii) notify the Executive of the assumption of this Agreement within ten days of
such assumption. Failure of the Employer to obtain such assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this
agreement. As used in this Agreement, “Employer” shall mean Kforce Inc. and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise. However, this agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, and distributees, devisees and legatees.
15. NO SET-OFF.
Except as contemplated by Section 5(b), the Employer’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to
perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right, or action which the Employer
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of
mitigation of the amounts payable, or benefits to be provided, to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement, and, except as expressly
provided in Sections 5(c), such amounts shall not be reduced whether or not the Executive obtains other employment.
16. INDEMNIFICATION.
The Employer and the Executive acknowledge that the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer exposes the Executive to risks of
personal liability arising from, and pertaining to, the Executive’s participation in the management of the Employer. The Employer shall defend, indemnify
and hold harmless the Executive from any actual cost, loss, damages, attorneys fees, or liability suffered or incurred by the Executive arising out of, or
connected to, the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer. The Employer shall not be
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obligated to indemnify the Executive if the cost, loss, damage, or liability results from the Executive’s violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, the Executive’s violation of criminal law, a transaction from which the Executive received an improper personal benefit, the Executive’s violation
of Section 607.0834 of the Florida Business Corporation Act (or any successor law), or the Executive’s willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the
best interests of the Employer. The Employer will not have any obligation to the Executive under this section for any loss suffered if the Executive
voluntarily pays, settles, compromises, confesses judgment for, or admits liability with respect to any matter without the approval of the Employer. Within
thirty days after the Executive receives notice of any claim or action which may give rise to the application of this section, the Executive shall notify the
Employer in writing of the claim or action. The Executive’s failure to timely notify the Employer of the claim or action will relieve the Employer from any
obligation to the Executive under this section.
17. PRIOR EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS.
The Executive represents that he/she has not executed any agreement with any previous employer which may impose restrictions on Executive’s
employment with the Employer.
18. TRANSFERABILITY, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.
The rights and obligations of the Employer under this Agreement shall be transferable and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by or against its successors and assigns. No rights or obligations of the Executive hereunder shall be transferable or
assignable by the Executive to any third party.
19. ATTORNEY’S FEES.
The prevailing party in any action brought to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief that may
be granted, to a reasonable sum for attorney’s fees and costs incurred by such party in enforcing this Agreement (including fees incurred on any appeal).
20. NO ORAL MODIFICATIONS.
No modifications or waivers of any provision hereof will be binding or valid unless in writing and executed by both parties.
21. WAIVER.
Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such
provision or
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provisions, or prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted the parties in this Agreement
are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
22. SEVERABILITY.
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof, and this Agreement
shall be construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted.
23. GOVERNING LAW AND BINDING EFFECT.
This Agreement was entered into in the State of Florida and shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of Florida.
24. CAPTIONS.
Captions and section headings used herein are for convenience only, are not of this Agreement, and shall not be used in construing this
Agreement.
25. COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.
26. NOTICE.
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if it is in writing and sent by hand delivery or by United
States Express Mail service to the parties at the following addresses:
To the Employer:

1001 E. Palm Ave
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer

To the Executive:

15916 Armistead Lane
Odessa, Florida 33556
Attn: Joe Liberatore
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27. ARBITRATION.
Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in Tampa, Florida in
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered in the arbitrator’s award in any court having
jurisdiction. Such arbitration shall occur only after the parties have attempted to resolve the dispute or controversy by mediation under mutually agreeable
terms.
28. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.
This Agreement, and the attached Exhibit A, comprise the entire agreement between the Executive and the Employer. This Agreement
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be modified or terminated
orally. No modification, termination, or attempted waiver shall be valid unless it is in writing and is executed by each of the parties.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of July 1, 2003.
KFORCE, INC.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Joe Liberatore
Joe Liberatore
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EXHIBIT A
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) dated as of March 16, 2005, is entered into by and between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Employer”) and
Joe Liberatore (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to employ or continue employing the Executive and the Executive wishes to accept or continue employment upon the terms and
conditions set forth in the parties’ Employment Agreement (the “Employment Agreement”) and this Agreement. The Executive recognizes and agrees that
because of Executive’s employment with the Employer he/she has been and will be afforded an opportunity to learn confidential and proprietary information
and to know of and/or become known to various customers, potential customers and employees of the Employer and to learn the Employer’s business
practices. The Executive recognizes that this is a valuable right, is of great personal benefit to Executive in Executive’s career and therefore provides
sufficient basis for the restrictive covenants contained in this Agreement. Also, as set forth in the Employment Agreement, the Employer agrees to pay the
Executive significant severance pay under certain circumstances in consideration for the Executive’s agreement not to compete with the Employer.
Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows:
TERMS
1. Acknowledgement of Legitimate Business Interest of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges that as a result of Executive’s employment with
the Employer he/she has accepted and received trade secrets, valuable confidential business and professional information, substantial relationships with
specific prospective or existing clients, contractors, or customers, and goodwill associated with the ongoing business of the Employer, all of which are of
particular significance to the Employer and constitute legitimate business interests that the Employer has an interest in protecting. Therefore, the Executive
agrees as follows:
(a) Confidential Information. Except for proper business purposes on Employer’s behalf, at all times for the period of time commencing as of the
date of this Agreement and ending on the second anniversary of the date of termination of the Executive’s employment under the Employment Agreement
(the “Restriction Period”) the Executive agrees not to disclose or use any confidential information, including without limitation, information regarding
research, strategy, developments, product designs or specifications, processes, “know-how,” prices, suppliers, customers, contractors, candidates, clients, costs
or any other knowledge

or information with respect to confidential information or trade secrets of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that all notes, lists, data,
records, business forms, studies, marketing materials, training materials, reports, sketches, plans, unpublished memoranda and other documents (whether
electronic or hardcopy) concerning any information relating to the Employer’s business, held or created by the Executive, whether confidential or not, are the
property of the Employer and will not be used or retained by Executive except on behalf of employer in the course of Executive’s employment, and will not
be retained by Executive upon termination of Executive’s employment.
(b) Non-Solicitation. At all times during the Restriction Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, induce, influence, combine
or conspire with, or attempt to induce, any executive, employee, vendor, client, contractor, or supplier of the Employer to terminate their employment, or
other relationship with, or compete against the Employer or any present or future affiliates of the Employer in the Employer’s industry (the “Business”). In
particular, and without in any way limiting the forgoing, the Executive agrees that during the Restriction Period, whether the termination shall be voluntary
or involuntary, with or without cause, or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly: (a) attempt to hire any other
executive or employee of the Employer, including persons on assignment with clients, or otherwise encourage or attempt to encourage any other executive or
employee of the Employer to leave employment or terminate an assignment with the Employer; or (b) in any manner or at any time, solicit or encourage any
person, firm, corporation, or any business entity who are customers, clients, contractors, or prospective clients or contractors of the Employer to cease or
refrain from doing business with the Employer. Executive further agrees, during the Restriction Period, to refrain from directly or indirectly soliciting
business from any client of Employer with whom Executive had contact during the term of Executive’s employment with Employer. In the event the
Executive breaches any term contained in this Section, the Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the severance payments described in the
Employment Agreement (which includes both the Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement as well as any other
severance payable pursuant to Section 10(d)(iii) of the Employment Agreement) and will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the
severance payments paid to the Executive prior to the Executive’s breach, in addition to any damages the Employer may be able to recover.
(c) Exception. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event: (i) the Executive resigns for “Good Reason”
(as such term is defined in Section 9(a) of the Employment Agreement) or is terminated without “Cause” (as such term is defined in Section 8 of the
Employment Agreement), and (ii) the Executive delivers a written statement to the Company specifically releasing the Company from paying any Severance
Payment as contemplated by Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement (in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company), then the provisions of Section
1(b) of this Agreement shall have no force or effect.
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2. Severability and Specific Performance.
(a) If, in any judicial proceedings, a court shall refuse to enforce any of the covenants included in Paragraph 1(a) and (b), above, then such
unenforceable covenant shall be amended to relate to such lesser period or geographical area as shall be enforceable. In the event the Employer should bring
any legal action or other proceeding against the Executive for enforcement of this Agreement, the calculation of the Restriction Period, if any, shall not
include the period of time commencing with the filing of legal action or other proceeding to enforce this Agreement through the date of final judgment or
final resolution including all appeals, if any, of such legal action or other proceeding unless the Employer is receiving the practical benefits of Paragraph 1(a)
and/or (b), as applicable, during such time.
(b) The Executive hereby acknowledges that the restrictions on Executive’s activity as set forth in Paragraphs 1(a) and (b) hereof are required for
the Employer’s reasonable protection and are a material inducement for the Employer to retain or continue to retain the services of Executive. The Executive
hereby agrees that in the event of the violation by Executive of any such provisions of this Agreement, the Employer will suffer irreparable harm and will be
entitled to equitable relief, including an order requiring specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any damages that may be recoverable.
3. Miscellaneous Provisions.
(a) Notice: All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications under this Agreement will be in writing. Any notice, request,
demand, claim, or other communication under this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if delivered personally, telecopied (if confirmed), or sent by
registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below (or at such other address for a party as shall be
specified by like notice):
If to Executive:
15916 Armistead Lane
Odessa, Florida 33556
Attn: Joe Liberatore
3

If to the Employer:
Kforce Inc.
1001 East Palm Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
(b) Entire Agreement, Amendments. Except for the Employment Agreement and other agreements and writings expressly provided for therein,
this Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties to this Agreement relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, and
supersedes any prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, or representations of every nature between the parties. This Agreement may not be
changed or modified, except by an agreement in writing signed by each of the parties to this Agreement.
(c) Waiver. The waiver of the breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any other or
subsequent breach of this Agreement.
(d) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Florida, without regard to the conflict-oflaws provisions thereof.
(e) Invalidity. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of any other provision of this Agreement, and such
provision(s) shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to make it or them enforceable.
(f) Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original
as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and all of such shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become
binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of all of the parties reflected hereon as the signatories.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
Kforce Inc.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Joe Liberatore
Joe Liberatore
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Exhibit 10.5
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of March 16, 2005 between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the
“Employer”), and Michael Ettore (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to continue to obtain the benefit of services by the Executive, and the Executive desires to continue to render services to
the Employer.
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Employer has determined that it is in the Employer’s best interest and that of its
shareholders to recognize the substantial contribution that the Executive has made and is expected to make in the future to the Employer’s business and to
continue to retain Executive’s services in the future.
The Employer and the Executive desire to set forth in this Agreement the terms and conditions of the Executive’s employment with the
Employer. Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations set forth below, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Employer and the Executive agree as follows:
TERMS
1. EMPLOYMENT.
The Executive agrees to continue employment with the Employer (and one or more of the Employer’s subsidiary corporations if and when
assigned by Employer) to render the services specified in this Agreement upon the terms and conditions and for the compensation provided in this
Agreement, and Employer agrees to so employ Executive. All compensation paid to the Executive by the Employer or any subsidiary of the Employer, and
all benefits and perquisites received by the Executive from the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, will be aggregated in determining whether the Executive
has received the compensation and benefits provided for in this Agreement.
2. TERM OF EMPLOYMENT.
(a) End of Term. The term of the employment of the Executive under this Agreement will be for the period commencing on the date of
this Agreement and ending on the earliest of:
(i) Two years after notice of termination of this Agreement is given by the Employer to the Executive;

(ii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Executive at Executive’s election and without “Good Reason”
(as defined in Section 9 of this Agreement);
(iii) the date of termination of the Executive’s employment by the Employer for “Cause” (as defined in Section 8 of this
Agreement) or by the Employer without Cause in accordance with Section 9 or by the Executive for Good Reason pursuant to Section 9;
(iv) the date of the Executive’s death; or
(v) the Disability Effective Date (as such term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement) following the Executive’s Disability (as
such term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
It is understood that at each and every moment of time the remaining term of employment hereunder shall be two years, unless this Agreement or Executive’s
employment is terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.
(b) Date of Termination. As used in this Agreement the term “Date of Termination” means (i) if the Executive’s employment is terminated
by the Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 2(a) above, the date that is one year after the date of the Executive’s receipt of the notice of termination of
this Agreement or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive terminates Executive’s employment at Executive’s election
and without Good Reason pursuant to clause (ii) of Section 2(a), the date of the Employer’s receipt of the notice of termination from the Executive or any
later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Employer for Cause or by the Employer
without Cause pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement, or by the Executive for Good Reason, fifteen days after the date of receipt of the notice of termination
by the Executive or the Employer, respectively, or any later date specified in such notice, as the case may be, (iv) if the Executive’s employment terminates
by reason of the Executive’s voluntary retirement, the date that such retirement becomes effective in accordance with the Employer’s plans and policies; and
(v) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective Date (as that
term is defined in Section 5 of this Agreement).
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3. SERVICES TO BE RENDERED; EXCLUSIVITY.
(a) Service. During the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall perform the duties of Chief
Services Officer, or any reasonably comparable duties that may be assigned to the Executive from time to time.
(b) Full Time Efforts. During the term of this Agreement and excluding any periods of vacation, family or sick leave or holidays to which
the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote Executive’s full business time and energy to the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries, and matters related thereto, and shall use Executive’s reasonable commercial efforts and ability to promote the interests of the Employer and its
subsidiaries. The Executive agrees that he/she will diligently endeavor to promote the business, affairs and interests of the Employer and its subsidiaries and
that Executive will perform services contemplated hereby in accordance with the policies established by the Employer from time to time. The Executive shall
serve without additional remuneration in such senior executive capacities for one or more direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Employer as the Employer may
from time to time request, subject to appropriate authorization by the subsidiary or subsidiaries involved and any limitations under applicable law and
indemnification on the same terms as the Executive is indemnified by the Employer. The failure of the Executive to discharge an order or perform a function
because the Executive reasonably and in good faith believes such would violate a law or regulation or be dishonest shall not be deemed a breach by
Executive of Executive’s obligations or duties under this Agreement and shall not entitle the Employer to terminate this Agreement pursuant to any of its
provisions.
(c) Certain Permissible Activities. The Executive may serve as a director or in any other capacity of any business enterprise, including an
enterprise whose activities may involve or relate to the business of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries but only if such service is expressly approved by
the Employer in writing. The Executive may (i) make and manage personal business investments of Executive’s choice, (ii) teach at educational institutions
and deliver lectures, and (iii) serve in any capacity with any civic, educational or charitable organization, or any governmental entity or trade association, in
each such case without seeking or obtaining approval by the Employer so long as such activities and service do not materially interfere or conflict with the
performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement. It is agreed that to the extent that the Employer shall have approved any service of the Executive
pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to a Change in Control Date (as defined in Section 10 below), or to the extent that the Executive may
have engaged in activities pursuant to the second sentence of this Section 3(c) prior to such Change in Control Date, the continued
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conduct of such activities or the conduct of activities similar in nature and scope thereto during the two years subsequent to such Change in Control Date
shall be permissible and not in violation of any provisions of this Agreement and the previously obtained Employer approval may not be revoked or limited
in any material respect during the two years following such Change in Control Date.
4. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.
(a) Base Salary. The Employer agrees that the Executive will be paid for Executive’s services under this Agreement a salary at the annual
rate of at least $250,000 payable in periodic installments in accordance with the Employer’s normal salary payment dates for the Executive. Such salary as in
effect from time to time is referred to in this Agreement as the Executive’s “Base Salary.”
(b) Additional Benefits. The Executive shall also be entitled during the term of this Agreement to all rights and benefits for which
Executive is otherwise eligible under any bonus plan, stock option plan, stock purchase plan, participation or extra compensation plan, supplemental
executive retirement plan, deferred compensation plan, profit-sharing plan, life, medical and dental insurance policy, director and officer liability insurance
plan or indemnification program, vacation, sick leave, family leave and holiday program or plan, or plans that confer the use of automobiles or
condominiums (and pay the related expenses thereof) or that pay for club membership fees or tax or financial counseling or other plans or benefits, in any
such case, which the Employer or any of its subsidiaries (i) may provide for the Executive or (ii) provided the Executive is eligible to participate therein, may
provide generally to officers of the Employer (collectively, “Additional Benefits”). This Agreement shall not affect adversely (from the perspective of the
Executive) the provisions of any other compensation, retirement or other benefit program or plan of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries and shall not be
considered to be a guarantee that the Executive will receive any awards or other benefits under any plans, policies or arrangements which are performancerelated. Moreover, Executive’s participation in any such plan shall be subject to the provisions of applicable law, including the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
(c) Individual Benefits. The Employer shall continue to provide to the Executive such individual perquisites as are in effect for
Executive as of the first day of Executive’s employment under this agreement.
(d) Expense Reimbursement. The Employer agrees to reimburse the Executive in full for all such reasonable and necessary business,
entertainment and travel expenses incurred or expended by Executive in connection with the performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement;
provided the
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Executive submits to the Employer vouchers or expense statements satisfactorily evidencing such expenses as may be reasonably required by the Employer
and such expenses are in accordance with any applicable corporate policy.
(e) Limitations on Reductions. The Employer shall have the right to reduce one or more Additional Benefits but only in conjunction
with a corollary reduction of such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers. Any increase in the Executive’s Base Salary shall not serve to limit or
reduce any other obligation to the Executive under this Agreement.
5. TERMINATION UPON DISABILITY.
(a) Continuation of Benefits upon Disability. If the Executive becomes totally and permanently unable to perform Executive’s duties
because of any Disability (as defined below) during the term of Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the Executive’s full-time employment under
this Agreement shall terminate effective on the thirtieth day after the Executive’s receipt of written notice of termination from the Employer (such thirtieth
day being referred to in this Agreement as the “Disability Effective Date”). In addition to the payments specified in Section 6 below, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 5, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide the Executive the following:
(i) until the earliest to occur of the Executive’s death, the Executive’s 65th birthday, two years after the Disability Effective Date or
the date of the Executive’s return to full-time employment hereunder pursuant to Section 5(f) (such earliest day being referred to herein as the “Disability
Termination of Benefits Date”) the Base Salary, medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits in which the Executive was
participating immediately prior to the Disability Effective Date (including, without limitation, medical, dental, life and disability insurance), each such
benefit to be continued in a manner no less favorable to the Executive than the benefit to which Executive was entitled immediately prior to the Disability
Effective Date; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during the two years after the Disability Effective Date, the Employer shall continue to pay
the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis described in this clause (i), to the
Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death for the balance of such two year period;
(ii) until the Disability Effective Date, a continuation of vesting of all unvested stock options granted by the Employer to the
Executive, such vesting to occur in accordance with the terms of each such grant as in effect on the Disability Effective Date and upon the assumption that no
termination of employment had occurred; provided, however, if the Executive’s death occurs during
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the two years immediately after the Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Effective Date, such vesting shall include
any vesting which would occur upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and provided, further, that, if and
to the extent further vesting is prohibited by the terms of any one or more of such grants or otherwise, the Executive shall be entitled to in-lieu cash payments
from the Employer on each date (each a “Vesting Date”) when vesting would have occurred absent such prohibition, but in no event beyond two years
following the Disability Effective Date, equal to the spread on such Vesting Date between the exercise price and fair market value of stock subject to stock
options that would have otherwise vested on such Vesting Date; and provided, further, that if, after the Disability Effective Date, it is or becomes impossible
on any date to continue to calculate any future in-lieu cash payments based on such continuation of vesting, the Executive shall thereupon be entitled
immediately to the additional vesting which would normally have occurred during such two year period following the Disability Effective Date with respect
to the affected type of in-lieu cash payments described above and shall be entitled immediately to receive payment of the amount specified for such type of
in-lieu cash payments based on such additional vesting as of such date; and
(iii) until the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, if the Executive is a participant in such plans on the Executive’s Disability
Effective Date, a continuation of crediting of additional years of cumulative service (for all purposes, including for purposes of accrual and vesting of
benefits and equity-based incentives) under any Executive Retirement Plan, Deferred Compensation Plan and/or Senior Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (collectively, the “SERP”) in accordance with the terms of the SERP and upon the assumption that no termination of employment had occurred;
provided, however, that if the Disability Termination of Benefits Date occurs due to the Executive’s death during the two years immediately after the
Disability Effective Date or if a Change in Control occurs prior to the Disability Termination of Benefits Date, such continuation shall include any further
accrual and vesting which would occur upon the Executive’s death or a Change in Control during employment with the Employer; and
(b) Offset. The obligations of the Employer to make payments under this Agreement to the Executive, pursuant to this Section 5,
following Executive’s Disability shall be reduced prospectively to the extent that the Executive receives payment of amounts under any salary continuation
or similar feature contained in any disability insurance policy covering the Executive or under any salary continuation or similar feature under Social
Security or any similar federal, state or local program. In addition, any medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type Additional Benefits to be
provided by the Employer pursuant to clause (i) of Section 5(a) shall be secondary to any similar benefits provided by Social Security, Medicare, any private
insurance maintained by or covering the Executive or any other similar plan or program covering the Executive. The
6

Executive shall provide to the Employer upon written request from time to time a certification as to the types and amounts of the benefits referred to in the
first two sentences of this Section 5(b) received by the Executive or to which Executive is entitled.
(c) Substitution of Benefits. If the Executive’s full-time services are terminated due to Executive’s Disability and the Executive is entitled under
the terms of this Agreement to, but is no longer eligible under the relevant plan for, Additional Benefits because of such termination, the Executive (or in the
event of Executive’s death prior to the date that is two years after the Disability Effective Date, Executive’s designated Beneficiaries (as defined in Section 7
below)) shall be entitled to, and the Employer shall provide, to the extent required by in this Agreement, benefits substantially equivalent to such Additional
Benefits to which the Executive was entitled immediately prior to Executive’s Disability and shall do so for the period during which Executive remains
entitled to receive such Additional Benefits as provided in this Section 5. With respect to the continuation of such benefits, the Executive or Executive’s
Beneficiaries (as such term is defined in Section 7) shall also be paid by the Employer an amount which, after federal, state, local or other income or other
taxes on such amount, shall reimburse the Executive (or Executive’s Beneficiaries) for any additional tax liabilities incurred by the Executive (or any such
Beneficiary) by reason of the receipt of such benefits after the termination of, rather than during the term of, Executive’s employment under this Agreement.
(d) Partial Disability. In the event of a partial Disability of the Executive, it is understood that the Executive will provide such part-time services
as may be consistent with the nature and extent of such Disability and Executive’s position, duties, responsibilities and status specified in Section 3(a) of this
Agreement, the Employer shall not be entitled to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement as a result of such partial Disability (provided
that despite such partial disability, the Executive is able to substantially perform most of Executive’s duties), and the terms and conditions of this Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect after such partial Disability.
(e) Definition of Disability. As used in this Agreement, the term “Disability” means the failure of the Executive to render for six consecutive
calendar months, or for shorter periods aggregating one hundred eighty or more business days in any twelve month period, the services contemplated by this
Agreement which a physician selected by the Employer or its insurers (and reasonably acceptable to the Executive or the Executive’s legal representative)
determines is due to mental or physical illness or injury.
(f) Return from Disability. If and to the extent the Executive recovers from any such Disability, Executive will resume Executive’s duties and
responsibilities hereunder partially or fully to the extent of Executive’s recovery,
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and the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be reinstated as if the Executive’s employment had not been terminated pursuant to
Section 5(a) of this Agreement.
6. DEATH OF THE EXECUTIVE.
(a) Vesting of Options. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer or while receiving any payments on account of a Disability as
set forth in Section 5 above and during the term of this Agreement, all stock options standing in the name of the Executive shall immediately fully vest and
must be exercised within 90 days of the date of the Executive’s death by the appropriate beneficiary.
(b) Continuation of Base Salary and Benefits. If the Executive dies while an employee of the Employer and during the term of this Agreement,
the Employer shall continue to pay the Base Salary and to pay or provide medical, dental and other insurance and welfare type benefits, on the basis
described in Section 5(a)(i), to the Executive’s family members who were covered for such benefits immediately prior to the Executive’s death, for a period of
two years following Executive’s death.
7. PAYMENTS AND BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR ANY REASON.
On the Date of Termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Executive’s Base Salary will
cease thereafter to accrue except as specifically provided in Sections 5, 6 or 9 and the Executive (or in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s designated
beneficiaries, Executive’s personal representative, or the executor or administrator of Executive’s estate (Executive’s “Beneficiaries”)) will be entitled to such
rights and benefits under the Employer’s compensation and benefit plans, policies and arrangements in which the Executive is then a participant as may be
provided for under such plans, policies and arrangements (which shall not be modified adversely to the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries after
Executive’s Date of Termination). In addition, the Employer shall:
(a) pay and deliver to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to Executive’s Beneficiaries) not later than thirty days after
Executive’s Date of Termination or such later date as the Executive or such Beneficiaries may request in writing, all amounts of money and all stock or other
property owed to Executive by the Employer as of the Date of Termination, including but not limited to Executive’s accrued Base Salary, any amounts
payable in lieu of accrued vacation, amounts payable to Executive under any expense reimbursement plans or policies for expenses incurred through the
Date of Termination, the amount of any bonus due under any incentive plan to the Executive for any bonus period or
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performance measurement cycle of the Employer that ended prior to the Date of Termination which remained unpaid on the Date of Termination and any
compensation previously deferred by the Executive and any accrued interest on earnings on such deferred compensation to the extent not previously paid to
the Executive;
(b) cause the trustee of any trusteed plan of the Employer to pay and deliver, and the Employer shall pay and deliver under any similar nontrusteed plan of the Employer, to the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, to Executive’s Beneficiaries), at the earliest practicable date after
payments become due under such plan, all money, stock and other property which such plans require to be paid or delivered or are otherwise payable or
deliverable to Executive after the termination of Executive’s employment;
(c) continue to insure the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) with respect to Executive’s activities as a
director, officer or Executive of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries, for a period of three years after such Date of Termination, under such policies of
director and officer liability insurance as Employer shall provide for its senior officers generally; provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have
occurred prior to such Date of Termination or shall thereafter occur, such policies of insurance shall be no less favorable to the Executive than such policies
as may have been in effect for the Executive at any time during the one hundred twenty day period immediately preceding the Change in Control Date; and
(d) continue to honor such rights to indemnification as the Executive (or, in the event of Executive’s death, Executive’s Beneficiaries) may be
entitled pursuant to any plan of indemnification or indemnification agreement in effect at the Date of Termination.
(e) The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the payments and benefits described in Section 7(a) – (d) above in the event
that the Executive breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such
breach the Executive will pay to the Employer any damages the Employer may be able to recover, in addition to any other relief to which Employer may be
entitled.
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8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY EMPLOYER FOR CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if the termination is for Cause. For
purposes of this Agreement, the Employer shall have “Cause” to terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement if, and only if, any of the
following shall occur:
(i) the Executive’s conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction or entry of a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere for an act
on the Executive’s part constituting any felony; or
(ii) a willful breach by the Executive of any provisions of this Agreement if such breach results in demonstrably material injury to
the Employer.
(iii) the Executive’s willful dishonesty or fraud with respect to business or affairs of the Employer if such dishonesty or fraud
results in demonstrable material injury to Employer.
(b) Procedural Requirements. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall not be subject to termination for Cause without: (i)
reasonable notice to the Executive setting forth the reasons for Employer’s intention to terminate and specifying the particulars thereof in detail, and (ii) an
opportunity for the Executive to cure any such breach, if possible, within thirty days after receipt of such notice.
9. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE FOR GOOD REASON OR BY EMPLOYER WITHOUT CAUSE.
(a) Definition of Good Reason. The Executive may terminate Executive’s employment under this Agreement and all of Executive’s obligations
under this Agreement to the Employer accruing after the date of such termination (other than Executive’s obligations under Sections 12, 13, 16, 18, 19, 26
and 27) if the termination is for “Good Reason,” which for purposes of this Agreement is defined as:
(i) failure by the Employer to perform any of its obligations hereunder (including, but not limited to, Employer’s obligations under
Sections 3 and 4) other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith; or
(ii) the diminution of the Executive’s salary and or a material diminution of the Executive’s benefits, except in connection with
the
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termination of the Executive’s employment for permanent disability, Cause, as a result of the Executive’s death or termination by the Executive other than
for Good Reason;
(iii) any failure by the Employer to obtain the assumption of this Agreement by any successor or assignee of the Employer;
(iv) any attempt by the Employer to terminate the Executive for Cause which does not result in a valid termination for Cause.
Any termination by Employee for Good Reason will be effective only upon Employer’s failure to cure following thirty days’ prior written notice of the Good
Reason from the Executive to the Employer.
(b) Employer’s Termination Without Cause. The Employer may terminate the Executive’s employment under this Agreement without Cause (as
defined above) by written notice to the Executive. Any such termination shall become effective upon fifteen days, prior written notice from the Employer to
the Executive.
(c) Compensation and Benefits Upon Section 9 Termination. In addition to the payments specified in Section 7 of this Agreement, in the event of
termination of the Executive’s employment pursuant to this Section 9, the Employer shall continue to pay or provide to the Executive the following:
(i) Salary through Date of Termination at the rate in effect immediately prior to the time a Notice of Termination is given plus any
benefits and awards (including both cash and stock components) which pursuant to the terms of any Plans have been earned and otherwise payable, but
which have not been paid;
(ii) As severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary for any period subsequent to the Date of Termination, an amount in cash equal to
two times the sum of the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination plus the average of the Executive’s last two years’ bonuses (the “Severance
Payment”). For the purposes of the definition of “Severance Payment” the Company shall compute the average of the Executive’s last two years’ bonuses by
including the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, already earned by the Executive at the time of termination related to the calendar year of the termination or (B)
the bonus, if any, earned in the second full calendar year preceding the termination of the Executive, e.g. (if the Executive is terminated on August 1, 2005
(and this Section 9 is applicable), the Company shall include in the bonus calculation the greater of (A) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive through
August 1, 2005, or (B) the bonus, if any, earned by the Executive in calendar year 2003). Additionally, also for the purpose of the definition of “Severance
Payment,” in the event the Executive received a grant of stock, restricted stock or stock options during any relevant year (a “Grant”), then the
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Company shall compute the average of the Executive’s last two years’ bonuses by including: (i) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock grant, the amount
reported by the Company to the Internal Revenue Service relating to such stock grant for the relevant year; (ii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a restricted
stock grant, the full grant price, computed for the purposes of this agreement by multiplying the number of granted restricted shares by the closing share price
on the grant date, and; (iii) in the case of a Grant consisting of a stock option grant, the imputed present value of such options at the time of the grant, defined
for purposes of this agreement as 50% of the exercise price. For example, if the Executive is terminated on October 1, 2003 (and this Section 9 is applicable)
and the Executive received a bonus consisting of stock with a value reported to the Internal Revenue Service of $400,000 in 2002, and a bonus consisting of
options with an Option Value of $425,000 in 2001, then the average bonus for calculating the Severance Payment will be $412,500.
(iii) The Executive will have 90 days subsequent to the Date of Termination to exercise all stock options and restricted stock awards that
have been granted and were vested at Date of Termination; and
(iv) All salary and benefits shall cease at the time of such termination, subject to the terms of any benefit or compensation plan then in
force and applicable to the Executive. The Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the Severance Payment in the event that the Executive
breaches any term or provision of this Agreement or the Confidential Information Agreement and Restrictive Covenant and in the event of such breach the
Executive will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the Severance Payment paid to the Executive prior the Executive’s breach, in addition
to any damages the Employer may be able to recover. The Employer shall not have any additional liability or obligation hereunder by reason of such
termination.
(d) This Section 9 shall not apply to any termination of this Agreement with notice under Section 2(a)(i).
10. CHANGE IN CONTROL.
(a) Effectiveness of Section. If at any time during the term of the Executive’s employment by the Employer pursuant to this Agreement, a Change
in Control of the Employer (as defined below) shall occur, the provisions of this Section 10 shall become effective without any limitation on any other rights
the Executive may have under this Agreement. Sections (c) and (d) of this Section 10 shall become ineffective with respect to such Change in Control on the
first anniversary of the date on which such Change in Control occurs (the “Change in Control Date”) unless the Executive’s employment has theretofore been
terminated for any reason; provided, however, that if another Change in Control occurs after such first anniversary, Sections 10(c) and (d) shall become
effective once again with respect to
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such subsequent Change in Control. If the Executive’s employment so terminates prior to such first anniversary, the provisions of Sections 10(c) and (d) shall
survive so long as the Executive or Executive’s Beneficiaries are entitled to any benefits under this Agreement.
(b) Definition of Change in Control. For the purpose of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean:
(i) the acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (a “Person”) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning o Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either (A) the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Employer (the “Outstanding Employer
Common Stock”) or (B) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Employer entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors (the “Outstanding Employer Voting Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of this clause (i), the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (u) any acquisition directly from the Employer, (w) any acquisition by the Employer, (x) any acquisition by any executive
benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Employer or any corporation controlled by the Employer, (y) any acquisition by any
corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of clause (iii) of this Section 10(b), or (z) any acquisition by David L.
Dunkel or his family members; or
(ii) individuals who, as of the date of this Agreement, constitute the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Incumbent Board”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board of Directors of the Employer (the “Board”); provided, however, that any individual
becoming a director subsequent to the date of this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Employer’s shareholders, was approved by a
vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the
Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election
contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or
(iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets
of the Employer (a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the Persons who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and Outstanding Employer Voting Securities immediately prior to such
Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively,
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the then outstanding shares of common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as
a result of such transaction owns the Employer or all or substantially all of the Employer’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Employer Common Stock and
Outstanding Employer Voting Securities, as the case may be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any
executive benefit plan (or related trust) of the Employer or such corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly, twenty-five percent or more of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business
Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed
prior to the Business Combination and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such Business
Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such
Business Combination; or
(iv) approval by the shareholders of the Employer of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Employer.
(c) Certain Restrictions and Events Following Change in Control. If a Change in Control of the Employer occurs, then the following provisions
shall apply:
(i) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect, pursuant to
Section 4(b), any Additional Benefits which are described in Section 4(b) to which the Executive shall thereafter be entitled even in connection with a
reduction in such benefits applicable to all of the Employer’s officers who are of a similar class and station as those of the Executive. If the continuation of
any benefit provided to the Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any benefit lost by the
Executive;
(ii) the Employer shall not be entitled to reduce, terminate, or adversely (from the Executive’s point of view) affect the Executive’s
individual perquisites, as described in Section 4(c) and must maintain these benefits as currently enjoyed by the Executive immediately prior to any Change
in Control; and
(iii) all stock options, restricted stock awards, equity-based incentive plans, SERP and similar grants theretofore or thereafter made
which are unvested shall immediately fully vest effective as of the Change in Control Date.
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(d) Provisions Applicable to Termination of Employment. If a Change in Control shall occur and the Executive’s employment is thereafter
terminated at any time prior to the first anniversary of the Change in Control Date by the Employer other than for Cause or by the Executive for Good
Reason, then the Executive shall be entitled to receive the following:
(i) the Executive shall be entitled to all payments and benefits provided in Section 7;
(ii) the payments required by the provisions of clause (i) of Section 9(c) shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within
ten days after the Date of Termination (or such later date as the Executive may elect);
(iii) the Executive shall receive as severance pay, and in lieu of any further salary subsequent to the Date of Termination and any
Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) above, an amount in cash equal to two times the annual Base Salary on the Date of Termination. In addition,
all benefits enjoyed by the Executive on the Date of Termination shall continue for a period of one year and 364 days after the Date of Termination. In
addition, the Executive will receive the average of the last two years bonuses, which average shall be computed in the manner described in Section 9(c)(ii)
above. The severance sum shall be paid to the Executive within 30 days of the Date of Termination. If the continuation of any benefit provided to the
Executive violates any law or statute the Employer shall pay to the Executive the cash equivalent of any benefit lost by the Executive; and
(iv) the Employer shall, at its sole expense as incurred, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope and provider of
which shall be selected by the Executive in Executive’s sole reasonable discretion.
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11. EXCISE TAX.
In the event the amount payable to the Executive under Section 10(d) is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Excise Tax”), or any similar tax, the Employer will pay the Executive an additional amount (the “Gross-up Payment’)
sufficient to put the Executive in the same after-tax position as if no Excise Tax had been incurred. For purposes of determining the Gross-up Payment, the
Executive’s tax rate will be deemed to be the highest marginal tax rate in effect in the year of payment, without regard to the phase-out of itemized
deductions. The Gross-up Payment shall be payable within 30 days of the payment under Section 10(d), and the Employer shall provide the Executive with
the calculations utilized to determine the amount of the Gross-up payment.
12. PROPERTY.
(a) All right, title and interest in and to Intellectual Property (as defined below) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the
Employer. During the term of this Agreement, the Executive shall not remove from the Employer’s offices or premises any documents, records, notebooks,
files, correspondence, reports, memoranda or similar materials of or containing proprietary information, or other materials or property of any kind belonging
to the Employer unless necessary or appropriate in accordance with the duties and responsibilities required by or appropriate for Executive’s position and, in
the event that such materials or property are removed, all of the foregoing shall be returned to their proper files or places of safekeeping as promptly as
possible after the removal shall serve its specific purpose. The Executive shall not make, retain, remove and/or distribute any copies of any of the foregoing
for any reason whatsoever except as may be necessary in the discharge of Executive’s assigned duties and shall not divulge to any third person the nature of
and/or contents of any of the foregoing or of any other oral or written information to which Executive may have access or with which for any reason
Executive may become familiar, except as disclosure shall be necessary in the performance of Executive’s duties. Upon the termination of the Executive’s
employment with the Employer, Executive shall leave with or return to the Employer all originals and copies of the foregoing then in Executive’s possession,
whether prepared by the Executive or by others.
(b) The Executive agrees that all right, title and interest in and to any innovations, designs, systems, analyses, ideas for marketing programs, and
all copyrights, patents, trademarks and trade names, or similar intangible personal property which have been or are developed or created in whole or in part
by the Executive: (i) at any time and at any place while the Executive is employed by the Employer and which, in the case of any or all of the foregoing, are
related to and used in connection with the business of the Employer; (ii) as a result of tasks assigned to the Executive by the Employer; or (iii) from the use of
premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Employer (collectively, the “Intellectual Property”),
shall be and remain
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forever the sole and exclusive property of the Employer. The Executive shall promptly disclose to the Employer all Intellectual Property, and the Executive
shall have no claim for additional compensation for the Intellectual Property.
(c) The Executive acknowledges that all the Intellectual Property that is copyrightable shall be considered a work made for hire under United
States Copyright Law. To the extent that any copyrightable Intellectual Property may not be considered a work made for hire under the applicable provisions
of the United States Copyright Law, or to the extent that, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the Executive may retain an interest in any Intellectual
Property that is not copyrightable, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to the Employer any and all right, title, or interest that the
Executive may have in the Intellectual Property under copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark law, in perpetuity or for the longest period otherwise
permitted by law, without the necessity of further consideration. The Employer shall be entitled to obtain and hold in its own name all copyrights, patents,
trade secrets, and trademarks with respect thereto.
(d) The Executive further agrees to reveal promptly all information relating to the Intellectual Property to appropriate officers of the Employer
and to cooperate with the Employer and execute such documents as may be necessary or appropriate (i) in the event that the Employer desires to seek
copyright, patent or trademark protection, or other analogous protection relating to the Intellectual Property, and when such protection is obtained, to renew
and restore the same, or (ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of obtaining and maintaining such copyright, patent or trademark protection, or
other analogous protection.
(e) In the event the Employer is unable after reasonable effort to secure the Executive’s signature on any of the documents referenced in Section
12(d) above, whether because of the Executive’s physical or mental incapacity or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Employer and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in Executive’s
behalf and stead to execute and file any such documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of any such
copyright, patent or trademark protection, or other analogous protection, with the same legal force and effect as if executed by the Executive.
13. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
Acceptance of this Agreement requires the Executive’s separate signature and acceptance of the Confidential Information Agreement and
Restrictive Covenant attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A.
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14. ASSUMPTION BY SUCCESSOR.
The Employer will require any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Employer to (i) expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and the same extent the Employer
would be required to perform it as if no such succession had taken place; and (ii) notify the Executive of the assumption of this Agreement within ten days of
such assumption. Failure of the Employer to obtain such assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a breach of this
agreement. As used in this Agreement, “Employer” shall mean Kforce Inc. and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise. However, this agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the
Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, and distributees, devisees and legatees.
15. NO SET-OFF.
Except as contemplated by Section 5(b), the Employer’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to
perform its obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right, or action which the Employer
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of
mitigation of the amounts payable, or benefits to be provided, to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement, and, except as expressly
provided in Sections 5(c), such amounts shall not be reduced whether or not the Executive obtains other employment.
16. INDEMNIFICATION.
The Employer and the Executive acknowledge that the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer exposes the Executive to risks of
personal liability arising from, and pertaining to, the Executive’s participation in the management of the Employer. The Employer shall defend, indemnify
and hold harmless the Executive from any actual cost, loss, damages, attorneys fees, or liability suffered or incurred by the Executive arising out of, or
connected to, the Executive’s service as an officer of the Employer. The Employer shall not be obligated to indemnify the Executive if the cost, loss, damage,
or liability results from the Executive’s violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Executive’s violation of criminal law, a transaction
from which the Executive received an improper personal benefit, the Executive’s violation of Section 607.0834 of the Florida Business Corporation Act (or
any successor law), or the Executive’s willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the best interests of the Employer.
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The Employer will not have any obligation to the Executive under this section for any loss suffered if the Executive voluntarily pays, settles, compromises,
confesses judgment for, or admits liability with respect to any matter without the approval of the Employer. Within thirty days after the Executive receives
notice of any claim or action which may give rise to the application of this section, the Executive shall notify the Employer in writing of the claim or action.
The Executive’s failure to timely notify the Employer of the claim or action will relieve the Employer from any obligation to the Executive under this
section.
17. PRIOR EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS.
The Executive represents that he/she has not executed any agreement with any previous employer which may impose restrictions on Executive’s
employment with the Employer.
18. TRANSFERABILITY, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.
The rights and obligations of the Employer under this Agreement shall be transferable and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by or against its successors and assigns. No rights or obligations of the Executive hereunder shall be transferable or
assignable by the Executive to any third party.
19. ATTORNEY’S FEES.
The prevailing party in any action brought to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief that may
be granted, to a reasonable sum for attorney’s fees and costs incurred by such party in enforcing this Agreement (including fees incurred on any appeal).
20. NO ORAL MODIFICATIONS.
No modifications or waivers of any provision hereof will be binding or valid unless in writing and executed by both parties.
21. WAIVER.
Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such
provision or provisions, or prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted the parties in this
Agreement are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
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22. SEVERABILITY.
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof, and this Agreement
shall be construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted.
23. GOVERNING LAW AND BINDING EFFECT.
This Agreement was entered into in the State of Florida and shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of Florida.
24. CAPTIONS.
Captions and section headings used herein are for convenience only, are not of this Agreement, and shall not be used in construing this
Agreement.
25. COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.
26. NOTICE.
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if it is in writing and sent by hand delivery or by United
States Express Mail service to the parties at the following addresses:
To the Employer:

1001 E. Palm Ave
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer

To the Executive:

5516 Keeler Oak Drive
Lithia, Florida 33547
Michael Ettore
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27. ARBITRATION.
Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in Tampa, Florida in
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered in the arbitrator’s award in any court having
jurisdiction. Such arbitration shall occur only after the parties have attempted to resolve the dispute or controversy by mediation under mutually agreeable
terms.
28. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.
This Agreement, and the attached Exhibit A, comprise the entire agreement between the Executive and the Employer. This Agreement
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be modified or terminated
orally. No modification, termination, or attempted waiver shall be valid unless it is in writing and is executed by each of the parties.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of March 16, 2005.
KFORCE, INC.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Michael Ettore
Michael Ettore
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EXHIBIT A
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT AND RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) dated as of March 16, 2005, is entered into by and between Kforce Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Employer”) and
Michael Ettore (the “Executive”).
BACKGROUND
The Employer desires to employ or continue employing the Executive and the Executive wishes to accept or continue employment upon the terms and
conditions set forth in the parties’ Employment Agreement (the “Employment Agreement”) and this Agreement. The Executive recognizes and agrees that
because of Executive’s employment with the Employer he/she has been and will be afforded an opportunity to learn confidential and proprietary information
and to know of and/or become known to various customers, potential customers and employees of the Employer and to learn the Employer’s business
practices. The Executive recognizes that this is a valuable right, is of great personal benefit to Executive in Executive’s career and therefore provides
sufficient basis for the restrictive covenants contained in this Agreement. Also, as set forth in the Employment Agreement, the Employer agrees to pay the
Executive significant severance pay under certain circumstances in consideration for the Executive’s agreement not to compete with the Employer.
Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows:
TERMS
1. Acknowledgement of Legitimate Business Interest of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges that as a result of Executive’s employment with
the Employer he/she has accepted and received trade secrets, valuable confidential business and professional information, substantial relationships with
specific prospective or existing clients, contractors, or customers, and goodwill associated with the ongoing business of the Employer, all of which are of
particular significance to the Employer and constitute legitimate business interests that the Employer has an interest in protecting. Therefore, the Executive
agrees as follows:
(a) Confidential Information. Except for proper business purposes on Employer’s behalf, at all times for the period of time commencing as of the
date of this Agreement and ending on the second anniversary of the date of termination of the Executive’s employment under the Employment Agreement
(the “Restriction Period”) the Executive agrees not to disclose or use any confidential information, including without limitation, information regarding
research, strategy, developments, product designs or specifications, processes, “know-how,” prices, suppliers, customers, contractors, candidates, clients, costs
or any other knowledge

or information with respect to confidential information or trade secrets of the Employer. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that all notes, lists, data,
records, business forms, studies, marketing materials, training materials, reports, sketches, plans, unpublished memoranda and other documents (whether
electronic or hardcopy) concerning any information relating to the Employer’s business, held or created by the Executive, whether confidential or not, are the
property of the Employer and will not be used or retained by Executive except on behalf of employer in the course of Executive’s employment, and will not
be retained by Executive upon termination of Executive’s employment.
(b) Non-Solicitation. At all times during the Restriction Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, induce, influence, combine
or conspire with, or attempt to induce, any executive, employee, vendor, client, contractor, or supplier of the Employer to terminate their employment, or
other relationship with, or compete against the Employer or any present or future affiliates of the Employer in the Employer’s industry (the “Business”). In
particular, and without in any way limiting the forgoing, the Executive agrees that during the Restriction Period, whether the termination shall be voluntary
or involuntary, with or without cause, or for any other reason whatsoever, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly: (a) attempt to hire any other
executive or employee of the Employer, including persons on assignment with clients, or otherwise encourage or attempt to encourage any other executive or
employee of the Employer to leave employment or terminate an assignment with the Employer; or (b) in any manner or at any time, solicit or encourage any
person, firm, corporation, or any business entity who are customers, clients, contractors, or prospective clients or contractors of the Employer to cease or
refrain from doing business with the Employer. Executive further agrees, during the Restriction Period, to refrain from directly or indirectly soliciting
business from any client of Employer with whom Executive had contact during the term of Executive’s employment with Employer. In the event the
Executive breaches any term contained in this Section, the Executive immediately waives any right or entitlement to the severance payments described in the
Employment Agreement (which includes both the Severance Payment referenced in Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement as well as any other
severance payable pursuant to Section 10(d)(iii) of the Employment Agreement) and will pay to the Employer an amount equal to any portion of the
severance payments paid to the Executive prior to the Executive’s breach, in addition to any damages the Employer may be able to recover.
(c) Exception. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event: (i) the Executive resigns for “Good Reason”
(as such term is defined in Section 9(a) of the Employment Agreement) or is terminated without “Cause” (as such term is defined in Section 8 of the
Employment Agreement), and (ii) the Executive delivers a written statement to the Company specifically releasing the Company from paying any Severance
Payment as contemplated by Section 9(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement (in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company), then the provisions of Section
1(b) of this Agreement shall have no force or effect.
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2. Severability and Specific Performance.
(a) If, in any judicial proceedings, a court shall refuse to enforce any of the covenants included in Paragraph 1(a) and (b), above, then such
unenforceable covenant shall be amended to relate to such lesser period or geographical area as shall be enforceable. In the event the Employer should bring
any legal action or other proceeding against the Executive for enforcement of this Agreement, the calculation of the Restriction Period, if any, shall not
include the period of time commencing with the filing of legal action or other proceeding to enforce this Agreement through the date of final judgment or
final resolution including all appeals, if any, of such legal action or other proceeding unless the Employer is receiving the practical benefits of Paragraph 1(a)
and/or (b), as applicable, during such time.
(b) The Executive hereby acknowledges that the restrictions on Executive’s activity as set forth in Paragraphs 1(a) and (b) hereof are required for
the Employer’s reasonable protection and are a material inducement for the Employer to retain or continue to retain the services of Executive. The Executive
hereby agrees that in the event of the violation by Executive of any such provisions of this Agreement, the Employer will suffer irreparable harm and will be
entitled to equitable relief, including an order requiring specific performance of the terms hereof, in addition to any damages that may be recoverable.
3. Miscellaneous Provisions.
(a) Notice: All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications under this Agreement will be in writing. Any notice, request,
demand, claim, or other communication under this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if delivered personally, telecopied (if confirmed), or sent by
registered or certified mail (return receipt requested) addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below (or at such other address for a party as shall be
specified by like notice):
If to Executive:
5516 Keeler Oak Drive
Lithia, Florida 33547
Attn: Michael Ettore
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If to the Employer:
Kforce Inc.
1001 East Palm Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33605
Attn: David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
(b) Entire Agreement, Amendments. Except for the Employment Agreement and other agreements and writings expressly provided for therein,
this Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties to this Agreement relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, and
supersedes any prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, or representations of every nature between the parties. This Agreement may not be
changed or modified, except by an agreement in writing signed by each of the parties to this Agreement.
(c) Waiver. The waiver of the breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any other or
subsequent breach of this Agreement.
(d) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Florida, without regard to the conflict-oflaws provisions thereof.
(e) Invalidity. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of any other provision of this Agreement, and such
provision(s) shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to make it or them enforceable.
(f) Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original
as against any party whose signature appears thereon, and all of such shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become
binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of all of the parties reflected hereon as the signatories.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
Kforce Inc.
By: /s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Michael Ettore
Michael Ettore
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Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 33-97563, 333-50539, 333-50543, 333-94563, 333-60302, and 333-68212 on
Forms S-8, and Registration Statement No. 333-89144 on Form S-3 of our report dated March 16, 2005 relating to the consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule of Kforce Inc. and subsidiaries (“Kforce”) (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph
relating to the Firm’s change in its method of accounting for goodwill in 2002) and our report dated March 16, 2005 relating to management’s report of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kforce for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Tampa, Florida
March 16, 2005

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David L. Dunkel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kforce Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 16, 2005
/s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel,
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph J. Liberatore, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kforce Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 16, 2005
/s/ Joseph J. Liberatore
Joseph J. Liberatore,
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Kforce Inc. (the “Firm”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I, David L. Dunkel, Chief Executive Officer of Kforce, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
78o(d)); and
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Kforce.
Date: March 16, 2005
/s/ David L. Dunkel
David L. Dunkel,
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Kforce Inc. (the “Firm”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I, Joseph J. Liberatore, Chief Financial Officer of Kforce, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
78o(d)); and
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Kforce.
Date: March 16, 2005
/s/ Joseph J. Liberatore
Joseph J. Liberatore,
Chief Financial Officer
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